

State Agency Health Insurance Standards, Guidelines and Administration Employer Manual

Department of Employee Trust Funds P.O. Box 7931 Madison, WI 53713

Employer Communications Center 1-877-533-5020

etf.wi.gov

ET-1118 (REV 5/14/2024)

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Standards, Guidelines and Administration

Manual

Table of Contents

Preface (revised 12/7/2021)

Chapter 1—Background Information (revised 6/27/2023)

- 101 Applicable Policies, Statutes and Legislation
- 102 Employer Agent Responsibilities
- 103 Employer Training and Support
- 104 myETF Benefits System (MEBS)
- 105 ETF Ombudsperson Services
- 106 Employer Services Section, Insurance Unit (ESS) Contacts

Chapter 2—Health Plan and Program Information (revised 12/18/2023)

- 201 IYC Health Plans (HMOs, PPOs, and HDHPs)
- 202 Access Plan
- 203 State Maintenance Plan (SMP)
- 204 Three Tier Premium Structure
- 205 Contribution Rates
- 206 Opt-Out Incentive
- 207 Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) Navitus
- 208 Wellness and Disease Management Program Administrator WebMD
- 209 Health Plan Contacts
- 210 Coordination of Benefits (COB)
- 211 Administration of Benefit Maximums
- 212 <u>Errors</u>
- 213 Premium Refunds due to Errors are Limited
- 214 Limited Premium and Claim Adjustments
- 215 Benefits are Non-Transferable

Chapter 3—Eligibility (revised 5/14/2024)

- 301 Employee, Annuitant and Continuant Eligibility
- 302 Dependent Coverage Eligibility
- 303 Employer Premium Contribution Eligibility
- 304 WRS Previous Service Check
- 305 Rehired Employee Coverage

Chapter 4—Initial Enrollment (revised 12/18/2023)

- 401 Initial Enrollment and Effective Dates
- 402 Declining Coverage
- 403 <u>Enrollment Opportunities for Employees who Previously Declined or Canceled</u> <u>Coverage</u>
- 404 Applying for Coverage
- 405 Primary Care Provider or Primary Care Clinic
- 405 Insurance Cards

Chapter 5—Changing Coverage (revised 5/13/2024)

- 501 Life Event Changes
- 502 Changing Plans Due to a Residential Move
- 503 Changing Health Plans
- 504 Changing from Single to Family Coverage

- 505 Changing from Family to Single Coverage
- 506 Adding Dependents
- 507 Removing Dependents
- 508 <u>Considerations When Both Spouses Are Employed by the State,</u> the University of WI, or One or Both Are Annuitants
- 509 <u>Considerations When One Spouse is Employed by a Local Employer in the WPE</u> Group Health Insurance Program or Other Non-State Employer

Chapter 6—Health Benefits Open Enrollment (revised 12/18/2023)

- 601 Health Benefits Open Enrollment
- 602 Withdrawing/Rescinding It's Your Choice Enrollment Elections
- 603 When a Health Plan is not Available at Open Enrollment
- 604 Late It's Your Choice Open Enrollment Applications

Chapter 7—Leave of Absence (LOA) (revised 5/23/2023)

- 701 Definition of a Leave of Absence
- 702 Employer Contribution Toward Health Insurance Premium While on an Unpaid Leave of Absence
- 703 <u>Coverage During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military) Coverage Does</u> Not Lapse While on a Leave of Absence
- 704 <u>Coverage During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military) Coverage Lapses</u> <u>While on a Leave of Absence</u>
- 705 Coverage During Military Leave of Absence
- 706 <u>Coverage During Layoff</u>
- 707 Coverage During Appeal of Discharge
- 708 Examples for Contribution Upon Return from a Leave of Absence

Chapter 8—Cancellation and Termination of Coverage (revised 12/18/2023)

- 801 Individual Termination of Coverage
- 802 Ending Coverage
- 803 Changing from Active to Annuitant Coverage
- 804 Voluntary Cancellation of Coverage

Chapter 9—COBRA, Continuation and Conversion (revised 5/23/2023)

- 901 Overview of COBRA, Continuation and Conversion
- 902 Persons Eligible for Continuation (Qualified Beneficiaries)
- 903 Employee Responsibilities
- 904 Qualified Beneficiary Responsibilities
- 905 <u>Employer Responsibilities</u>
- 906 Notice Requirement Illustration Chart
- 907 <u>Continuation Coverage Information</u>

Chapter 10—Retirement or Disability (revised 12/18/2023)

- 1001 Coverage Requirements to Continue
- 1002 Coverage for Former State Employees Whose Coverage Lapsed
- 1003 Medicare Enrollment
- 1004 Premium Payment

Chapter 11—Rehired Annuitants (revised 4/20/2021)

- 1101 <u>Eligibility</u>
- 1102 <u>Coverage</u>
- 1103 **Disability Annuitants**

Chapter 12 - Medicare (revised 12/18/2023)

1201 Overview of Medicare

Chapter 13 - Employee Death (revised 12/18/2023)

- 1301 How to Report an Employee Death
- 1302 <u>Surviving Spouse and Dependents</u>
- 1303 Surviving Spouse who is also an Employee Eligible for Coverage

Chapter 14 - Invoicing (revised 09/2014) (revised 5/23/2023)

- 1401 <u>Viewing Your Invoice</u>
- 1402 Reconciling Your Invoice
- 1403 Accepting and Paying Your Invoice (Wismart and Automated Clearing House (ACH)
- 1404 Late Interest Charge
- 1405 Who to Contact for Assistance

Chapter 15 – Glossary of Definitions (revised 5/23/2023)

Appendix A - Forms and Brochures (revised 12/10/2021)

Appendix B – Codes (revised 12/18/2023)

Employee Type Codes Coverage Type Codes Individual Relationship Codes Health Plan Codes

Appendix C - myETF Benefits (revised 6/1/2022)

- C-1 How to Log in to myETF Benefits
- C-2 Add Coverage
- C-3 Add Dependent
- C-4 Remove Dependent
- C-5 Change Health Plans
- C-6 Termination of Coverage
- C-7 Pending Transactions
- C-8 Enrollment Inquiry
- C-9 Dependent Inquiry
- C-10 Address Inquiry
- C-11 Running Reports

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Preface

The State Agency Health Insurance Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual (ET-1118) is a reference source intended to aid your administration of and participation in the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program. Its contents are based on state statute and administrative code. It includes group health contract language and instructions relevant to the administrative and reporting practices of the group health insurance program. Wisconsin statutes, administrative code and group health contract language are reviewed on an ongoing basis. This contract and administrative manual will be updated regularly.

The Department of Employee Trust Funds will make every effort to communicate changes to employers via the ETF website and ETF E-mail Updates. This *Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual* (ET-1118) contains examples relevant to the administration of the group health insurance program but may not cover every eventuality. Specific program questions and situations will be considered with regard to current statute, administrative code, this document and/or case law by ETF. The health insurance program Agreement (ET-1136).

Consult this Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual as a first-step resource when you encounter Group Health Insurance Program-related questions or concerns. If questions remain, contact the Employer Communications Center in ETF's Employer Services Section (ESS). ESS provides a single point of contact to resolve issues regarding eligibility, enrollment, coverage and invoicing for ETF benefit programs. A central voice mail system handles calls when all ESS staff member lines are busy. The voice mail system is monitored on a regular basis and all calls are returned within 24 business hours. The ESS telephone is 1-877-533-5020 or email at ETFSMBEmployerInsurance@etf.wi.gov.

Your efforts to accurately administer the provisions of the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program are appreciated. If you have comments on this edition or suggestions for the next edition of this *Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual* (ET-1118), please contact ETF at 1-877-533-5020.

Chapter 1—Background Information

- 101 Applicable Policies, Statutes and Legislation
- 102 Employer Agent Responsibilities
- 103 Employer Training and Support
- 104 myETF Benefits System (MEBS)
- 105 ETF Ombudsperson Services
- 106 Employer Services Section, Insurance Unit (ESS) Contacts

101 Applicable Policies, Statutes and Legislation

101 A) Wisconsin Statutory Authority: § 40.51

The State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program is authorized by Wis. Stat. § 40.51 and is administered under the authority of the State of Wisconsin Group Insurance Board (BOARD). The program offers employees and retirees the opportunity to choose between multiple health plan choices.

Statutes can be searched and read at the Wisconsin Legislature website. See <u>http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes</u>.

101 B) Group Insurance Board

The Group Insurance Board (BOARD) sets policy and oversees administration of the group health, life, and income continuation insurance programs for eligible state and local employees. The BOARD reserves the right to change to a fiscal year or to some other schedule that it deems appropriate. The BOARD can allow other types of insurers and third-party vendors to provide other insurance plans, if employees pay the entire premium.

101 C) Department of Employee Trust Funds Administrative Code

Chapter ETF 40 of the ETF administrative code provides guidelines and policies used to administer health care benefits. Administrative rule can be searched and read at the Wisconsin Legislature website. See <u>https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/code</u>.

101 D) Contract for a Health Plan to Participate Under the Group Health Insurance Program

The program is offered by HEALTH PLANS who participate under the terms of this State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program Agreement. The goals and objectives of the contract between the BOARD and the health plans are to:

- (1) Encourage the growth of health benefit plans that can deliver quality health care efficiently and economically.
- (2) Offer employees a choice between two or more health plans.

101 E) Act 10 and Act 32

2011 Wisconsin Act 10 and 2011 Wisconsin Act 32 contained a number of provisions that affected the Group Health Insurance Programs administered by ETF. For more information, please visit ETF's website at <u>etf.wi.gov</u>.

101 F) Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)

HIPAA was enacted by Congress in 1996. The primary goal of HIPAA is to implement national standards that simplify and streamline the health-care claims and payment process.

- (1) The three components of this effort are:
 - (a) **Electronic Data Transaction Standards**—Sets uniform methods for conducting electronic transactions.
 - (b) **Privacy**—Limits how health information can be used and disclosed.
 - (c) **Security**—Requires safeguards for health information maintained in electronic form.
- (2) ETF must comply with the following HIPAA regulations:
 - (a) When an employee does not apply for health insurance when first eligible, a new opportunity to apply occurs during the annual health benefits open enrollment period. Coverage is then effective January 1 of the following year.
 - (b) Certain qualifying life events such as loss of other group coverage, marriage, or the birth or adoption of a child, permit an enrollment opportunity without restriction. For more information, see the *Life Events Guide* in the It's Your Choice materials at etf.wi.gov or contact ETF's *Employer Communication Center* at 1-877-533-5020 (toll free) or 1-608-266-3285.

A Notice of Privacy Practices is posted on ETF's website (<u>etf.wi.gov</u>) and appears in the *It's Your Choice* materials online under *Federal/State Notifications*.

101 G) Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) was signed into law on March 23, 2010. The law offers choices for consumers and provides new ways to hold insurance companies accountable. The law offers several benefits relating to the following health-care issues:

- (1) Rights and protections.
- (2) Insurance choices.
- (3) Full coverage for federally required preventive care services.

The consulting actuary to the BOARD has stated that all group health insurance plans offered to the employees and early (non-Medicare) retirees of the State of Wisconsin groups are considered MINIMUM ESSENTIAL COVERAGE.

For more detailed information about ACA provisions, visit <u>www.healthcare.gov</u> and <u>www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform/</u>.

102 Employer Agent Responsibilities

102 A) Designate a health insurance representative to:

- (1) Receive, respond, and forward as necessary ETF E-mail Updates, which contain important news and information from ETF. Your ETF case manager will automatically subscribe you to the appropriate topics for your agency. Contact your case manager with any questions.
- (2) Explain eligibility, cost, enrollment procedures and effective dates to employees.
- (3) Review original required documentation to validate births, marriages, divorces, deaths, and other life events. For births, marriages, divorces and deaths, send ETF the *Employer Attestation for Documentation Received* (ET-1908) form to verify your actions to benefit coverage eligibility. Employers should *not* send digital copies of vital records per Wis. Stat. § 69.21. See Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846).
- (4) Provide the annual Health Benefits Decision Guide, either paper or electronic, to all new hires and current subscribers prior to the annual health benefits open enrollment period and track when each employee received one. The annual Health Benefits Decision Guides, available on the ETF website and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year.
- (5) Provide information upon initial enrollment, health benefits open enrollment, continuation-conversion provisions and when applicable, Medicare.
- (6) Secure, audit and maintain health insurance applications, audit and approve online enrollments and arrange payroll deductions.
- (7) Run reports to determine eligibility for dependents turning age 26 including those who are disabled.
- (8) Review, reconcile and pay monthly ETF invoices online by the 24th of each month. Refer to Chapter 14.
- (9) Refer employees to the appropriate health plan contacts for claim or benefit questions. Customer service contact information is available in the It's Your Choice materials online under *Contact Info* for *Health Plans*. (Employers only are also provided contacts for more specific areas such as claims and complaints. The *Health Plan and Vendor Contact List* (ET-1728) is updated twice a year and provided in an employer bulletin. This list is not meant to be shared with employees, but as a tool for employers only.)
- (10) Refer annuitant health insurance questions to ETF's Employer Services Section, Retiree Health Insurance Unit.
- (11) Refer questions regarding the contract to ETF (Refer to subchapter 106).
- (12) Respond to health plan questions and audits in a timely manner.
- (13) Visit <u>etf.wi.gov</u> to obtain forms as needed to ensure you are using the most current version.
- (14) All documentation must be submitted to ETF in English.

103 Employer Training and Support

103 A) Training

Training for employers administering benefits under the Group Health Insurance contract is provided via the ETF website and the help tab on myETF Benefits.

103 B) Group Health Plan Questions and Technical Support

Questions about group health plans or benefits should be directed to the Employer Services Section at 1-877-533-5020 or ETFSMBEmployerInsurance@etf wi.gov.

104 myETF Benefits System

myETF Benefits System is a self-service benefits management system. The system has two applications:

104 A) myETF Benefits Administrator application for Employers (via Online Network for Employers - ONE).

104 B) myETF Benefits application for Members (via Online Network for Members - ONM) if not an employee under STAR/Central Payroll, UW or UWHC.

- (1) The myETF Benefits Administrator Application for Employers allows employers to:
 - (a) Initially enroll new employees.
 - (b) View and update individual member health insurance eligibility
 - (c) Complete mass employee terminations.
 - (d) View and update health insurance enrollment data.
 - (e) Approve employee submitted changes to health insurance and demographic data.

The administrator (employer) application can be found at the ONE site and is accessed using the employer's ONE login and password. Access to myETF Benefits is granted via the *Online Network for Employers Security Agreement* (ET-8928).

- (2) The myETF Benefits Application for Members allows members and employers to:
 - (a) Initially enroll in the health insurance if the employer allows and has set up the employee on myMembers.
 - (b) View individual health insurance eligibility and demographic data.
 - (c) Update health insurance enrollment data.
 - (d) Update demographic information.

Members will need to set up a login and password to access the system through Wisconsin Access Management System (WAMS). Employers will need to gain access by submitting the *Online Network For Employers Security Agreement*.

Appendix C contains more detailed instructions for employers to use the myETF Benefits System.

105 ETF Ombudsperson Services

The ombudsperson is a confidential resource for WRS and insurance program members and acts as a neutral party to work for equity, fairness and compliance with program policies and insurance contracts.

ETF offers ombudsperson services to assist members who remain dissatisfied after first having contacted the health plan and/or the Employer Services Section regarding a problem or complaint. Employers should direct employees in this situation to email, write or telephone ETF's ombudsperson at the following:

Department of Employee Trust Funds P.O. Box 7931 Madison WI 53707-7931 1-608-261-7947

Email: ombudsperson@etf.wi.gov

ETF ombudspersons advocate for members and attempt to resolve complaints and problems on their behalf. If unsuccessful, the ombudsperson advises the member of subsequent avenues of appeal. If a member's issue cannot be resolved informally, formal written complaints should be made, using the *Insurance Complaint Form* (ET-2405) if possible and should include an explanation of the issue the member is attempting to resolve. Additional information regarding ETF ombudsperson services can be found in the Benefits area of the etf.wi.gov and searching Ombudsperson Services.

106 Employer Services Section, Insurance Unit (ESS) Contact Information

Employers can contact ESS for questions related to eligibility, enrollment, forms and other inquiries via the methods below.

Mailing Address	P.O. Box 7931 Madison WI 53707-7931
Shipping Address	Department of Employee Trust Funds 4822 Madison Yards Way Madison WI 53705-9100
Telephone	1-877-533-5020 select option 2 (toll free)

106 A) Employee Trust Funds

ТТҮ	711	
Fax	1-608-267-4549	
Website	<u>etf.wi.gov</u>	
Email	 <u>Reach out to ETFSMBSTARInsurance@etf.wi.gov if the employee works</u> for a Central Payroll Agency. <u>Reach out to ETFSMBUWandUWHCInsurance@etf.wi.gov if the employee</u> works for the University of Wisconsin or the UW Hospital Authority If the employee works for one not listed, contact <u>ETFSMBEmployerInsurance@etf wi.gov</u> 	

Office Hours

7:45 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday (except holidays)

106 B) Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) Contact Information

	Navitus
Office	Health
Address	Solutions,
	Navitus Health Solutions, LLC
Mailing	P.O. Box 999
Address	Appleton, WI 54912-0999
Telephone	1-866-333-2757 (toll free)
Website	www.navitus.com

106 C) Wellness and Disease Management Program Administrator Contact Information

Mailing Address	WebMD Health Services Group, Inc. 2701 NW Vaughn Street, Suite 700, Portland, Oregon 97210
Telephone	1-800-821-6591 (toll free)
Website	https://webmdhealth.com/wellwisconsin

Chapter 2 — Health Plan and Program Requirements and Information

- 201 IYC Health Plans and HDHPs (HMOs and PPOs)
- 202 <u>Access Plan</u>
- 203 State Maintenance Plan (SMP) and Health Plan Qualification
- 204 Three Tier Premium Structure
- 205 Contribution Rates
- 206 Opt-out Incentive
- 207 Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) Navitus
- 208 Wellness and Disease Management Program Administrator WebMD
- 209 <u>Health Plan Contacts</u>
- 210 Coordination of Benefits (COB)
- 211 Administration of Benefit Maximums
- 212 <u>Errors</u>
- 213 Premium Refunds due to Errors are Limited
- 214 Premium and Claim Adjustments
- 215 <u>Benefits are Non-Transferrable</u>

The State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program consists of two types of plans: IYC health plans and the IYC ACCESS Plan. Effective January 1, 2015, ETF also offered a High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) option for both types of plans. Eligible EMPLOYEES, ANNUITANTS (including those under Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (16)), and currently insured CONTINUANTS can choose between at least two competing health benefit plans. If dental coverage is elected by the subscriber in this program, it is Uniform Dental Benefits.

201 IYC Health Plans and HDHP (HMOs and PPOs)

201 A) IYC health plans are health maintenance organizations (HMO) or preferred provider organizations (PPO)) that provide comprehensive benefits at a lower cost than the IYC ACCESS PPO Plan in exchange for some health care provider limitations. Most employees select an IYC health plan. PPOs may have different copayment and deductible schedules for out-of-plan providers, except in the case of emergency, urgent care or when the service is not reasonably available from a plan provider.

All health plans participating in the Group Health Insurance Program offer the same level of coverage, called Uniform Benefits, with the exception of the Medicare Plus plan offered to Medicare eligible retirees by UnitedHealthcare. Note that plans may have differing medical policies that impact coverage, for example, differences in what services are considered experimental.

Uniform Benefits, as detailed in the *It's Your Choice* enrollment materials online, are designed to ease employee health plan selection and assist ETF's efforts to negotiate quality care at the lowest possible cost. Uniform Benefits permit employees to select a health plan based on cost, quality of services, and

access to specific physicians or other health care providers.

While Uniform Benefit coverage levels are the same for IYC health plans, plans differ in other ways, namely overall premium amount, provider network, benefit determinations and administrative requirements. Uniform Benefits and premium amounts change on an annual basis. The latest annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides*, available on the ETF website and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year and the Certificates of Coverage and Schedules of Benefits (listed below) online are the most reliable resources for details.

Form # ET-	Title of Certificate of Coverage or Schedule of Benefits
2180	Uniform Benefits Certificate of Coverage [For Access Plans too]
2107sb	IYC Health Plan Schedule of Benefits
2112sb	Access Plan Schedule of Benefits
2107sbhd	High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) Schedule of Benefits
2170sb	Access High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) Schedule of Benefits
2108sb	Health Plan Medicare Schedule of Benefits
4113	Medicare Plus (Certificate of Coverage including Schedule of Benefits)
2100cc	IYC Medicare Advantage (Evidence of Coverage)

Note: Benefits differ for retirees and their dependents enrolled in Medicare for example, deductibles do not apply.

201 B) High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) Information

1. General Information: Each HEALTH PLAN will offer health care coverage through a High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) to all eligible PARTICIPANTs who have enrolled in a State sponsored Health Savings Account (HSA) that meets all applicable state or federal requirements.

The HDHP mirrors Uniform Benefits except that it contains an overall, up-front deductible and a larger out-of-pocket limit. The deductible *does* apply to pharmacy benefits. After the deductible, office visits and pharmacy copays again apply to an out-of-pocket limit. In a family plan, the entire family deductible must be met before the family coinsurance coverage begins. The deductible applies to all services except for <u>federally required preventive care</u>. Such care is covered at 100%. For more details, refer to the *It's Your Choice* materials online.

Uniform Benefits and premium amounts change on an annual basis. The latest annual Health Benefits Decision Guide, available at etf.wi.gov and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)), provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, Uniform Benefits and plan availability for the plan year. These are the most reliable resources for current benefit details. **Note:** Benefits differ for retirees and their dependents enrolled in Medicare for example, deductibles do not apply.

2. *Eligibility:* The HDHP is available to most employees and annuitants younger than age 65.

Ineligible members are as follows.

a. Employees who are eligible for the graduate assistant/short term academic staff benefits package and are not in the WRS.

- b. Subscribers who are enrolled in Medicare or any other disqualifying health plan (for example, a spouse's health insurance plan including a medical flexible spending account, certain foreign travel insurance or TRICARE).
- c. Effective January 1, 2024, retirees who insure a dependent who is enrolled in Medicare.
- 3. For employees who enroll in other, disqualifying coverage, that is, a plan that pays medical expenses before the deductible in the HDHP plan: Upon determination that a SUBSCRIBER has enrolled in such a plan, they are ineligible for the HDHP/HSA.
 - a. Their coverage shall be changed to the non-HDHP Uniform Benefit with the same HEALTH PLAN.
 - i. If the disqualifying other coverage is effective in the current year, the change to the non-HDHP benefit will occur the first of the month the other coverage is effective.
 - ii. If the disqualifying other coverage was effective in the previous year, the change to the non-HDHP benefit will be retroactive to January 1 of the current year.
 - b. If needed, PREMIUMS and claims shall be retroactively adjusted to align with these effective dates. During that time, the employer may want to reach out to the State's HSA vendor to discuss recovery of employer contributions that were made after the disqualifying other coverage became effective, to address a concern over IRS "improper contributions". ETF cannot provide tax advice. Members should consult a tax professional for advice.

After the SUBSCRIBER disenrolls in the other disqualifying coverage, they may only reenroll in the HDHP during open enrollment or with a life event that permits a plan change.

- 4. For active employees who are nearing age 65: Employers should make the employee aware of the potential consequences if they become enrolled in Medicare Part A, that is, they become ineligible for the HDHP/HSA benefit option. Employers should provide guidance to those participants that are interested in voluntarily delaying/disenrolling from Medicare and/or Social Security. To continue in the HDHP/HSA, the employee who is nearing age 65 must document that they will not enroll or be auto enrolled in Part A. If an employee takes their social security benefit, they will be automatically enrolled in Part A.
- 5. For employees over age 65 in the HDHP who intend to retire in the future:
 - a. Employees age 65 and older on an HDHP plan should consider stopping contributions to their HSA six months before they apply for Social Security retirement benefits to avoid potential tax penalties. When they sign up for Social Security retirement benefits, Social Security will give them up to six months of "back pay" in retirement benefits. This means that their enrollment in Part A will also be backdated by six months. Under IRS rules, that leaves them liable to pay six months of tax penalties on HSA contributions from themselves and their employer. ETF cannot provide tax advice. Members should consult a tax professional for advice.
 - b. Employees enrolled in an HDHP who retire, are over the Social Security Administration's (SSA's) full retirement age (e.g. age 65) and apply for SSA benefits, will begin their SSA benefit retroactively, for up to a maximum of 6 months. If they are enrolled in the HDHP at this time:
 - i. The employee's health contract must be changed to the non-HDHP policy with their same health plan, effective on the first of the month in which they are first enrolled in any part of Medicare. They will be responsible to pay additional employee premium

contribution for the retroactive change in plan design. ETF can only adjust premiums three months due to Medicare rules.

ii. Any HSA contributions they or the employer has made will be subject to tax penalty as they will be considered "improper contributions". That's because retirees on Medicare cannot contribute to an HSA. ETF cannot provide tax advice. Members should consult a tax professional for advice.

If the employee over age 65 thinks they will retire in the next year, they should not enroll in the HDHP in that year, to prevent any improper contributions towards their HSA.

202 IYC ACCESS Plan and HDHP

The ACCESS PLAN (formerly the Standard Plan) is a statewide/ nationwide Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) that is currently administered by Dean Health Plan. Participants enrolled in the ACCESS PLAN can see a provider of their choice without the network restrictions associated with an HMO. In exchange for this freedom to select the provider of their choice, the participants have different benefit levels depending on whether the provider selected is in-network (Uniform Benefits) or out-ofnetwork (lesser benefit level). PPOs may have different copayment and deductible schedules for out-ofnetwork providers, except in the case of emergency, urgent care or when the service is not reasonably available from a plan provider. Participants can review the online ACCESS PLAN Certificate of Coverage (ET-2180) and Schedule of Benefits (ET-2112sb non-HDHP or ET- 2170sb HDHP) for more details.

Dean Health Plan will offer health care coverage through a High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) ACCESS PLAN to all eligible PARTICIPANTs who have enrolled in a State sponsored Health Savings Account (HSA) that meets all applicable state or federal requirements. See 201 B for important HDHP and HSA information.

203 State Maintenance Plan (SMP) and Health Plan Qualification

The State Maintenance Plan (SMP) offers the same Uniform Benefits package as the IYC health plans, but is available only in those counties that do not have a qualified Tier 1 IYC health plan as noted in the current *It's Your Choice* materials online. The SMP is administered by Dean Health Plan.

Health Plan Qualification: Health plans are determined to be qualified on a county by county basis. Plans become "qualified" by meeting requirements for a specified number of providers. The Board reserves the right to make enrollment and eligibility decisions as necessary to implement this program, including whether to make a Tier 1 plan available in those counties in which otherwise no qualified health plan in Tier 1 exists and/or a Tier 2 plan available in any county. ETF may take such action as necessary to implement this intent.

204 Three Tier Health Premium Structure

Since the passage of the 2003-2005 biennial budget, the state of Wisconsin has sought to reduce health insurance costs for employees and employers by utilizing a 3 Tier system for premium

contributions. This was implemented to mitigate the trend of increasing health care costs. Each year the BOARD and its consulting actuaries rank and assign each of the available health plans to one of three "tier" categories. An employee's premium contribution is determined by the tier ranking of the health plan selected. The employee contribution is determined by the Division of Personnel Management in DOA per the non-represented compensation plan or collective bargaining agreement. The employer shall contribute the balance of the total premium.

The 3 Tier system is designed to foster competition between the health plans bidding to provide coverage through ETF while maintaining high-quality health care. All plans are assigned to one of the three tiers based on their cost effectiveness and the quality of care provided.

The health plans offered by ETF are predominately Tier 1, although some plans may fall into Tiers 2 or 3.

- (1) Tier 1 plans Low cost.
- (2) Tier 2 plans Moderate cost.
- (3) Tier 3 plans High cost.

The annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides,* available on the ETF website and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year for the monthly premium rates.

205 Contribution Rates

Each year, the monthly amount that state employees are required to pay for health insurance is established by the Division of Personnel Management (DPM). DPM determines the employee contribution towards premium based on the provisions in Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (ag) and (ah). Effective January 1, 2015, DPM also began to determine the employer contribution for the Health Savings Account that accompanies the HDHP.

Effective on January 1, 2022, all represented and non-represented employees in craft-related classifications will be eligible for the monthly premiums, the Health Savings Account contributions and the Health Insurance Opt-Out Stipend.

206 Opt-Out incentive

State employees may be eligible to receive an annual \$2,000 health insurance opt-out incentive from the employer.

To be eligible the employee:

- (1) cannot have opted out at any time in 2015,
- (2) cannot be covered for even one day in the calendar year and
- (3) cannot be covered under the state group health insurance program as a State employee's dependent.

Eligible employees include Limited Term Employees (LTEs), less than ½ time employees and those on leave of absence.

As of January 1, 2022, Craftworkers are eligible for the opt-out incentive if they have met the eligibility criteria above, for employer contribution.

Every year employees must electronically enroll through their employer's payroll/benefit system or file a paper Group Health Insurance Application/Change ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form during the health benefits open enrollment period or within 30 days of hire for an employee new to the WRS. The application includes an opt-out check box and an eligibility attestation statement.

Before paying any opt-out incentives, the employer will compare the employee to ETF's 2015 opt-out master list, which is compiled from myETF Benefits enrollment system data. ETF will also validate eligibility for employers by verifying that their employee applying for the opt-out incentive does not currently have active coverage under a spouse or parent. To have this eligibility verified the employer needs to contact ETF directly at <u>ETFSMBEmployerInsurance@etf.wi.gov</u> or contact their case manager. Larger employers with more frequent hires should submit their requests via email in a spreadsheet so ETF can process these eligibility checks as quickly as possible. Incentive payments will be spread out over all applicable pay periods in the year. For mid-year new hires, the employer shall prorate the \$2,000 stipend per the remaining number of pay periods in the calendar year in which the election is made. The incentive is considered taxable income and will appear on employees' W-2 statements. However, the incentive payment is not considered WRS earnings.

If the opted-out employee experiences a mid-year involuntary loss of non-state coverage, incentive payments will stop as soon as the employee enrolls for coverage. This is due to the HIPAA special 30-day enrollment opportunity, even though the statute says the employee would not be eligible for coverage.

More information, addressed to employees, appears in the It's Your Choice Frequently Asked Question section on the Opt-Out Incentive.

207 Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) – Navitus

A pharmacy benefit manager (PBM) is the third-party administrator of the prescription drug program and is primarily responsible for processing and paying prescription drug claims, managing the network of available pharmacies, and maintaining the preferred drug list, called the formulary. All participants in the Group Health Insurance Program receive their pharmacy benefits through the PBM, Navitus Health Solutions, regardless of the health plan they have chosen.

Medicare eligible retirees enrolled in the Group Health Insurance Program will be automatically enrolled in the Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan, which is underwritten by Dean Health Insurance Inc., a federallyqualified Medicare Part D prescription drug plan. In addition, these retirees will also have supplemental "Wrap" coverage that pays secondary to the Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan.

Retirees may choose to be enrolled in another Medicare Part D plan, but it is neither recommended nor required. Retirees who choose to enroll in another Medicare Part D plan will be disenrolled from the ETF's Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan. However, they will still maintain the supplemental "Wrap" coverage, which will be secondary to the other Medicare Part D plan. There is no partial premium refund for enrolling in another Medicare Part D plan.

Pharmacy ID Cards

Subscribers receive separate ID cards from Navitus and must present that ID card to their pharmacist when filling a prescription. Please contact Navitus (refer to subchapter 106) for questions pertaining to the pharmacy benefit. In addition, retirees who maintain their enrollment in ETF's Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan will receive a separate ID card specifically for the Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan.

208 Wellness & Disease Management Program Administrator - WebMD

WebMD is the third-party administrator of Well Wisconsin, the uniform wellness and disease management program. Well Wisconsin is available to all subscribers and spouses enrolled in the Group Health Insurance Program. Well Wisconsin participants who complete a health check, health assessment and a well-being activity are eligible to receive a \$150 incentive. Some well-being activity options include: health coaching, disease management, wellness challenges and other online well-being programs.

All incentives earned by participants are considered taxable income to the subscriber and are reported to employers semiannually. COBRA participants will see some taxes withheld from their incentive.

WebMD offers onsite biometric screenings and flu vaccine clinics for employers to host at their location. There is a minimum of 20 participants for each event. Employers may request events directly through WebMD.

209 Health Plan & Vendor Contacts

Health plan and benefit vendor addresses and general phone numbers are listed in the *It's Your Choice* materials online.

Employers may use the contacts on the <u>Health Plan and Vendor Contacts (ET-1728)</u> to get answers to questions on membership, claims, grievances, supplies and other information. It is found on ETF's website under the *Employer Forms and Brochures* section for health insurance. This form should not be shared with employees.

210 Coordination of Benefits (COB)

For a variety of reasons, some individuals are covered under more than one group health insurance plan. When this occurs, insurance regulations are used to "coordinate" or determine the order in which the benefits are paid. The plan that pays first is called the "primary plan" and the plan that pays next is the "secondary plan." The insurance regulations for determining the order in which plans will pay benefits are described online at etf.wi.gov under the It's Your Choice section. See the Certificates of Coverage (refer to section 201 A). Questions regarding COB should be directed to the health plans.

211 Administration of Benefit Maximums

211 A) If a PARTICIPANT changes HEALTH PLANS during a CONTRACT year (e.g., due to a change in residence), any annual BENEFIT maximums, deductibles, or out-of-pocket limits under the health benefit program will start over at \$0 with the new HEALTH PLAN as of the EFFECTIVE DATE of coverage with the new HEALTH PLAN with the exception of the prescription drug BENEFIT annual out-of-pocket maximum for the HEALTH PLAN. The deductibles and out-of-pocket limits are combined for the HDHP, therefore, the prescription drug BENEFIT annual out-of-pocket accumulation will start over if

the PARTICIPANT changes insurers. However, a change within the same HEALTH PLAN but with a different provider network, such as Quartz, would result in a continuation of the accumulated maximums.

211 B) If a PARTICIPANT changes the level of coverage (e.g., single to family), transfers to another State agency, or has a spouse-to-spouse transfer resulting in a change of SUBSCRIBER, but does not change HEALTH PLANS, the annual BENEFIT maximums, deductibles, and out-of-pocket limits will continue to accumulate for that year. Note: No accumulations transfer if an employee moves from state to local (or vice versa) coverage, regardless if they remain covered by the same insurer.

211 C) The HEALTH PLAN shall provide the PARTICIPANT with medical BENEFIT accumulations upon request. This requirement can be satisfied through the mailing of a plan explanation of benefits.

212 Errors

212 A) No clerical error made by the employer, ETF or the HEALTH PLAN shall invalidate benefits of a participant otherwise validly in force, nor continue such BENEFITS otherwise validly terminated except for the constructive waiver provision below.

212 B) If an employee or annuitant has made application during a prescribed enrollment period for either individual or family coverage and has authorized the premium contributions, benefits shall not be invalidated solely because of the failure of the employer or ETF, due to clerical error, to give proper notice to the HEALTH PLAN of such employee's application except for the constructive waiver provision below.

212 C) Constructive waiver: Any enrolled employee in active pay status for whom the employee portion of PREMIUMS has not been deducted from salary by the employer for a period of 12 consecutive months, shall be deemed to have prospectively waived coverage upon a 30-day notice to the employee, unless all required PREMIUMS are paid. Coverage then may be obtained only under the deferred coverage provisions of 601 G.

212 D) In the event that an employer determines an effective date under Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (2) based on information obtained from ETF available at the time the application is filed, such application shall not be invalidated solely because of an administrative error in determining the proper effective date of employer contribution. No such error will result in providing coverage for which the employee would otherwise not be entitled, except as required by law.

212 E) If a person is erroneously omitted from participation under the Wisconsin Retirement System and the omission is corrected retroactively, including payment of all WRS required contributions for the retroactive period the MEMBER must apply within 30 days of notice from EMPLOYER of the error. Coverage will be prospective if the person would have been eligible for the coverage had the error never occurred.

212 F) If a graduate assistant becomes eligible for WRS and is reported late, their graduate assistant coverage is retroactively changed to active WRS coverage. Premiums will be adjusted accordingly.

213 Premium Refunds due to Errors are Limited

If an employer erroneously continues to pay the PREMIUM for an employee who terminates employment or is on a leave of absence, refunds of such PREMIUMS shall be limited to no more than two months of PREMIUMS paid prior to the current month of coverage. However, if the last dependent loses eligibility due to age, then retro adjustments to premiums may go back 6 months based upon the date the EMPLOYEE files the application. Also see 801F.

214 Limited Premium and Claim Adjustments

Except in cases of fraud, material misrepresentation, resolution of GIB appeal, or when required by Medicare, retrospective adjustments to PREMIUM or claims for coverage not validly in force shall be limited to no more than six months of PREMIUMS paid. In cases where Medicare is the primary payer, retroactive adjustments to PREMIUM or claims for coverage not validly in force shall correspond with the shortest retroactive enrollment limit set by Medicare (currently 90 days) for either medical or prescription drug claims, not to exceed six months and in accordance with 1301 F. No retroactive premium refunds shall be made for coverage resulting from any application due to fraud or material misrepresentation. The HEALTH PLAN is responsible for resolving discrepancies in claims payment for all Medicare data match inquiries.

215 Benefits Non-Transferable

No person other than a PARTICIPANT, as recorded in the office of the HEALTH PLAN, is entitled to BENEFITS under this CONTRACT. The SUBSCRIBER or any of his or her DEPENDENTS who assigns or transfers their rights under the CONTRACT, aids any other person in obtaining BENEFITS or knowingly presents or causes to be presented a false or fraudulent claim shall be guilty of a Class A misdemeanor as prescribed under Wis. Stat. § 943.395, and subject to the penalties set forth under Wis. Stat. § 939.51 (3) (a).

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Chapter 3—Eligibility

- 301 Employee, Annuitant and Continuant Eligibility
- 302 Dependent Coverage Eligibility
- 303 Employer Premium Contribution Eligibility
- 304 WRS Previous Service Check
- 305 <u>Rehired Employee Coverage</u>

301 Employee, Annuitant and Continuant Eligibility

EMPLOYEES, ANNUITANTS and CONTINUANTS shall become or be SUBSCRIBERS if they have filed with the EMPLOYER or ETF, if applicable, an application in the form prescribed by ETF, and are eligible in accordance with the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Agreement, the law, the administrative rules, and regulations of ETF.

301 A) For group health insurance purposes (per Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (25) (b)), eligible employees include:

- (1) General participating state employees: Active state and university employees participating in the Wisconsin Retirement System.
- (2) Elected state constitutional officials.
- (3) Any members or officers of the legislature and other positions mentioned in 40.02 (25) (b) 6g.
- (4) The blind employees of Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT) authorized under Wis. Stat. §47.03 (1) (b) or § 47.03 (1m).
- (5) Any employee on leave of absence who has chosen to continue their insurance.
- (6) Any employee on layoff whose health insurance premiums are being paid from accumulated unused sick leave (Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (bm)).
- (7) The following in the University of Wisconsin System and University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics Authority as authorized under Wis. Stat. § 40.52 (3):
 - (a) Any teacher (employment category 40) who is employed by the university for an expected duration of not fewer than six months on at least a one-third full-time appointment.
 - (b) Any teacher who is a participating employee and who is employed by the University of Wisconsin System for an expected duration of not fewer than six months on at least a one-third full-time appointment.
 - (c) Certain visiting faculty members in the University of Wisconsin System.
 - (d) Graduate student assistants (research assistants, fellows, advanced opportunity fellows, scholars, trainees, teaching assistants and project/program assistants) holding a combined one-third (33%) or greater appointment of at least one semester per academic year (nine month) appointments or six months for annual (twelve month) appointments.

- (e) Employees-in-training (research associates, post-doctoral fellows, post-doctoral trainees, post-graduate trainees 1 through 7, interns (non-physician), research interns, and graduate interns/trainees) holding a combined one-third time (33%) or greater appointment of at least one semester for academic year (nine month) or six months for annual (twelve month) appointments.
- (f) Short-term academic staff who are employed in positions not covered under the WRS and who are holding a fixed-term terminal, acting/provisional or interim (non-UW-Madison) appointment of 28% or more with an expected duration of at least one semester but less than one academic year if on an academic year (nine month) appointment or have an appointment of 21% or more with an expected duration of at least six months but fewer than twelve months if on an annual (twelve month) appointment.
- (g) Visiting appointees (e.g., visiting professors, visiting scientists, visiting lecturers) may be eligible for the health insurance benefits.
- (h) Any person employed as a graduate assistant and other employees-in-training as designated by the board of directors of the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority who are employed on at least a one-third full-time appointment with an expected duration of employment of at least six months.

NOTE: In the event an employee is hired, WRS eligible, and elected insurance coverage that is in force and the employee terminates before completion of 30 days of service the insurance remains in force and the employee **must** be offered COBRA. Coverage as an active employee will end as of the end of the month of termination.

301 B) Annuitants and Continuants (Former Employees/Dependents) For information related to accumulated sick leave conversion credit eligibility, see the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170).

- (1) Any insured employee who is retired on an immediate annuity, receives disability retirement, duty disability (see 1001B 2), or Long-Term Disability Insurance (LTDI) benefits, or who receives a lump sum payment under WRS which would have been an immediate annuity if paid as an annuity under Wis. Stat. § 40.25 (1). An immediate annuity means the annuity effective date is within 30 days of the termination date.
- (2) The surviving spouse of an employee or of a retired employee who is covered on the employee's health insurance at the time of death of the employee or retired employee.
- (3) Insured employees who terminate employment, have attained minimum retirement age (50 for protective services or 55 for all other categories), have 20 years of WRS creditable service and defer their annuity are eligible to continue in the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program if a timely application is submitted.
- (4) Any participating state employee who terminates employment after attaining 20 years of WRS creditable service, remains an inactive WRS participant and is ineligible for an immediate annuity (that is, under the minimum retirement age) may enroll in the Group Health Insurance Program at a later date. Enrollment is restricted to:
 - a) the open enrollment period in the fall (typically beginning in October) for coverage effective the following January 1, or
 - b) when the former employee begins their annuity.
- (5) Any rehired annuitant electing to return to active WRS participation is immediately eligible to apply for health insurance coverage through the employer upon termination of their annuity and participation in the annuitant health insurance program (any state agency or local employer that participates in the Wisconsin Public Employers Group Health Insurance

Program).

302 Dependent Coverage Eligibility

302 A) Single coverage covers only the eligible employee. All eligible, listed dependents are covered under a family contract. A subscriber/employee cannot choose to exclude any eligible dependent from family coverage. Eligible dependents for family coverage include:

- (1) Spouse (must be legally recognized in the State of Wisconsin).
- (2) Children who include:
 - (a) Natural children.
 - (b) Stepchildren.
 - (c) Adopted children and pre-adoption placements. Coverage will be effective on the date that a court makes a final order granting adoption by the subscriber or on the date the child is placed in the custody of the subscriber, whichever occurs first. These dates are defined by Wis. Stat. § 632.896. If the adoption of a child is not finalized, the insurer may terminate coverage of the child when the adoptive placement ends.
 - (d) Legal wards that become the subscriber's permanent ward before age 19. Coverage will be effective on the date that a court awards permanent guardianship to either the subscriber/employee or spouse.
 - (e) Grandchild if the parent is a dependent child and under the age of 18. The grandchild ceases to be a dependent at the end of the month in which the dependent child (parent) turns 18.

Note:

- (a) Children may be covered until the end of the month in which they attain age 26 except for grandchildren. Their spouse and/or dependents are not eligible. Upon the child's loss of eligibility, the child may be eligible for COBRA Continuation.
- (b) Pertaining to divorce if a court orders the subscriber/employee to insure an ex-spouse, the order does not create eligibility for the ex-spouse to remain insured under the subscriber/ employee. Ex-spouse eligibility is under COBRA Continuation (refer to Chapter 9).
- (c) A dependent or subscriber cannot be covered at the same time by two separate subscribers of the state group health insurance program (including the Wisconsin Public Employers State Group Health Insurance Program). In the event it is determined that a dependent is covered by two separate subscribers, the subscribers will be notified and will have 30 days to determine which subscriber will remove coverage of the dependent and submit an application to remove the dependent. If the dependent(s) is to be newly covered by a subscriber that has single coverage, the contract may be converted to a family contract. The effective date will be the first of the month following receipt of the application. The health plan(s) will be notified.

302 B) Coverage of Spouse or Dependent

(1) If both spouses are ANNUITANTS or employed through the State of Wisconsin and both are eligible for coverage, each may elect individual coverage, but if one spouse elects family coverage, the other eligible spouse may be covered as a DEPENDENT but may not have any other coverage. PARTICIPANTS can only be covered under one State Group Health Insurance Program (including Wisconsin Public Employers State Group Health Insurance Program) contract. As permitted by Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code, two single contracts may be combined to one family contract, a family contract may be converted to two single contracts, or the family coverage may be changed from one spouse to the other without penalty effective the first day of the calendar month which begins on or after the date the EMPLOYER receives the application, or a later date as specified on the application. If the spouses have coverage with different HEALTH PLANS at the time of marriage or when two single contracts are combined to one family contract, they may elect family coverage with either HEALTH PLAN effective the first day of the calendar month which begins on or after the date the EMPLOYER receives the application. Should the spouses become divorced while carrying family coverage, the divorced spouse may elect coverage with any HEALTH PLAN without lapse if the EMPLOYER received the application within 30 days of the divorce.

(2) A DEPENDENT or SUBSCRIBER cannot be covered at the same time by two separate SUBSCRIBERS of the State Group Health Insurance Program (including the Wisconsin Public Employers State Group Health Insurance Program). In the event it is determined that a DEPENDENT is covered by two separate SUBSCRIBERS, the SUBSCRIBERS will be notified and will have 30 days to determine which SUBSCRIBER will remove coverage of the DEPENDENT and apply to remove the DEPENDENT. If the DEPENDENT(S) is to be newly covered by a SUBSCRIBER that has single coverage, the contract may be converted to a family contract. The effective date will be the first of the month following receipt of the application. The health plan(s) will be notified. The exception is to escrow sick leave. See 601 H 5).

303 Employer Premium Contribution Eligibility

303 A) Employees eligible to receive the employer contribution toward the monthly premium payment include:

- (1) A newly hired WRS covered employee, having been employed by the State of Wisconsin, University of Wisconsin Employee (except university faculty; see below) or a blind employee of Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT) (local government service does not apply) for a minimum of two months and having not taken a separation benefit (refer to WRS Manual chapter 300 to determine prior service). The employee must submit an application to his or her employer within 30 days of the date of hire. Coverage will be effective the first of the month following date of hire (unless hire date is the first of the month, then coverage is effective the first of the month).
- (2) A new employee with less than two months' prior service as a state, University of Wisconsin Employee or a blind employee of Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT). A leave of absence may extend the date an employee becomes eligible for the employer premium contribution. Also see 401D.
 - (a) A new employee can apply for coverage by submitting a completed application to their employer within 30 days of their date of hire requesting coverage to be effective immediately, first of the month on or after date or hire. If the new employee does not have two months' prior state service, the employee will not be eligible for the employer premium contribution until they have completed two months of state service and must pay the entire premium.
 - (b) A new employee may also elect coverage to begin when the employer contributes towards the monthly premium. The employee must submit a completed application to their employer prior to becoming eligible for the employer premium contribution. The new employee always becomes eligible for the employer contribution on the first of a month.

i) Assuming there is no break in service, employees whose employment begins:

aa) The **first** of a month – Add two months to determine the month in which the employee is eligible to receive the employer contribution.

Example 1: Hire date of March 1; health insurance application received March 1 (before becoming eligible for the employer premium contribution), eligible for the employer premium contribution on May 1. This effective date is determined by counting the month of March and April as the two full months of required state service because the employee was hired on the first of the month.

ab) The **second through the thirty-first** of a month – Add three months to determine the month in which the employee is eligible to receive the employer contribution.

Example 2: Hire date of March 2; health insurance application received on April 2 (before becoming eligible for the employer premium contribution), eligible for the employer premium contribution on June 1. This effective date is determined by counting April and May as the two full months of required state service. March is not counted as a full month since the hire date was not on March 1.

- ii) When an employee has a break in service and no previous state WRS service, **any** period worked in a month is counted as a month towards WRS service.
 - **Example**: Hire date of August 2; employee who either terminates or goes on a leave of absence beginning on September 2; employee returns to work on October 7; no prior service before August 2.

Because there is a break in service, any period worked in a month counts as a full month towards WRS state service. For example, if an employee works one day in August, one day in September and one day in October, these are counted as three full months because there were hours worked in each. The employee is eligible for the employer premium contribution beginning November 1 if a health insurance application was received on or before that date. A leave of absence must also be deemed ended under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40) for the employee to be eligible for the employer contribution on November 1.

Note: In this instance, the employee has until November 6 to submit a completed health insurance application (30 days from the date of return to work) for a plan of their choice. For an application received on or before November 1, coverage is effective November 1. The coverage effective date is December 1 for an application received between November 2 and November 6.

change to more than 49%—is eligible for the employer contribution the first of the month following the change. However, the application **must** be received within 30 days of the position change. Coverage will be effective the first of the month following date of position change (unless change date is the first of the month, then coverage is effective the first of the month).

Example: Jamaal works in a 40% FTE WRS-eligible position. He declined to enroll in health insurance because he thought the premium was rather expensive, which was due to his Employer only paying 50% of the premium. Jamaal's position will be increasing to a 100% FTE position.

This change in FTE from less than-half-time to half-time or more creates an enrollment opportunity for Jamaal, and—because the position is now half-time or more—he will be eligible for the full Employer premium contribution.

Because his health insurance premium is now more affordable with the full Employer premium contribution, Jamaal enrolls in health insurance.

(3) A graduate assistant or employee-in-training at the University of Wisconsin. Employer premium contribution for graduate assistants:

Under Wis. Stat. § 40.52 (3), University of Wisconsin graduate assistants, employees-intraining, short-term academic staff, fellows and scholars are also eligible for health insurance under this program. A new employee can apply for coverage by submitting a completed application to their employer within 30 days of their date of hire requesting coverage to be effective immediately upon the first of the month on or after their employer's receipt of their application. A graduate assistant is eligible for the employer contribution toward the premium upon hire.

If this is not the graduate assistant's first eligible appointment, they may still be eligible for the "initial" 30-day enrollment period if they had a 30-day employment break between appointments.

Example: Becca works in a 40% FTE WRS-eligible position. She declined to enroll in health insurance because she thought the premium was rather expensive, which was due to her Employer only paying 50% of the premium.

Becca is also going to school to get her master's degree, and she was recently offered a position as a graduate assistant. This new position creates an enrollment opportunity for Becca even if she will keep her current 40% position, and—because the position is a graduate assistant position—she will be eligible for the full Employer premium contribution in that position.

Because her health insurance premium is now more affordable with the full Employer premium contribution, Becca enrolls in graduate assistant health insurance.

If an employee enrolled under graduate assistant coverage becomes eligible for and enrolled in any WRS position with any state agency or local employer, they cannot be enrolled under graduate assistant coverage or retain graduate assistant coverage (§ 40.22 (4), Wis. Stat.).

(4) A teacher who is a WRS participating employee and employed by the University of Wisconsin for an expected duration of not fewer than six months with at least a one-third full-time appointment (UW faculty). UW faculty members are immediately eligible for the employer premium contribution and must apply for coverage within 30 days of hire with coverage to be effective the first of the month that first occurs on or following the date of hire.

(5) A member of the Legislature or an elected state official, an employee of the Legislature, a state constitutional officer, a Supreme Court Justice, an Appeals Court Judge, a Circuit Court Judge, the chief clerk or sergeant at arms of the Senate or Assembly, or a district attorney who did not elect under § 978.12 (6) to continue insurance coverage with a county (or who did elect such coverage but terminated that election and elected state coverage within three months of the terminated election). These employees are immediately eligible for the employer premium contribution and must apply for coverage within 30 days of taking office or the event.

303 B) Employer premium contribution for full- and part-time employees:

The BOARD, in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (6), established the three-tier model with employee premium shares based on the three separate premium tiers (The three-tier model is explained in subchapter 204.). Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (ag) and (at) provide guidance regarding the state premium contribution. Compensation plans and bargaining agreements, approved by the state Legislature, determine the exact employee and employer share. The employer premium contribution for part-time eligible employees is also subject to compensation plans.

For employees that are hired to work fewer than 1,040 hours per year, the employer premium contribution is limited to half of the total premium (§ 40.05 (4) (ag), Wis. Stat.).

Health insurance plan premiums and employee contributions are published in the annual *Health Benefits Decision Guide,* available on the ETF website (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year.

303 C) Employer premium contribution for limited term employees (LTEs):

Health insurance eligibility is based on WRS eligibility. Refer to Chapter 3 of the *WRS Administration Manual* (<u>ET-1127</u>) for information regarding WRS eligibility for LTEs.

Once LTEs begin participation under the WRS, they are immediately eligible to enroll in the Group Health Insurance Program but must pay the entire premium, or they may defer enrollment until the employer contributes toward the premium. An LTE must have six months of state service to be eligible to receive the employer contribution towards premiums. A completed application must be received by the employer prior to becoming eligible for the employer contribution.

Employees hired to a WRS eligible LTE appointment and the anticipated hours per year are fewer than 1,040 hours, the employee is required to pay half the total premium cost with the employer paying the remaining half. Employees hired to work concurrent WRS eligible LTE appointments and the anticipated hours per year are 1,040 hours or more, either with the

same state agency or different state agencies, they are treated as full-time employees for the determination of the employer premium contribution.

303 D) Premium contribution for other represented and non-represented employees:

Some represented employees may have a different employer premium contribution. Consult the applicable collective bargaining contracts. Some non-represented employees may also have a different employer premium contribution. Consult applicable Division of Personnel Management Publications.

303 E) Premium contribution for covered state employees on military leave:

The employer premium contribution for employees on military leave continues beyond the three months normally allowed under leave of absence provisions. Employees on military leave who have not yet fulfilled the two-month employment provision are eligible for the employer premium contribution on the date they would have been eligible had the military leave not occurred.

Under Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4g) (b), if an eligible employee is not covered, the employee or designated representative may make an election on a form provided by the employer no later than 60 days after the date the eligible employee begins to serve on active duty in the U.S. armed forces. The employee may receive the employer contribution toward the premium if the employee or designated representative pays any employee contributions that are required to be paid toward premium payments.

304 WRS Previous Service Check

A WRS previous service check must be performed for each employee applying for health insurance to determine the appropriate employer premium contribution and effective date of the employer premium contribution.

ETF provides two methods for employers to use in determining whether an employee has previous state and or University of Wisconsin service:

(1) Access the Previous Service Benefit Inquiry application on ETF's Online Network for Employers (ONE) site at: <u>https://etf.wi.gov/employers/wisconsin-retirement-system/etf-web-applications-employers</u>

Note: This is a password-protected site. To obtain access refer to Chapter 8, subchapter 801, of the *WRS Administration Manual* (<u>ET-1127</u>).

(2) Call the Employer Services Section toll-free at 1-877-533-5020 or 1-608-266-3285 and request a previous service check.

305 Rehired Employee Coverage

305 A) Any insured EMPLOYEE who terminates employment with the state and is re-employed by the state in a position eligible for health insurance within 30 days or who terminates employment for a period of more than 30 days that does not comply with Wis. Adm. Code § ETF 10.08 (2) and (3) shall be deemed to have been on leave of absence for that time and is limited to previous coverage.

305 B) Rehired ANNUITANTS who terminate their annuity and participate in the Wisconsin Retirement System may continue the same health insurance coverage by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 30 days following the Wisconsin Retirement System participation begin date.

Rehired ANNUITANTS at the UW System are not eligible for the health insurance program under Wis. Stat. § 40.52 (3) for graduate assistants regardless of whether they are eligible to participate in the Wisconsin Retirement System. Also, see Chapter 11.

305 C) If an insured EMPLOYEE transfers from one state payroll center to another (for example, STAR to UW), an application must be filed within 30 days to maintain continuous coverage. If no application is filed within the 30-day enrollment period, continuous coverage may be reinstated by filing an application and paying back PREMIUM. The constructive waiver of coverage under section 211 C will apply. **Note:** If the break of 30 days or less spans two months, the new employer is responsible to offer coverage the first of the month so there is no gap in employer contribution. This means that if the transferred employee begins November 10, their coverage and employer contribution begins November 1. If there is more than a 30-day period where the employee is not at work at either of the two payroll centers, the EMPLOYEE should be offered COBRA.

Chapter 4 — Initial Enrollment

- 401 Initial Enrollment and Effective Dates
- 402 Declining Coverage
- 403 <u>Enrollment Opportunities for Employees who Previously Declined or</u> <u>Canceled Coverage</u>
- 404 Applying for Coverage
- 405 Primary Care Provider or Primary Care Clinic
- 406 Insurance Cards

401 Initial Enrollment and Effective Dates

- **401 A)** Immediately upon hire, employers must provide newly eligible employees with the:
 - current annual <u>health benefits materials online</u> or the <u>Health Benefits Decision Guide</u> for the program option(s) you offer,
 - Health Insurance Application/Change (<u>ET-2301</u>) form, if requested or your employees are not able to enroll online, and
 - <u>Notice of Privacy Practices</u> and <u>COBRA: Continuation of Coverage for Group Health</u> <u>Insurance</u> notices (to meet federal COBRA and HIPPA notice requirements).

These are available on the ETF website and updated annually.

If the employee is a single parent (including divorced employees), they must provide documentation such as a birth certificate or paternity acknowledgement to add dependent children. If documentation is not on file for currently covered dependents, even if they were previously insured dependents, it will be requested and must be provided. A Social Security number or Individual Taxpayer Identification Number (ITIN) is required for any dependent over the age of one for tax purposes. If the dependent does not have an SSN or ITIN, an employer developed affidavit should be completed by the member or parent and submitted to the employer.

All eligible employees must either enroll online (with information electronically transferred to myETF Benefits System) or submit a completed Health Insurance Application/Change form, including those who do not wish to enroll and are choosing to waive/decline coverage (refer to subchapter 402).

Note: It is recommended to instruct the employee to add the Social Security numbers (SSNs) of all dependents as soon as possible. SSNs are needed for vendor reporting to the IRS annually, and if not entered, vendors will reach out to subscribers to gather that information. An employer developed affidavit should be completed by the member or parent and submitted to the employer.

When coverage becomes effective, multiple PREMIUM payments may be required initially to make PREMIUM payments current.

401 B) Eligible EMPLOYEES and ANNUITANTS can enroll as described below:(1) For EMPLOYEES who request coverage within 30 days of the employee's date of hire:

An EMPLOYEE shall be insured if a completed ETF application form is received by the EMPLOYER or an online enrollment through the employer's payroll system is received within 30 days of the date of hire, coverage to be effective as of the first day of the month that occurs on or following the date of hire. New WRS employees will be responsible for paying the full premium until employer contributions begin.

- (2) For EMPLOYEES who request coverage on or before becoming eligible for the employer contribution: An EMPLOYEE shall be insured if a completed ETF application form is received by the EMPLOYER or an online enrollment through the employer's payroll system is received within 30 days of the date of hire or prior to the date employer contributions begin, coverage to be effective upon becoming eligible for EMPLOYER contribution. Eligibility for employer contribution follows completion of two months of state service under the WRS for permanent/project employees/Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT) or six months of state service for limited term employees. This does not apply to UW unclassified faculty/academic staff.
- (3) For UW unclassified faculty/academic staff: A teacher who is a participating employee and who is employed by the University of Wisconsin for an expected duration of not fewer than six months with at least a one-third full time appointment (UW Faculty). UW Faculty members are eligible for the State premium contribution beginning on the date coverage begins.
- (4) For Graduate Assistants: If eligible, they may enroll for single or family coverage in any of the available non-high deductible health plans. Their benefits/payroll/personnel office must receive the application within 30 days of the date of first eligible appointment. Health insurance coverage will be effective as of the first day of the month that occurs on or following the date of hire. If this is not the grad assistant's first eligible appointment, they may still be eligible for the initial 30-day enrollment period if there was a 30-day employment break between appointments.
- **Note:** If currently an active WRS participant, grad assistant positions are **not** eligible for coverage under the graduate assistant program. For example, a WRS employee on a leave of absence could not gain graduate assistant coverage.

401 C) For the purposes of selecting a HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN, a completed application requires the submission and acceptance of a Health Savings Account application to the third-party administrator. The Health Savings Account application must be submitted concurrently with the HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN application.

401 D) Employees who chose coverage beginning as soon as possible have the option of changing health plans and/or coverage levels effective on the first of the month that the state premium contribution begins. Employees canceling coverage prior to the date that the state premium contribution begins may re-enroll with the coverage becoming effective on the first of the month that the employer contribution begins.

401 E) For initial enrollment, if the new employee's spouse is also an eligible state or participating WPE employee or annuitant, there are several options available. Double coverage of an individual in either or both the state and local group health insurance program is not permitted.

(1) If their spouse is already enrolled with single coverage, the new employee may also elect single coverage or elect family coverage in which case the spouse would have to submit an

application to cancel their single coverage in order to go onto the new employee's family coverage.

- (2) If their spouse is already enrolled with family coverage, the new employee elects family coverage, in which case the spouse would have to submit an application to cancel their family coverage in order to be added onto the new employee's family coverage.
- (3) If the parents are divorced and the child moves from household to household (for example, for the summer), the parents may file an application to remove the child from one contract and to the other.

402 Declining (Waiving) Coverage

402 A) An employee declining to enroll in the Group Health Insurance Program when initially eligible must complete (mark appropriate box declining coverage, sign, and date) a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) or make a waive election in the employer's benefit/payroll system. Employees should be reminded that once declined, election of coverage later is limited to the onset of qualifying life events creating enrollment opportunities (refer to subchapter 403), or during the annual health benefits open enrollment period for an effective date of January 1 of the following year.

402 B) An eligible employee may defer the selection of coverage if he/she is covered under another health insurance plan, or is a member of the US Armed Forces, or is a citizen of a country with national health care coverage comparable to the Access Plan as determined by ETF. If the EMPLOYEE or a DEPENDENT loses eligibility for that other coverage or the EMPLOYER'S contribution towards the other coverage ceases, the EMPLOYEE may elect coverage under any plan by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 30 days of the loss of eligibility and by providing evidence satisfactory to ETF of the loss of eligibility. An EMPLOYEE enrolled for single coverage, though eligible for family coverage, may change to family coverage if any eligible DEPENDENTS covered under the other plan lose eligibility for that coverage or the EMPLOYER'S contribution towards the other coverage ceases. The unrestricted enrollment opportunity is not available if a person remains eligible for coverage under a plan that replaces it without interruption of that person's coverage.

402 C) If permitted by state or federal law, as determined by ETF, an eligible EMPLOYEE may defer or dis-enroll from coverage for themselves or a DEPENDENT if he/she is covered under medical assistance (Medicaid) (see 1-5 below), the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), or TRICARE. A spouse may be dropped from family coverage if they are insured as an employee under an HDHP with a Health Savings Account (HSA) that does not permit other disqualifying health coverage, that is, coverage under this program that would pay out-of-pocket health care expenses before meeting the spouse's employer sponsored plan deductible. ETF must be provided a copy of the spouse's employer sponsored plan documentation from the HDHP and the HSA that says the spouse cannot have any other group health insurance in order to be eligible for his employer's plan. This may include the Certificate of Coverage for the HDHP and HSA information.

Termination may be retroactive to the effective date of the other coverage upon request by the subscriber. Family status changes under this provision remain subject to Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code. If the EMPLOYEE or DEPENDENT loses eligibility for that coverage or becomes eligible for a premium assistance subsidy for this program, the EMPLOYEE may elect coverage under this section by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 60 days of the loss of eligibility or the date it is determined the EMPLOYEE or DEPENDENT is eligible for premium assistance and by providing evidence satisfactory to ETF. For dis-enrollment due to CHIP or TRICARE, employee should provide proof of coverage.

For requested dis-enrollment due to Medicaid, the following must be provided for ETF review:

- (1) An explanation of why the SUBSCRIBER is requesting to drop the Medicaid enrolled DEPENDENT. If it is due to provider network and/or claim payment issues, that should be described in detail.
- (2) Documentation showing Medicaid coverage including effective dates, member number, monthly premium and plan coverage (for example BadgerCare).
- (3) A Health Insurance Application / Change form ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) requesting that the DEPENDENT's coverage be terminated.
- (4) An <u>Authorization to Disclose Medical Information (ET-7414)</u> that specifically authorized ETF to speak with Medicaid and/or Navitus. If a social worker is involved in the case, authorize ETF to speak with her/him and provide her/his contact information.
- (5) Note the child's relationship to the SUBSCRIBER, such as step-child or legal ward.

403 Enrollment Opportunities for Employees who Previously Declined or Canceled Coverage

403 A) EMPLOYEES who have declined coverage during a designated enrollment period can elect coverage either during the next health benefits open enrollment period for an effective date of January 1 of the following year or due to a qualifying life event. An EMPLOYEE who deferred coverage may enroll if he or she has a new DEPENDENT because of birth, adoption, placement for adoption or marriage, provided he or she submits an application within 60 days of the birth, adoption or placement for adoption, or within 30 days of the marriage. Coverage for this shall be effective on the date of termination of the prior plan or the date of the event. A quick reference guide is available in the It's Your Choice webpages, called the Life Events Guide.

Note: Afull month's premium is due for the month if coverage or change in coverage level is effective before the 16th of the month. Otherwise the new premium rate goes into effect the following month.

Under federal law and by this contract, the following constitute qualifying life events that permit employees who previously declined or canceled coverage to enroll in any health plan without limitations:

- (1) **Loss of Other Coverage:** Employees who declined coverage under the Group Health Insurance Program have an opportunity to enroll due to loss in the following circumstances:
 - (a) Coverage under another health insurance plan;
 - (b) Coverage under medical assistance (Medicaid);
 - (c) Coverage as a member of the US armed forces;
 - (d) Coverage as a citizen of a country with national/universal health-care coverage comparable to the Access Plan;
 - (e) Complete loss of employer contribution for another health insurance program.
 - (f) Divorce.
 - (g) End of COBRA coverage.

Those who lose eligibility for the other coverage or the employer's entire premium contribution for the other coverage, may take advantage of a 30-day enrollment period, beginning on the date the other health-insurance coverage terminates. This does not include voluntary cancellation of the other coverage. For example, non-payment of premiums, including for COBRA, is considered a voluntary loss of coverage.

A Health Insurance Application/Change Form ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually), or online application via myETF Benefits or the employer's benefit/payroll system submitted electronically to ETF, and other information documenting the loss of coverage or employer premium contribution must be received by the employer within 30 days of the date the other coverage or the employer premium contribution ended. If all documentation is not readily available, submit the application and other items within the 30-day window. Follow up as soon as possible with any additional, required documents. Coverage will be effective the first of the month following receipt of the application. Copies of the required documentation (described below) must be submitted to ETF for approval.

Note: The employee should complete and apply as soon as possible, even if they have not received the required documentation. Many times, the required documentation will be received outside of the 30-day enrollment window and the employee can secure the enrollment opportunity by submitting the application to the employer prior to receiving the required documentation.

Coverage is effective on the day following the last day of the other coverage if filed within 30 days of the event. For example, if coverage ended on May 13th with the other plan, coverage under the state plan would begin on May 14. If the notice of coverage loss is provided to the member late, coverage will be effective the first of the month following the date of notice.

Documentation that ETF requires includes the following items on letterhead from the previous insurer and/or the former employer where at least the insurer's document is dated and issued after termination of coverage. If separate parts of the information are provided from both the employer and the former insurer on different dates, (for example, your employee who lost coverage through his spouse provides a COBRA form from his spouse's former employer stating why coverage ended that is dated prior to the termination date, and the former insurer issues a letter after the termination date stating that coverage terminated on a preceding date), that assortment of documentation is acceptable.

The documentation on letterhead must include:

- (a) Who was covered (must list the name of the member who is requesting this special, late enrollment)
- (b) Name of Health Insurer
- (c) Subscriber name
- (d) Date coverage was terminated
- (e) Reason for the cancellation (that is voluntary such as due to non-payment of premium (including for COBRA) vs. involuntary such as being laid off, fired, expiration of COBRA or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage)

Note: This enrollment period is not available if the employee and/or their dependents remain eligible for coverage under a health insurance plan that replaces the other plan without an interruption in coverage.

- (2) Marriage/Birth/Adoption/Permanent Legal Guardianship/ National Medical Support Notice/Paternity/Legal Custody Change: Employees who declined coverage under the Group Health Insurance Program have an opportunity to enroll in single or family coverage if they have a new dependent as a result of marriage, birth, adoption or placement for adoption, placement for permanent legal guardianship (legal ward), a court ordered National Medical Support Notice, or paternity. If documentation is required and not readily available, the employee should submit the application to the employer before receiving the required documentation to secure the effective date of the enrollment opportunity.
 - (a) For marriage You must terminate other coverage on the date of marriage or after. Coverage is effective on the date of marriage if an application is received within 30 days of that event date.
 - (b) For birth, adoption, placement for adoption, granting of permanent legal guardianship—coverage is effective on the date of birth, adoption, placement for adoption, or when permanent legal guardianship is granted if an application is received within 60 days of that event date.
 - (c) For paternity acknowledgement—coverage is effective on the first of the month following receipt of the application or if within 60 days of birth, retroactive to date of birth.
 - (d) For National Medical Support Notice—coverage is effective on the first of the month following the receipt of the application by the employer or the date specified on the Medical Support Notice. The application should be received within 30 days of the court ordered support notice.
 - (e) For legal custody change (joint, full or transfer) coverage is effective on the date of the event if an application is received, or online enrollment performed within 30 days of the event.
- (3) Increase in hours for LTEs and less than half-time employees: LTEs and less than half-time employees who initially decline health insurance coverage have a new enrollment opportunity each time their hours increase to half-time or more. These employees may enroll in any plan without restriction and have 30 days from the date the employer contribution increases to file online via myETF Benefits, the employer's benefit enrollment system or submit a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* to the employer. Coverage is effective the first of the month following the employer's receipt of the application.

Example:

- Jamaal works in a 40% FTE WRS-eligible position. He declined to enroll in health insurance because he thought the premium was rather expensive, which was due to his employer only paying 50% of the premium. Jamaal's position will be increasing to a 100% FTE position.
- This change in FTE from less than-half-time to half-time or more creates an enrollment opportunity for Jamaal, and—because the position is now half-time or more—he will be eligible for the full employer premium contribution.
- Because his health insurance premium is now more affordable with the full employer premium contribution, Jamaal enrolls in health insurance.
- (4) Current employee becomes a graduate assistant or employee-in-training at the University of Wisconsin employer: Under Wis. Stat. § 40.52 (3), University of Wisconsin graduate assistants, employees-in-training, short-term academic staff, fellows and scholars are eligible for health insurance under this program. A new employee can apply for coverage by submitting a completed application to

their employer within 30 days of their date of hire requesting coverage to be effective immediately upon the first of the month on or after their employer's receipt of their application. A graduate assistant is eligible for the employer contribution toward the premium upon hire.

- (a) If this is not the graduate assistant's first eligible appointment, they may still be eligible for the "initial" 30-day enrollment period if they had a 30-day employment break between appointments.
- (b) If an employee enrolled undergraduate assistant coverage becomes eligible for and enrolled in any WRS position with any state agency or local employer, they cannot be enrolled under graduate assistant coverage or retain graduate assistant coverage (§ 40.22 (4), Wis. Stat.).
- (c) **Example:**
 - Becca works in a 40% FTE WRS-eligible position. She declined to enroll in health insurance because she thought the premium was rather expensive, which was due to her employer only paying 50% of the premium.
 - Becca is also going to school to get her master's degree, and she was recently offered a position as a graduate assistant. This new position creates an enrollment opportunity for Becca, but she must quit her current 40% position to be eligible for the full employer premium contribution in that the graduate assistant position.
 - Because her graduate assistant health insurance premium is now more affordable with the full employer premium contribution, Becca quits her 40% WRS-eligible position and enrolls in health insurance.
 - Or, Becca does not quit her WRS-eligible job, accepts the graduate assistant job, and is not able to take health insurance in either position until open enrollment, when she could enroll under the WRS-eligible position.
- (5) Eligible adult child loses other coverage: A SUBSCRIBER who does not request coverage for an adult child when first eligible under Wis. Stat. § 632.885, will thereafter be limited to enrolling the child when the child becomes newly eligible due to the loss of eligibility for other coverage or the loss of EMPLOYER contribution for the other coverage. The SUBSCRIBER can add the DEPENDENT by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 30 days after the event and coverage for the DEPENDENT will be effective on the event date. If notice of loss of coverage is not timely, the SUBSCRIBER can add the DEPENDENT by filing an application with the EMPLOYER by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 30 days after receipt of the notice and coverage for the DEPENDENT will be effective on the first of the month following receipt of the application. This paragraph does not prevent a SUBSCRIBER from adding the eligible DEPENDENT during the IT'S YOUR-CHOICE open enrollment period for coverage effective the following January 1.
- (6) Escrow Sick Leave: If an employee who deferred coverage wants to preserve sick leave credits for later use, they must enroll in the ACCESS Plan (non-HDHP) 30 days prior to retirement. After one month of employee coverage, they may cancel and escrow their sick leave credits or they may continue this coverage. If an employee wants to retire as of April 15, they need to be insured as an employee in the non-HDHP Access Plan as of April first, then their retiree coverage would begin as of May first. The application must be submitted no later than the first day coverage would be effective.
- (7) Leave of Absence: Any insured EMPLOYEE for whom coverage lapses, or who allows family coverage to lapse during the leave of absence but continues individual coverage, as a result of non-payment of PREMIUM may reinstate coverage by filing an application with the EMPLOYER
within 30 days after the return to work. Coverage is effective the 1st day of the month on or after the date the EMPLOYER receives the application. The EMPLOYEE becomes eligible for the EMPLOYER contribution toward PREMIUM for the coverage month the leave of absence ends. Also, see section 701.

404 Applying for Coverage

Employer Responsibilities:

404 A) Verify the employee's eligibility for group health insurance coverage (refer to subchapter 301.) See Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements ET-2846.

404 B) Provide the employee with the annual *Health Benefits Decision Guide and the Health Insurance Application/Change Form* (ET-2301). The annual *Health Benefits* Decision Guides, available on the ETF website and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what' changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year. Inform the employee of the deadline for submitting the application. Employees may also submit their application online via myETF Benefits or their employer's payroll/benefit system within the same timeframe.

Employees should complete the application following the instructions included with the *Health Insurance Application/Change Form*. Each eligible employee must submit an application (paper or online) to the employer even if declining coverage (currently must submit paper form if declining coverage). It is important that there is written documentation indicating the employee declined coverage; employers should retain such documentation. UW staff using ebenefits to decline coverage need not complete this step.

(1) If employees are enrolling using the paper *Health Insurance Application/ChangeForm*, direct employees to the ETF website at <u>etf.wi.gov</u>.

(2) If employees are enrolling online via myETF Benefits, direct employees to the ETF website at <u>etf.wi.gov</u>. <u>Click on the Members tab</u>, then select the myETF Benefits for <u>Members link</u>. The employee will need to have their Member ID (which the employer will need to share with the employee) and follow the steps outlined in the Instructions.

404 C) After the employee submits their application (paper, the employer's benefit enrollment system or online via myETF Benefits) the employer will review:

- (1) If submitted via myETF Benefits, the employer will go to myETF Benefits, myMembers/ myMembers Requests, review and approve the update(s) submitted by the employee under Request Status: Pending.
- (2) If submitted via Health Insurance Application/Change Form ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually), the employer must review the completed form before approving the application by completing the Employer Section as follows. Note: the employee must sign the application. Failure to provide a signature is an incomplete application and will be rejected.
 - (a) Employer Identification Number (EIN)—The EIN given to employers, beginning with 69-036. Enter the last seven digits of the number (e.g., 69-036-0001-101).
 - (b) Name of Employer
 - (c) Payroll Representative E-mail

- (d) Five-digit Group Number—The five-digit number assigned to state agencies (e.g., 84535)
- (e) Employee Type—Enter the appropriate code (refer to Appendix B).
- (f) Coverage Type Code—Coverage code identifying single or family coverage (refer to Appendix B).
- (g) Health Plan Name or Suffix—The full name or two-digit code identifying the health plan.
- (h) Business Unit (if applicable)—For Central Payroll / Benefits
- (i) Employment Status—Is the employee full-time, part-time, or LTE.
- (j) Employee Deductions—Are the employee's health insurance premiums deducted pre-tax or post-tax.
- (k) Previous Service—Complete Information—Check the appropriate response for each question.
- (I) Hire Date or WRS Eligible Employment or Graduate AssistantAppointment Began or Hire Date—The month, day and year the employee began WRS (or grad assistant) employment with the employer. For rehired employees, enter the rehire date.
- (m) Employer Received Date—The date the employer received the completed application. It is important that this date be accurate to determine if the application was received timely.
- (n) Event Date—The date the event took place (e.g., marriage date, birth date, loss of coverage date, etc.).
- (o) Prospective Date of Coverage—The month, day and year the coverage should be effective.
- (p) WRS Participating Employer (if applicable) Local only
- (q) Previous Service Check
- (r) Source of Previous Service Check
- (s) Did Employee Participate in WRS Prior to be Hired by You
- (t) Payroll Representative Signature/Phone Number/Date Signed The signature acknowledges the date the employer received the application and that an audit of the application has been completed and the phone number of that representative.
- (3) Upon completion of the Employer Section, make copies of the application:
 - (a) Employer Copy—retain original for your records.
 - (b) Employee Copy—return a copy to the employee.
 - (c) ETF Copy—if requested, submit with copies of any required documentation (e.g., contract in "Waiting for ETF Approval" status).

405 Primary Care Provider or Primary Care Clinic

In the event a SUBSCRIBER files an application during a prescribed enrollment period listing a plan and a primary physician, clinic or care system that is not available in the plan selected, the HEALTH PLAN shall immediately notify the EMPLOYER. The SUBSCRIBER shall be allowed to correct the plan selected to one which has that physician or clinic available or to change physician or clinic selected, upon notice to the EMPLOYER that the error occurred. The application shall be effective the later of first of the month following receipt of the application or the EFFECTIVE DATE of the original application. The HEALTH PLAN may not simply reassign a primary physician or clinic.

406 Insurance Cards

Subscribers will receive an ID card from the health plan for use in obtaining medical services and a separate ID card from the pharmacy benefit manager (PBM) for use in filling prescriptions. (Refer to subchapter 207 for further information about the PBM). Member identification numbers are different on each card. The eight-digit ID number appearing on the pharmacy ID card is the employee's myETF Benefits member ID.

Applications should be submitted/entered at least one month prior to the coverage effective date, whenever possible, to allow sufficient time for the health plan and the PBM to issue the ID cards to the subscriber prior to the effective date.

Subscribers can contact the health plan and the PBM directly to request additional ID cards. Phone numbers for the health plans and the PBM are listed in the online *It's Your Choice* materials under the *Resources* tab at <u>etf.wi.gov</u>.

Subscribers can contact the health plan directly to change the physician or clinic.

Chapter 5 – Changing Coverage

- 501 Status Changes
- 502 Changing Plans Due to a Residential Move
- 503 Changing Health Plans
- 504 Changing from Single to Family Coverage
- 505 Changing from Family to Single Coverage
- 506 Adding Dependents
- 507 <u>Removing Dependents</u>
- 508 <u>Considerations When Both Spouses Are Employed by the State,</u> the University of WI, or One or Both Are Annuitants
- 509 <u>Considerations When One Spouse is Employed by a Local Employer in</u> the WPE Group Health Insurance Program or Other Non-State Employer

501 Life Event Changes

501 A) There may be opportunities during the course of a year which allow employees to change coverage outside the initial enrollment opportunity. If there is a status change within the limitations imposed by this contract and statute, the employee may be able to change health plans, add dependents, remove dependents, or change from single to family coverage or family to single coverage.

Status change opportunities are provided via the It's Your Choice webpages on the Life Events Guide include:

- (1) Move from service area (change health plan only).
- (2) Birth, adoption or placement for adoption.
- (3) Marriage (opposite or same sex).
- (4) Establishment of a permanent legal guardianship.
- (5) National Medical Support Notice (NMSN) or paternity acknowledgment.
- (6) Loss of other coverage for employee or dependents.
- (7) Divorce.
- (8) Spouse to spouse transfer.
- (9) Disability of dependent.
- (10) Health benefits open enrollment period.
- (11) legal custody change

These status changes are explained and their limitations clarified in the following sections.

501 B) The difference in PREMIUM between individual and family coverage for that month shall be due only if the change is effective before the 16th of the month. ANNUITANTS and CONTINUANTS for whom the

EMPLOYER makes no contributions toward PREMIUM shall submit the application to ETF.

501 C) Changing the participant's gender of record in myETF Benefits requires the participant to submit a copy of the *Address/Name/Gender Change* form (ET-2815) to the employer or ETF. The member must submit the request for any dependent under the age of 18. ETF systems are currently only able to accept male and female for gender. ETF is typically able to process requests within 30 days of receipt.

Document Submittal Instructions: The participant may submit the ET-2815 as follows.

a. Active employees:

- i. Submit the document to human resources or benefits person at work. The employer will submit the information to ETF for processing.
- ii. ETF may reach out to the employer to report the active employee gender change if the ET-2815 is received at ETF without indication that the employer has updated their own records.

b. Active employees' dependents:

- i. Submit the document to human resources or benefits person at work. The employer will submit the information to ETF for processing; or
- ii. Submit the documents directly to ETF following the instructions for retirees below.
- c. Retirees and dependents: Submit the document directly to ETF using one of the methods below. or :
 - i. Securely via Box through ETF's website
 - ii. U.S. Postal Service: WI Dept of ETF, P.O. Box 7931, Madison WI 53707-7931
 - iii. In Person: WI Dept of ETF, 4822 Madison Yards Way, Madison, WI 53705-9100
 - iv. Fax to 608-267-4549

502 Changing Plans Due to a Residential Move

When a SUBSCRIBER moves for a minimum of three months, they have an enrollment opportunity to change health plans, even if their current plan remains available in the county to which the SUBSCRIBER moved. (A move from one medical facility to another medical facility is not considered a residential move.) The relocating SUBSCRIBER must go online to myETF Benefits and submit a request to change health plans or submit a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to their employer (ETF for annuitants) within 30 days before or after the move. If the employee moved to a state that does not border Wisconsin, they should select the Access Plan. Coverage will be effective with the new plan the first of the month on or after either the submission of the electronic change by the employee in myETF Benefits or the receipt of the *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* by the employer.

If the application to change plans is not received within 30 days before or after the move, the SUBSCRIBER cannot change health plans until the annual health benefits open enrollment period or until they experience another qualifying life event as outlined later in this Chapter.

A SUBSCRIBER not wishing to change plans due to the move may continue with their current plan. They should be aware they may have to drive to the former location in order to have providers that are in-network. The SUBSCRIBER should still go online to myETF Benefits or their employer's payroll/benefit system and update their address or submit a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* to their employer within 30 days before or after the move.

503 Changing Health Plans

503 A) The following SUBSCRIBERS may change HEALTH PLANS after the event if an application is submitted within 30 days of the event. Coverage with the new HEALTH PLAN will be effective the first day of the calendar month, on or after the date the EMPLOYER receives the application. Also see 401D. An insured EMPLOYEE, ANNUITANT or CONTINUANT who is:

- 1. Adding one or more DEPENDENTS to the policy due to marriage, birth, adoption, placement for adoption, National Medical Support Notice, establishment of paternity, guardianship or legal custody change
- 2. Dropping one or more DEPENDENTS from a policy due to a divorce
- 3. Having an involuntary loss of other coverage (for example being laid off, fired, or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage) or complete loss of EMPLOYER contribution for the other coverage (including loss of a dependent's coverage or employer contribution toward other coverage)
- 4. A less than half time status EMPLOYEE who gains more EMPLOYER PREMIUM contribution toward their coverage.
- 5. An EMPLOYEE loses a significant share of EMPLOYER contribution toward their coverage (e.g. full time to less than half time).
- 6. For ANNUITANTS only: obtaining Medicare Part A and/or B coverage. Also see 503B.

503 B) Retirees (existing or new) or their DEPENDENTS enroll in Medicare

1. When a member on a retiree contract becomes enrolled in Medicare, the SUBSCRIBER may change health plans if an application is submitted within 30 days of the Medicare effective date (it may be up to 3 months in advance). Coverage in the new plan begins the first of the month following the date the SUBSCRIBER's application is received by ETF (but no earlier than Medicare's effective date).

For example, the member's Medicare is effective October 1, but the SUBSCRIBER does not submit the request to change health plans until October 5. The effective date for their selected plan, in this case Medicare Advantage, will be November 1. For the month of October, the member(s) will remain in their current plan. Their benefits will change to Medicare coordinated coverage for October. They will get ID cards for this coverage from their current plan. **Note:** To be permitted the October 1st enrollment date, a paper Health Insurance Application/Change for Retirees (ET-2331) must be submitted to ETF prior to the effective date. Once Benefitplace is operational, if the member cannot electronically submit an application in September, they should submit a paper application that month or earlier in order to have an October 1 plan change.

- 2. When an employee terminates employment and begins their coverage as an ANNUITANT, and they and/or their DEPENDENT(s) are age 65 or older, the following may happen as long as the member(s) eligible for Medicare enroll in Parts A and B to be effective the first of the month following their termination of employment:
 - a. The member(s) will remain with their current health plan but under Medicare coordinated coverage.
 - b. The SUBSCRIBER may change health plans when they or a family member newly enroll in Medicare. Coverage in the new plan begins the first of the month following the date the SUBSCRIBER's application is received by ETF (but no earlier than Medicare's effective date).

For example, the member's Medicare is effective October 1, but the SUBSCRIBER does not submit the request to change health plans until October 5. The effective date, in this case Medicare Advantage, will be November 1. For the month of October, the member(s) will remain in their current plan. Their benefits will change to Medicare coordinated coverage for October. They will get ID cards for this coverage from their current plan. **Note**: To be permitted the October 1st enrollment date, a paper Health Insurance Application/Change for Retirees (ET-

2331) must be submitted to ETF prior to the effective date. Once Benefitplace is operational, if the member cannot electronically submit an application in September, they should submit a paper application that month or earlier in order to have an October 1 plan change.

504 Changing from Single to Family Coverage

Documentation Guidelines: ETF has the responsibility to provide information as needed for federal, state and/or contractual requirements. The employer must exercise the same level of due diligence. The employer/employee relationship is the most effective way to gather the needed information. The employer should document their attempts in requesting the required information.

One example is that the law requires SSNs to be reported on federal form 1095-B. Your health insurance company provides federal form 1095-B to your employees and to the Internal Revenue Service. The information from the form will be used by employees to prepare their individual income tax return. As necessary, ETF or the health plan will reach out to verify Social Security numbers of members.

A Social Security number or Individual Taxpayer Identification Number (ITIN) is required for any dependent over the age of one for tax purposes. If the dependent does not have an SSN or ITIN, an employer developed affidavit should be completed by the member or parent and submitted to the employer.

Another example is if adding children and documentation such as a birth certificate is not on file for previously covered dependents, it will be requested and must be provided.

504 A) An EMPLOYEE can change from single to family coverage in several situations outside of the annual health benefits open enrollment period.

The following are qualifying HIPAA events or are otherwise permissible life events:

- (1) Birth.
- (2) Adoption.
- (3) Placement for adoption.
- (4) Marriage.
- (5) Receives a National Medical Support Notice or paternity acknowledgment.
- (6) Transfer or change of custody
- (7) Establishes a permanent legal guardianship.
- (8) Involuntary loss of other coverage.
- (9) Loss of entire employer contribution, (Note: layoff is not a reason to change from single to family coverage as your employer contribution continues as described in sections 1204, 1205 or 1206.)
- (10) Has a previously covered dependent older than age 26 who is newly disabled.
- (11)In accordance with Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (2), an EMPLOYEE who enrolls for single coverage within 30 days following the date of hire, may change to family coverage during the enrollment period offered as a result of becoming eligible for EMPLOYER contribution toward PREMIUM.
- (12)A less than half time status EMPLOYEE enrolled in single coverage who gains more EMPLOYER PREMIUM contribution may change to family coverage within 30 days following the increase in employer contribution.

The SUBSCRIBER must either go online to myETF Benefits or their employer's payroll/benefit system and add the new dependent(s) for the appropriate reason from the drop-down listing or submit a *Health Insurance Application/ Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to the employer. Several of the above events also allow the employee to change health plans under Internal Revenue Code Section 125.

504 B) The following guidelines describe the restrictions placed on the enrollment for these events and the conditions under which they may be restricted as follows.

1) **Marriage:** Online enrollment or application must be submitted within 30 days from the event date. An employee with single coverage may change to family coverage provided the application is received within 30 days of the marriage.

Upon marriage between parties who are both employed by or retired from the state (including the University of Wisconsin) or a participating Wisconsin Public Employer, both may retain or select single coverage (no plan change is allowed) or one may retain or select family coverage under one of their current plans that will cover the other spouse and any eligible dependents. Double coverage of an individual in either or both the state and local group health insurance program is not permitted.

Cancellation of single coverage and the change to family coverage can be coordinated provided one of the applications is received timely. If the application to cancel the single coverage and/or the application to change to family coverage is not received timely, the change to family can only occur during the annual health benefits open enrollment period.

The SUBSCRIBER also has the opportunity to change health plans within 30 days of the marriage, provided their application is submitted within those 30 days. The change in health plan will be effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application to change health plans or the electronic submission of the request to change health plans.

2) Birth, Adoption or Placement for Adoption, or Establishment of Permanent Legal Guardianship: An application or online enrollment must be submitted within 60 days after the event.

If the application is received after 60 days, contact the Employer Services Section. Generally, a SUBSCRIBER with single coverage must submit the application to add a dependent and change to family coverage within a 60-day time frame to be effective on the event date. If an application is not submitted within this time frame, the SUBSCRIBER cannot change to family coverage until the annual health benefits open enrollment period unless another qualifying life event occurs in the interim.

Note: An application or online enrollment must be completed in a timely manner.

Effective January 1, 2022, if the subscriber is single (including divorced), documentation supporting the birth and any newly added dependents is required as outlined in the Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online. This applies even if the subscriber had previously insured the dependent(s). For single mothers, this documentation is generally a birth certificate and will be required for any children. For single fathers, this documentation is generally a paternity acknowledgement or birth certificate. Documentation for single fathers has been required for many years. Note that single fathers may be required to provide documentation of dependent status for children covered upon request from ETF to the employer.

Documentation supporting the adoption, placement for adoption, the establishment of permanent legal guardianship is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events* and *Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* available on the ETF website.

The SUBSCRIBER has the opportunity to change health plans within 30 days of birth, adoption or placement for adoption (not establishment of permanent legal guardianship), provided the application to do so is submitted within the 30-day time frame. The change in health plan will be effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application or electronic submission of the request to change health plans.

3) **Involuntary Loss of Coverage or Complete Loss of Employer Contribution:** Application must be received within 30 days before or after a dependent has an involuntary loss of other coverage (such as being laid off, fired, expiration of COBRA or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage) or completely loses employer contribution for the other coverage. If the SUBSCRIBER'S dependent(s) lost other coverage or lost the entire employer contribution toward their coverage, the SUBSCRIBER may change from single to family coverage within the specified time frame.

Documentation supporting the loss of coverage or employer contribution is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* available on the ETF website.

ETF requires documentation including the following items on letterhead from the previous insurer and/or the former employer dated and issued before or after termination of coverage. If separate parts of the information are provided from both the employer and the former insurer on different dates, (for example, your employee who lost coverage through his spouse provides a COBRA form from his spouse's former employer stating why coverage ended that is dated prior to the termination date, and the former insurer issues a letter after the termination date stating that coverage terminated on a preceding date), that assortment of documentation is acceptable.

The documentation on letterhead must include:

- a) Who was covered (must list the name of the member who is requesting this special, late enrollment)
- b) Name of Health Insurer
- c) Subscriber name
- d) Date coverage was terminated
- e) Reason for the cancellation (that is voluntary such as due to non-payment of premium (including for COBRA) vs. involuntary such as being laid off, fired, expiration of COBRA or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage)

Note: The employee should complete and apply as soon as possible, even if they have not received the required documentation. Many times, the required documentation will be received outside of the 30-day enrollment window and the employee can secure the enrollment opportunity by submitting the application to the employer prior to receiving the required documentation.

4) **Paternity Acknowledgment:** When an acknowledgment of paternity is filed within 60 days of the birth, and an application is received or online enrollment performed within the 60-day time frame, family coverage is effective on the date of birth. Beyond the 60-day time frame, coverage is effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application.

Documentation supporting the paternity acknowledgment is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* available on the ETF website.

5) **National Medical Support Notice (NMSN):** NMSN occurs when a court orders the parent in question to provide coverage for their child(ren). Coverage is effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application **or** the date specified on the NMSN, if one is specified.

If the employee is eligible, the employer is required to enroll the child or children as instructed in the notice. However, the employer must adhere to limitations imposed on withholding as mandated by withholding laws of the state where the employee is principally employed.

In addition to the NMSN (serving as required documentation), the employee must also file a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) or enroll online through myETF or their employer's payroll/benefit system to add the children named in the order to coverage. See 506 E for details.

6) Legal Custody Change: When a court order lists custody either full, joint or a transfer, coverage for the dependent(s) will be effective on the date of the event if an application is received or online enrollment performed within 30 days of the event.

Documentation supporting the custody change is required as outlined in the Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online.

7) Disabled Dependent (child age 26 or older): Coverage is effective the date the health plan approves the dependent's disabled status.

The SUBSCRIBER must submit an application or an electronic request which ETF will forward to the health plan to have them complete their disability review process. When the health plan has reviewed the child's disability status, ETF will update the coverage accordingly.

Documentation to support the disability is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online.*

505 Changing from Family to Single Coverage

An employee can change from family to single coverage in several situations outside of the annual health benefits open enrollment period, provided they have experienced a family status change/event that allows the change under the plan or they have experienced a HIPAA qualifying life event. An employee can change from family to single coverage if their premiums are deducted pre-tax and they experience a HIPAA qualifying life event or a status change such as a divorce, their last dependent becomes ineligible for other coverage, all dependents become eligible for and enroll in other coverage, or their last eligible dependent becomes eligible for and enrolls in other coverage. If an employee's premiums are deducted post-tax or they are an annuitant, they may change to single coverage at any

time. See subsection 508 for more information.

The SUBSCRIBER must either go online to myETF Benefits or their employer's payroll/benefit system to remove their dependent(s) using the "change family to single coverage" reason from the drop-down listing or submit a *Health Insurance Application/ Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to their employer (annuitants to ETF).

The following guidelines describe the restrictions placed on the enrollment for these various events and the conditions under which they may be restricted.

505 A) Divorce: Employees are required under the Patient Rights and Responsibilities section of the *It's Your Choice* materials, to promptly notify their employer of a divorce in order to properly terminate coverage and offer COBRA continuation to the former spouse. (Retirees should notify ETF.) Claims paid for ineligible dependents may become the responsibility of the employee or retiree.

The employee or retiree must submit an application within 30 days of the divorce and single coverage is effective the later of the first of the month:

- in which the employer provides notification of continuation rights (*Continuation Conversion Notice* [<u>ET-2311</u>]). (Refer also to subchapter 903.)
- or
- (2) in which the date of entry of judgment of divorce is entered/final with the clerk of courts.

In the event of a divorce in conjunction with a change to single coverage, ETF does not require the submission of a <u>Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311)</u> form but one must be provided to any dependents.

Documentation to support the divorce may be required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online*. The SUBSCRIBER, as well as the exspouse, has the opportunity to change health plans within 30 days of divorce provided their application is submitted within the 30-day time frame. The change in health plan will be effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application to change health plans or the electronic submission of the request to change health plans.

If ETF receives a Domestic Relations Order (DRO or QDRO) for an employee and does not have a Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form on file for the ex-spouse, ETF will reach out to the employer by email and ask the employer to remove the ex-spouse and any dependents (if applicable) from the contract and provide ETF a copy of the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form that was sent to them within 5 business days. If ETF does not received the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form within 5 business days, ETF will remove the ex-spouse and any dependents (if applicable) from the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form the contract and issue the Continuation/Conversion Notice (ET-2311) form.

Note: If a SUBSCRIBER would like to enroll a new spouse that is different from the previous spouse, the new spouse must wait six months from the date of divorce before being eligible for coverage.

505 B) Last Dependent Becomes Ineligible for Coverage: This occurs when the last covered dependent reaches age 26, if not disabled. The employee should notify the employer within 60 days of the dependent losing eligibility. ETF automatically terminates the aging out dependent's coverage 90 days prior to the last of the month in which they turn 26.

If the employee does not notify the employer of the dependent's loss of eligibility within 60 days, or the employer does not utilize the 'Dependent Inquiry' available under 'Enrollment Reports' to track aging

out dependents, there are invoice consequences. The employer will be limited to two months of premium refund paid prior to the current month of coverage for the difference between family and single coverage (refer to section 212).

Example: Dependent ages out February 23; employer is not notified or does not check the report until July 14; employer invoice can only be refunded for May, June, and July. The change to single coverage will be retroactive to the end of the month the last dependent lost eligibility. In the example, single coverage will be effective March 1.

Under federal law, if notification of the loss of eligibility is not reported to the employer within 60 days of the event that caused the loss of eligibility, or the date the coverage ended, the right to Continuation/Conversion Coverage (COBRA) is lost.

505 C) All Dependents or Last Eligible Dependent Become(s) Eligible for and Enroll(s) in Other Coverage: This occurs when the employee's dependents all enroll in other group coverage, such as insurance through a spouse's employer, or their last dependent becomes eligible for other coverage. The application to change to single coverage must be submitted within 30 days of the date the dependent(s) enrolled in other coverage. If the application is not received within 30 days, the employee is limited to the annual health benefits open enrollment period to remove these dependents. The new coverage will be effective the first of the month after the application is received.

Documentation to support the eligibility for the other coverage is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events* and *Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* online.

505 D) Employee's appointment changes from full time to less than half time resulting in significant change in employer contribution:

An employee whose appointment is changing from full time to less than half time may change from family to single coverage. The Health Insurance Application or electronic enrollment request must be submitted no later than 30 days following the appointment change. Coverage will be effective the first of the month following date of position change (unless change date is the first of the month, then coverage is effective the first of the month).

506 Adding Dependents

Dependents can be added to an existing family contract outside the annual health benefits open enrollment period for the following reasons. Several of these events also allow the employee to change health plans under Internal Revenue Code Section 125. A Social Security number or Individual Taxpayer Identification Number (ITIN) is required for any dependent over the age of one for tax purposes. If the dependent does not have an SSN or ITIN, an employer developed affidavit should be completed by the member or parent and submitted to the employer.

If adding children and documentation such as a birth certificate is not on file for previously covered dependents, it will be requested and must be provided.

506 A) Marriage: When family coverage is already in place, the application to add a spouse and dependent children must be received within 30 days of the date of marriage, coverage for the new dependents will be effective on the event date. If the application was not received within 30 days and the marriage was not reported, but family coverage was in place, the spouse and any of their minor children will be added upon notice to ETF. Coverage will be effective the first of the month following receipt by the employer. Refer to "Eligible Dependent Left Off Original Application" below for exceptions.

The SUBSCRIBER also has the opportunity to change health plans within 30 days of the marriage, provided the application to do so is submitted within the 30-day time frame. The change in health plan will be effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application or electronic submission of the request to change health plans.

506 B) Birth or Adoption/Placement for Adoption / Establishment of Permanent Legal Guardianship: If family coverage is already in place, the application to add the child(ren) or ward(s) must be received within 60 days after the event. If the application is received after 60 days, contact the Employer Services Section.

Coverage will be effective the date of the event. If an application is not submitted within this time frame, generally the employee cannot change from single to family coverage until the annual health benefits open enrollment period unless they have another qualifying life event occur and submit the application or online enrollment in a timely manner. Refer to "Eligible Dependent Left Off Original Application" below for exceptions.

Documentation to support the adoption or placement for adoption or the establishment of permanent legal guardianship is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* available on the ETF website.

Effective January 1, 2022, if the subscriber is single (including divorced), documentation supporting the birth is required. This applies even if the subscriber had previously insured the dependent(s). For single mothers, this documentation is generally a birth certificate and will be required for any children. For single fathers, this documentation is generally a paternity acknowledgement or birth certificate. Documentation for single fathers has been required for many years. Note that single fathers may be required to provide documentation of dependent status for children covered upon request from ETF to the employer.

The SUBSCRIBER also has the opportunity to change health plans within 30 days of birth, adoption, or placement for adoption (not establishment of legal guardianship), provided the application to do so is submitted within those 30 days. The change in health plan will be effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application to change health plans or the electronic submission of the request to change health plans.

For employees who terminate after taking incomplete action to add a child (lacking a birth certificate or other required documentation), the former employee will have 90 days to submit the documentation or the change to add the child will be deleted and coverage will not be effective.

506 C) Dependent Involuntary Loss of Other Coverage or Complete Loss of Employer Contribution: If family coverage is in place, an application must be received within 30 days before or after a dependent has an involuntary loss of other coverage (such as being laid off, fired, expiration of COBRA or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage or after divorce, dependents who were insured as step-children by the former spouse) or completely loses employer contribution. Because an employee's dependent(s) lost other coverage or the entire employer contribution toward coverage, the employee may add their dependent to the existing family coverage within the specified time frame.

If an application is not submitted within this time frame, the employee cannot change to family coverage until the annual health benefits open enrollment period unless another qualifying life event occurs in the interim. Refer to "Eligible Dependent Left Off Original Application" below for exceptions.

Documentation supporting the loss of coverage or employer contribution is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online*. ETF requires documentation including the following items on letterhead from the previous insurer and/or the former employer where at

least the insurer's document is dated and issued after termination of coverage. If separate parts of the information are provided from both the employer and the former insurer on different dates, (for example, your employee who lost coverage through his spouse provides a COBRA form from his spouse's former employer stating why coverage ended that is dated prior to the termination date, and the former insurer issues a letter after the termination date stating that coverage terminated on a preceding date), that assortment of documentation is acceptable. The documentation on letterhead must include:

- (1) Who was covered (must list the name of the member who is requesting this special, late enrollment)
- (2) Name of Health Insurer
- (3) Subscriber name
- (4) Date coverage was terminated
- (5) Reason for the cancellation (that is voluntary such as due to non-payment of premium (including for COBRA) vs. involuntary such as being laid off, fired, expiration of COBRA or someone who quit and isn't eligible to keep group coverage)

506 D) Paternity Acknowledgment: If family coverage is already in place, coverage for the dependent(s) will be effective on the date of birth if an acknowledgment of paternity is filed and an application is received or online enrollment performed within 60 days of the birth. If more than 60 days have elapsed, coverage will be effective on the first of the month on or after receipt of the application.

Documentation supporting the paternity acknowledgment is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events* and *Documentation Requirements (ET-2846)* online.

506 E) National Medical Support Notice (NMSN): The NMSN is a federal requirement used to enforce medical support orders for minor children. It is to be used throughout the United States to enroll children in employment related health insurance coverage. NMSN occurs when a court orders the parent in question to provide coverage for their child(ren). Coverage is effective the first of the month on or after receipt of the application or the date specified on the NMSN, if one is specified.

The NMSN is a qualified medical child support order; therefore, the employee does not have a choice to not enroll children named in the NMSN. If health care coverage is available and the employee is eligible, the employer is required to enroll the child or children as instructed in the notice. However, the employer must adhere to limitations imposed on withholding as mandated by withholding laws of the state where the employee is principally employed. This is described in the following paragraph.

The employee is required to enroll their eligible children named in the NSMN in any medical insurance the employer has available for them. When the employer gets the NMSN, they will have to determine whether the amount of the employee's child support order and the amount of the medical insurance premium, added together, will be more than the percent they are allowed to withhold from the employee's paycheck under the federal Consumer Credit Protection Act. If the insurance and child support together equal more than this amount, the employer will not enroll the employee's child(ren) in medical insurance.

Employers should make a copy of PART A of the NSMN (two pages), keep the original for your files and return the copy to the Issuing Agency with the response page completed.

If an employee chooses to object, the employee must contact the issuing local child support agency as instructed in the NMSN he/she received. The employer must still comply with the NMSN regardless of whether an objection has been made by the employee. In addition to the NMSN (serving as required documentation), the employee must also file a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to add the children named in the order to coverage.

The employer must file an application on behalf of the employee if the employee fails to comply with the NMSN. If the employee refuses to sign the application, the employer must indicate that on the application.

506 F) Legal Custody Change If family coverage is already in place, coverage for the dependent(s) will be effective on the date of the event if an application is received or online enrollment performed within 30 days of the event.

Documentation supporting the custody change is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online.*

506 G) Disabled Dependent (child age 26 or older): If family coverage is already in place, coverage is effective the date the health plan approves the dependent's disabled status.

The SUBSCRIBER must submit an application or electronic request which ETF will forward to the health plan to have them complete their disability review process. When the health plan has reviewed the child's disability status, ETF will update the coverage accordingly.

506 H) Eligible Dependent Left Off Original Application: If family coverage is already in place, spouses and minor children who were left off the original application can be added to coverage prospectively if the following requirements are fulfilled in compliance with this contract and statute.

The relevant contract and statutory provisions follow:

Any DEPENDENT eligible for BENEFITS who is not listed on an application for coverage will be provided BENEFITS based on the date of notification with coverage effective the first of the month following receipt of the subsequent application by the EMPLOYER, except as required under Wis. Stat. § § 632.895 (5) and 632.896 and as specified in 403 A 4.

506 I) Coverage Beyond Age 26 and Not Disabled: A dependent who was a full-time, post-secondary student younger than age 26 at the time they were called to active duty with the military, can continue health coverage provided they apply to an institution of higher education as a full-time student within 12 months of the date they are discharged from active duty.

Documentation to support this status is required and would include a copy of the class schedule prior to deployment, a copy of their discharge papers (DD-214), and a copy of their current class schedule.

507 Removing Dependents

Dependents can be removed from family coverage for a limited number of reasons outside the annual health benefits open enrollment period. These include the following reasons:

507 A) Divorce: Upon divorce, either a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) or an electronic enrollment request must be processed before the ex-spouse or any stepchildren can be removed from coverage. Ideally this should be submitted within 30 days of the date the judgment of divorce is entered/final with the clerk of courts.

In the event the employee reports the divorce beyond 30 days of it being finalized, the ex-spouse will be removed prospectively. Coverage for the ex-spouse and any stepchildren will not end until the end of the

month of the divorce **or** the end of the month the COBRA *Continuation-Conversion Notice* (<u>ET-2311</u>) was provided to the former dependents, whichever is later.

Documentation to support the coverage end date due to divorce may be required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online*.

507 B) Death of Dependent: In the event of a dependent death, a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* or report of the death online must be submitted. There is no limitation on how long the employee must report the death of a dependent; however, if the death results in the coverage level changing to single, premiums for the difference in premium cost between family and single coverage will only be refunded to the employer for a maximum of six months.

Covered stepchildren can remain covered at the discretion of the surviving spouse in the event of the employee's death. If the surviving spouse files an application to drop the stepchildren, proof of other insurance must be provided.

507 C) Dependent No Longer Qualifies as Disabled: For disabled adult dependents who no longer meet the health plan requirements to be considered disabled, coverage ends at the end of the month in which the health plan makes that determination.

The qualifications to determine disability include a medical review and that the employee or their spouse are providing at least 50% of the child's support and maintenance. If the dependent no longer meets these qualifications, they must be sent a *Continuation Conversion Notice* by the employer.

507 D) Grandchild's Parent Turns 18: The employer can pull an enrollment report monthly from myETF Benefits (Dependent Inquiry) to determine if any employee's grandchild(ren)'s parent turns 18 years old at the end of the month. The employee must submit an application or go online to myETF Benefits and report that the grandchild is losing eligibility.

The employee must be sent a *Continuation Conversion Notice* for the grandchild within five days of the date coverage ends.

507 E) Minor Dependent No Longer a Permanent Legal Ward: When a court terminates the permanent legal guardianship of a minor child or replaces the guardian with a new party, coverage for the legal ward who is no longer dependent on the employee or their spouse will end at the end of the month of the order terminating the permanent guardianship. Expiration of legal guardianship due to the ward attaining age 18 does not necessitate the removal of the ward from coverage.

A copy of the court order documenting the termination of the permanent guardianship is required. A *Continuation Conversion Notice* for the ward must be sent.

Under federal law, if notification of the loss of eligibility is not reported to the employer within 60 days of the event that caused the loss of eligibility or the date the coverage ended, then the right to Continuation Conversion Coverage (COBRA) is lost.

507 F) Adult Dependent Child Eligible for Other Coverage: A dependent child over the age of 19 who becomes eligible for, and elects other coverage, requires that an application to remove this dependent be submitted within 30 days of the event (enrollment in other coverage). For example, if a child marries but obtains coverage through their spouse at a later date such as an open enrollment period, the event is the start of other coverage, not the marriage. A dependent's enrolling in Medicare does not qualify the subscriber to terminate coverage for the adult child outside of open enrollment.

Coverage will terminate at the end of the month following receipt of the electronic request or paper application. If not received within 30 days, the employee will not be able to remove their dependent until the annual health benefits open enrollment period, even if this would result in the employee dropping to single coverage as they are their last eligible dependent.

Documentation to support the eligibility for the other coverage is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online..*

507 G) Adult Dependent Child gains a dependent: For effective dates beginning January 1, 2021. Adult Dependent Eligible for Other Coverage due to gaining a Dependent: A dependent child over the age of 19 who is eligible for, and elects other coverage due to birth, adoption, paternity or National Medical Support Notice, may be removed as of the date their other coverage begins. If not received within 30 days of the event or notice of the event, the employee will not be able to remove their dependent until the annual health benefits open enrollment period, even if this would result in the employee dropping to single coverage as they are their last eligible dependent.

Documentation to support the eligibility for the other coverage is required as outlined in the *Life Change Events and Documentation Requirements (ET-2846) online.*

507 H) Adult Dependent requests to be dropped from Parent/Subscriber's coverage: For effective dates beginning January 1, 2021 when the subscriber refuses to submit application. A dependent child over the age of 19 who becomes eligible for, and elects other coverage, who does not live with the subscriber, and has concerns about private health insurance information being shared with the subscriber may request to be removed from their parent's plan. The child must provide documentation of the preceding items. The effective date will be the end of the month following date of request.

507 I) Dependent No Longer covered under a National Medical Support Notice (NMSN): When a court terminates the NMSN of a child, coverage for the child will end at the end of the month of the order terminating the NMSN.

A copy of the court order documenting the termination of the NMSN is required. A *Continuation Conversion Notice (ET-2311)* for the child must be sent.

Under federal law, if notification of the loss of eligibility is not reported to the employer within 60 days of the event that caused the loss of eligibility or the date the coverage ended, then the right to Continuation Conversion Coverage (COBRA) is lost.

507 J) Dependent No Longer covered due to custody change: When a court orders custody of a minor child to a different party, coverage for that DEPENDENT will end at the end of the month of the custody order changing where the child lives. A copy of the court order documenting the custody change of the dependent is required.

508 Considerations When Both Spouses Are Employed by the State, the University of Wisconsin, or One or Both Are Annuitants

If an employee's spouse is an eligible state or University of Wisconsin employee or an annuitant, one may select family coverage that will cover all eligible tax dependents and any eligible non-tax dependents the employee chooses to cover.

If both an employee and their spouse are enrolled for single coverage, premiums are being

deducted on a *pre-tax basis*, and they are not newly married, family coverage may only be elected effective at the beginning of the calendar year or when the employees have gained a dependent that necessitates family coverage.

If premiums are being deducted on a **post-tax basis** and the employee and spouse both have single contracts, one of the single contracts may be changed to a family plan at any time without restriction and the other single contract will be canceled. Family coverage will be effective the beginning of the month on or after receipt of an electronic or paper application, or a later date specified on the application. Annuitant premiums are deducted post-tax if premiums for family coverage are deducted **pre-tax**, coverage can only be changed to single coverage effective the beginning of the calendar year or when the last dependent becomes ineligible for coverage or becomes eligible for and enrolled in other group coverage.

If premiums are deducted **post-tax**, one family policy can be split into two single plans with the same carrier effective the beginning of the month on or after receipt of an electronic or paper application, or a later date specified on the application from both spouses, provided both work for the state or are annuitants. A family policy may also be changed to one single plan under either spouse.

509 Considerations When One Spouse is Employed by a Local Employer in the WPE Group Health Insurance Program or Other Non-State Employer

In addition to the information within subchapter 508, if the employee is insured under their spouse through a participating Wisconsin Public Employer or other non-state employer, and the employee dies, that individual's sick leave credits will not be available for use by the surviving dependents. Under a state family plan, sick leave credits are preserved for the surviving dependents regardless of who should die first.

Chapter 6 — Health Benefits Open Enrollment

601 Health Benefits Open Enrollment Eligibility

602 Withdrawing/Rescinding It's Your Choice Enrollment Elections

603 When a Health Plan is not Available at Open Enrollment

604 Late It's Your Choice Open Enrollment Applications

601 It's Your Choice Open Enrollment Eligibility

601 A) Establishing Health Benefits Open Enrollment

(1) The BOARD shall establish enrollment periods, called the health benefits open enrollment period, which shall permit eligible EMPLOYEES, ANNUITANTS and currently insured CONTINUANTS to enroll for or transfer coverage to any plan offered by the BOARD as required by Wis. Stat. § 40.51. Unless otherwise provided by the BOARD, the health benefits open enrollment period shall be held once annually in the fall of each year with coverage effective the following January 1.

(2) Health benefits open enrollment provides an annual opportunity for **uninsured employees** to apply for new health insurance coverage and currently **insured subscribers** to change from one health plan to another, drop or add an adult dependent (age 19 or older), transfer the coverage from one spouse to the other, transfer a dependent's coverage from one divorced employee parent to another, or change from single to family or family to single coverage without limitations.

(3) If a SUBSCRIBER has not received an health benefits open enrollment opportunity as determined by ETF, an enrollment opportunity may be offered prospectively.

(4) An EMPLOYEE who returns from leave of absence (as defined under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40)) during which coverage lapsed and which encompassed the entire previous IT'S YOUR CHOICE enrollment period will be allowed an health benefits enrollment provided an application is filed during the 30-day period which begins on the date the EMPLOYEE returns from leave of absence.

(5) An eligible EMPLOYEE who is insured as a DEPENDENT child on another policy in this program can enroll for coverage by submitting an application during the annual health benefits enrollment for coverage effective the following January 1. Their parent must submit an application to remove them from coverage during the annual health benefits open enrollment.

(6) A retired EMPLOYEE of the state who is receiving a retirement annuity or has received a lump sum payment which would have been an immediate annuity if paid as an annuity under Wis. Stat. § 40.25 (1) and had been insured in the program when they terminated employment; or an EMPLOYEE of the state who terminates creditable service after attaining 20 years of creditable service, remains a participant in the WRS and is not eligible for an immediate annuity may enroll for coverage during the IT'S YOUR CHOICE enrollment period.

601 B) Health Benefits Open Enrollment Period

The Board sets the health benefits open enrollment period, normally a four-week period in October. Changes in coverage take effect January 1 of the following year.

601 C) Participation in the Health Benefits Open Enrollment Period

Two requirements must be met to make a change or enroll during open enrollment:

- (1) To enroll, the employee must be eligible for and enrolled in the WRS, or be a currently employed UW graduate assistant. If making a change, the employee must be currently insured in the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program; *and*
- (2) If the employee is enrolling for the first time and a single parent (including divorced employees), they must provide documentation such as a birth certificate or paternity acknowledgement to add dependent children (if documentation is not on file for currently covered dependents, even if they were previously insured dependents, it will be requested and must be provided) and
- (3) (a) Employees who work for non-STAR/UW/UWHC employers must enter the change request online into the myETF Benefits system or provide the *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to the employer within the designated health benefits open enrollment period. STAR/UW/UWHC EmployerAgency employees must enter any It's Your Choice changes in the appropriate payroll/benefits system.

(b) Applications from ANNUITANTS and CONTINUANTS changing plans during the IT'S YOUR-CHOICE enrollment period must be received by ETF postmarked no later than the last day of the IT'S YOUR-CHOICE enrollment period, unless otherwise authorized by ETF. Members with duty disability are not eligible to newly enroll during open enrollment.

601 D) Distribution of the annual Health Benefits Decision Guide and materials

The annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides,* available on the ETF website and updated annually (please see ET-2107 (actives) and ET-2108 (annuitants and continuants)) provide information on what's changing, health insurance rates, uniform benefits and plan availability for the plan year. The guides are forwarded to state agencies electronically prior to the health benefits open enrollment period for distribution to all eligible employees, insured and uninsured (including those on leave of absence and layoff). ETF has guides mailed directly to ANNUITANTS and CONTINUANTS. There is a limited supply of paper annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides* available; employers are encouraged to direct employees to the electronic version found on ETF's website at etf.wi.gov. The annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides* must be distributed in a timely manner.

601 E) Employees Initially Eligible for Coverage on November 1 or December 1

Employees initially eligible for coverage on November 1 or December 1, who wish to change to a different health plan or coverage type effective January 1, must file two online applications or *Group Health Insurance Application/Change Forms* during their regular enrollment period. The first application will cover the period from the date of initial coverage through December 31. The second application will change to whatever health plan or coverage type is selected effective January 1, and must have Annual health benefits enrollment box checked as the reason for submitting the application.

601 F) Employees who will retire during or after Open Enrollment:

Active employees who will retire between September and December should submit their open enrollment elections directly to ETF as they will be a retiree effective January 1st of the following year. Applications can be submitted to ETF via Box, email, fax, or by mailing.

601 G) Employee's employment and/or health coverage ends after submitting an It's Your Choice election.

- If coverage ends on or prior to December 31, on the Continuation Conversion Notice (<u>ET-2311</u>), list the health plan that coverage is with as of the coverage end date unless COBRA begins January 1. Then the It's Your Choice health plan election applies.
- (2) List the *It's Your Choice* elected health plan on *Continuation Conversion Notice* if current coverage ends after January 31.

601 H) Deferred Coverage Enrollment

- Any EMPLOYEE actively employed with the state who does not elect coverage during the enrollment period provided under section 401, 704 B, or who constructively waives coverage under section 211 C or who subsequently cancels coverage elected under chapter 4 or 502, 503, 603 B and 601 A (1), (3) (4) and 601 C (2) (b), may be insured only by electing coverage during the open enrollment period as provided in section 601 A (1).
- (2) An EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT enrolled for individual coverage, though eligible for family coverage may only elect family coverage during the I open enrollment period, except as provided in chapter 4 or 502, 503, 603 B and 601 A (1), (3) (4) and 601 C (2) (b).
- (3) An insured EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT is permitted to change among IYC HEALTH PLANS during a open enrollment period offered under sections 502, 503, 603 B and 601 A (1), (3) (4) and 601 C (2) (b).
- (4) A retired EMPLOYEE of the state who is receiving a retirement annuity (immediate annuity, disability retirement) or has received a lump sum payment which would have been an immediate annuity if paid as an annuity under Wis. Stat. § 40.25 (1) and had been insured in the program when they terminated employment; or an EMPLOYEE of the state who terminates creditable service after attaining 20 years of creditable service, remains a participant in the WRS and is not eligible for an immediate annuity may enroll for coverage during the open enrollment period. An immediate annuity means the annuity effective date is within 30 days of the termination date.
- (5) An eligible EMPLOYEE or EMPLOYEE on leave of absence under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40) who is not enrolled for coverage, may only enroll in the ACCESS PLAN 30 days prior to retirement for the purpose of escrowing their accumulated sick leave conversion credits per Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (b). An EMPLOYEE is not allowed to enroll in the High Deductible Health Access Plan option as part of this provision. Beginning in January 1, 2019, retirees who elected the ACCESS PLAN 30 days prior to retirement may remain on this plan and use their sick leave credits to pay for coverage.

602 Withdrawing/Rescinding Health Benefits Open Enrollment Elections

Entry of an employee's request to withdraw/rescind an It's Your Choice election in MEBS must be completed by ETF. Employees may withdraw/rescind an It's Your Choice election by notifying their employer in writing (letter or email) prior to the January 1 effective date.

602 A) If the employee submitted their It's Your Choice election on a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) or online, upon receipt of the written request to withdraw/ rescind:

- (1) Either forward one copy of the application with "Rescind" written across the top or a copy of the employee's written request to withdraw/rescind the application to ETF.
- (2) Retain the original copy of the rescinded application for the employer's records.
- (3) ETF will update myETF Benefits by deleting the initial It's Your Choice request and reinstating the employee's coverage that was to end on December 31.

Note: No application or on-line request for coverage may be withdrawn/rescinded on or after the effective date of coverage. After the coverage effective date, the subscriber can only cancel coverage prospectively if premiums are paid with post-tax dollars (refer to subchapter 804) or submit a late IT'S YOUR CHOICE election request (refer to subchapter 604).

603 When a Health Plan is not Available at Open Enrollment

When a plan is no longer available for the upcoming year, subscribers enrolled in that plan **must** make an It's Your Choice change online **or** submit a *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) during the open enrollment period to enroll in a new plan. Subscribers are notified by letter from the departing plan at the start of It's Your Choice. Information on plans no longer available will also be included in the "What's Changing" section in the annual *Health Benefits Decision Guide*.

603 A) In some instances, such as a health plan service area merger, applications are not required and subscribers are switched automatically to a new plan. In the event a new application is not required, annual It's Your Choice employer news via ETF E-mail Updates, and the annual *Health Benefits Decision Guides* will include instructions. Subscribers can still elect a different health plan during the IT'S YOUR CHOICE period if they do not wish to remain with their merged plan.

603 B) If the HEALTH PLAN offers more than one network to PARTICIPANTS and the service areas of those networks change on January 1st, a SUBCRIBER who failed to make an IT's YOUR CHOICE election to change networks in order to maintain access to his or her current providers may still change to the appropriate network within that same HEALTH PLAN. The effective date of the change in networks is effective on January 1st or the first day of the month after the EMPLOYER receives the SUBSCRIBER'S request to change networks, whichever is later.

Subscribers whose plan will no longer be available and who fail to submit an application selecting an available plan during the open enrollment period must apply through the late It's Your Choice application process to select a new health plan to continue coverage. Coverage is usually effective the first day of the calendar month on or after the date ETF receives the application.

604 Late Health Benefits Open Enrollment Applications

SUBSCRIBERS may request a review if they believe they were not offered an open enrollment opportunity and they feel that their *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) should be accepted after the designated It's Your Choice Open Enrollment period. Employers may key late open enrollment requests as long as the open enrollment reason remains available in myETF Benefits without submitting to ETF for review. Please note that a late It's Your Choice application does not guarantee approval. The steps included in this process are as follows:

- (1) Employee submits application after the end of the open enrollment period.
- (2) Employer rejects and returns late application to employee with instructions on requesting review. A sample letter informing an employee of this process is found in subchapter 605.
- (3) Employee submits a written request (letter or email) for ETF review to the employer no later than April 15 following the open enrollment period. Approved requests prior to January 31st will be retroactively effective to January 1. Requests approved after January 31st will be effective prospectively to the first of the following month.
- (4) Employee includes in the letter or email the facts or circumstances regarding the reason(s) their application is being filed late and the remedy being sought.
- (5) After January 1, the employer develops a cover memo, letter or email addressed to ETF detailing the process used to distribute health benefits materials and information to employees, the date of receipt of the employee's health benefits application, and any pertinent facts that either supports or does not support the employee's request.
- (6) Employer sends a copy of the employee's late *Group Health Insurance Application*, the original employee's letter or email requesting a review, and the employer cover memo, letter or email to:

EMPLOYER SERVICES SECTION EMPLOYEE TRUST FUNDS P O BOX 7931 MADISON WI 53707-7931

These materials and information can also be faxed to (608) 267-4549 or scanned and emailed using encryption to: <u>ETFSMBEmployerInsurance@etf.wi.gov</u>. The cover sheet or subject line should be titled "Late Health Benefits Open Enrollment Application".

(7) ETF reviews the materials submitted and issues a letter within 30-60 days to the employee, copying the employer, that the request was either approved or denied. Generally, coverage will be prospective if approved.

605 Late Health Benefits Open Enrollment Review Sample Letter

Below is a sample letter from the employer informing an employee of the review process for a Late *health benefits open enrollment* application.

(DATE) (EMPLOYER NAME AND ADDRESS IF NOT ON THE LETTERHEAD) Dear (EMPLOYEE NAME): ET-1118 Chapter 6 (REV 12/18/2023) Your open enrollment health insurance application is being returned to you by our office because it was not received timely. You may request a review of your late application by the Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF) through the following process:

- (1) Prepare a written request detailing the circumstances and facts surrounding the reason for your late application and the remedy you are seeking.
- (2) Submit your written request to our office at the address noted above by January 31. Do **not** submit your request directly to ETF.
- (3) We will review your request for completeness and attach any pertinent documentation.
- (4) We will submit your request, your health insurance application, and other documentation to ETF for review.
- (5) ETF will review the materials and issue you a letter either approving or denying your request. Generally, coverage will be prospective if approved.

If you have questions, please contact (NAME) at (TELEPHONE NUMBER).

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards,

Guidelines and Administration Manual

Chapter 7 — Leave of Absence

- 701 Definition of a Leave of Absence
- 702 Employer Contribution Toward Health Insurance Premium While on an Unpaid Leave of Absence
- 703 <u>During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military) Coverage Does Not Lapse</u> While on a Leave of Absence
- 704 <u>Coverage During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military)- Coverage Lapses</u> <u>While on a Leave of Absence</u>
- 705 Coverage During Military Leave of Absence
- 706 Coverage During Layoff
- 707 Coverage During Appeal of Discharge
- 708 Examples for Contribution upon return from a Leave of Absence

701 Definition of a Leave of Absence (LOA)

701 A) Under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40), "Leave of absence" means any period during which an employee has ceased to render services for a participating employer and receive earnings and there has been no formal termination of the employer–employee relationship.

701 B) A return from a leave of absence under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40) is deemed to be the first day the EMPLOYEE *returns to work* if the EMPLOYEE resumes active performance of duty for 30 consecutive days for at least 50% of the EMPLOYEE'S normal work time. If the EMPLOYEE does not complete 30 days of duty, the EMPLOYEE is not deemed to have returned from leave and coverage will continue as an EMPLOYEE on leave of absence.

701 C) An employee on LOA is subject to the same eligibility and enrollment provisions as an active employee.

702 Employer Contribution Toward Health Insurance Premium While on an Unpaid Leave of Absence

Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (a) 3., requires that "[t]he employer shall continue to pay required employer contributions toward the health insurance premium of an insured employee while the insured employee is on a leave of absence, as follows:

- (a) Only for the initial three months of the leave of absence, except as provided in subd. 3b.
- (b) Unless otherwise provided in the compensation plan under s. 230.12, for the entire leave of absence if the insured employee is receiving temporary disability compensation under s. 102.43."

Note: Employee also receives the employer contribution toward health insurance premium that was prepaid prior to going out on a LOA in addition to receiving the employer contribution for the initial three months following any prepaid month. For example, the employee goes on LOA effective September 5. The employer and employee premium will be paid for September by the employer on the 24th. The employer share continues for October, November, and December. See also Section 708 and <u>the Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual (ET-1170)</u>.

703 Coverage During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military) - Coverage Does Not Lapse While on a Leave of Absence

703 A) Insured employees on an unpaid leave of absence (LOA) choose whether to continue health insurance coverage during their LOA. After EMPLOYER contribution, the insured EMPLOYEE is responsible for payment of the full PREMIUM that must be paid in advance. Each payment must be received by the EMPLOYER at least 30 days prior to the end of the coverage period for which PREMIUMS had previously been paid.

Retroactive EMPLOYER refunds resulting from termination for non-payment of PREMIUM by the EMPLOYEE are not allowed. For example:

- If the employer has paid for May coverage, we do not let failure to collect the employee's share invalidate that month's coverage.
- If not collected, the following month's coverage (June) should be terminated due to failure to pay.
- If the employer pays the month before coverage starts and they have not been able to collect the employee's contribution in advance of coverage, coverage should cancel for the first full month they received no payment from the member.
- (1) If employee returns to active performance of duty and their LOA ends within the first four months after beginning a LOA, the following applies:
 - (a) No application is required upon resumption of active duty.
 - (b) Employer must track when the employee meets the criteria of a LOA ending under § 40.02 (40) as described in 701.
 - (c) Employer must set the expectation with the employee regarding when a LOA ends and the use of leave time.
 - (d) Employee cannot use leave time to satisfy the criteria ending a LOA under § 40.02 (40).
 - (e) Leave time cannot be used to satisfy the 50% return to work criterion, but this does not prevent an employee from using leave time to supplement their work schedule.
 - (f) Employer deducts employee-required premium contribution from employee's check.

Example:

- i. Employee goes out on a LOA January 15.
- ii. If the employer collects pre-paid premiums, the employee is eligible for employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month of February plus March, April and May under Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (a) 3, *or*
- iii. If the employer collects premium for the month of coverage, and not pre-paid, the employee is eligible for employer contribution for the health insurance premium for the coverage months of January plus February, March and April.

- iv. Employee returns to active performance of duty on April 1.
- v. LOA ends May 1, upon completing the criteria under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40).
- vi. Employee continues to receive the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month of May.
- (2) If employee returns to active performance of duty and the LOA ends **more than four months** after beginning the LOA, the following applies:
 - (a) No application is required upon resumption of active duty.
 - (b) Employer must track when the employee meets the criteria of a LOA ending under § 40.02 (40) as described in 701.
 - (c) Employer must set the expectation with the employee regarding when a LOA ends, the use of leave time, and when they will become eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium.
 - (d) Employee cannot use leave time to satisfy the requirements ending a LOA under § 40.02 (40).
 - (e) Leave time cannot be used to satisfy the 50% return to work criterion, but this does not prevent an employee from using leave time to supplement their work schedule.
 - (f) The employee becomes eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month in which the LOA ended.
 - (g) Employer deducts or collects the full monthly premium from the employee until the LOA ends.
 - (h) Employee receives a refund of any employer contribution paid by the employee for the month in which the LOA ended.

Example:

- i. Employee goes out on a LOA October 2.
- ii. If the employer collects pre-paid premiums, employee is eligible for employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month of November plus December, January and February under Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (a) 3, *or*
- iii. If the employer collects premium for the month of coverage, and not pre-paid, the employee is eligible for employer contribution for the health insurance premium for the coverage months of October plus November, December and January.
- iv. Employee pays full premium, no employer contribution, beginning with the coverage month of March.
- v. Employee returns to active performance of duty on March 20.
- vi. LOA ends April 19; Wis. Stat. § 40.02(40).
- vii. Employee is eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month of April, the month the employee's LOA ends.
- viii. Since the total premium has been paid by the employee prior to the coverage month of April, the employee is due a refund of the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium.
- (3) Additional information regarding employees continuing health insurance coverage during an approved

LOA follows.

- (a) The maximum length of time coverage can be continued for an employee on LOA is 36 months per Wis. Stat. § 40.02(40). However, an employee on a union-service leave may continue coverage beyond 36 months until termination of the leave or the date that service with the labor organization ceases, whichever occurs first. After this, or upon termination (whichever occurs first), coverage may be continued under COBRA. (Refer to Chapter 9 for information about COBRA.)
- (b) The State contribution toward premium payment continues for the initial three months of the LOA for which premiums have not already been deducted as of the date the LOA begins. This will result in a total of up to four months (after the LOA begins) of employer contribution towards premiums. For the remaining months of the LOA, the employee must pay the entire premium; there is no employer contribution after the initial three months. See 703A for more information on employee contribution.
- (c) Employees on LOA are included along with active employees on the employer's monthly invoice. Any payments received from employees on LOA should be made payable to the employer and included in the employer's monthly invoice payment to ETF.
- (d) Employers must provide open enrollment information to employees on LOA prior to the beginning of the designated open enrollment period.

704 Coverage During an Unpaid Leave of Absence (Non-Military) - Coverage Lapses While on a Leave of Absence

704 A) Insured employees on an unpaid leave of absence (LOA) can choose to allow their health insurance coverage to lapse during their LOA. An employee may choose to allow their coverage to lapse by not paying the premium when due. If they do so, they may regain eligibility for coverage upon return to work.

If the employee files an application to cancel coverage they are not eligible to enroll upon return to work. This is considered a voluntary termination. EMPLOYEES who cancel coverage cannot re-enroll until the next open enrollment period or when a life event occurs (e.g. marriage, birth, etc.), whichever occurs first. Refer to Chapter 5 for other enrollment opportunities.

If the EMPLOYEE's coverage was canceled while on a LOA, the EMPLOYEE is not eligible to re-enroll when their disability annuity is approved.

704 B) Any insured EMPLOYEE for whom coverage lapses, or who allows family coverage to lapse during the LOA but continues individual coverage (as a result of non-payment of PREMIUM), may reinstate coverage by filing an application with the EMPLOYER within 30 days after the return to work. Coverage is effective the 1st day of the month on or after the date the EMPLOYER receives the application. The EMPLOYEE becomes eligible for the EMPLOYER contribution toward PREMIUM for the coverage month the leave of absence ends.

If the EMPLOYEE's coverage lapsed while on a LOA, the EMPLOYEE is eligible to re-enroll when their disability annuity is approved.

704 C) If employee allowed their health insurance coverage to lapse while on LOA, the following applies upon returning to work and the employee chooses to reinstate coverage:

(1) Employee must complete and submit an application to the employer within 30 days after resumption of active performance of duty to enroll in coverage. The coverage effective date is on or following the first of the month following receipt of the application by the employer within 30 days of returning to work. A full month's PREMIUM is due for that month if coverage is effective before the 16th of that month. Otherwise, the entire PREMIUM for that month is waived.

- (a) The employee is limited to the same health plan and level of coverage they were enrolled in prior to their LOA. See (i), (ii) and (iii) that follow for exceptions to this requirement.
 - i. Employee may change coverage level if a qualifying life event occurred during their LOA (e.g. marriage, birth, etc.). Refer to Chapter 4, subchapter 403 for information about other life event enrollment opportunities.
 - ii. Employee who moved while on a LOA may change health plans upon return to work.
 - iii. Employee who returns from a LOA that encompassed the entire previousopen enrollment period and files an application within 30 days of returning to work, may make changes to the coverage they had prior to their LOA.
- (b) Employee who did not file an application within 30 days of returning to work cannot re-enroll in coverage until the next open enrollment period or when a qualifying life event occurs (e.g. marriage, birth, etc.), whichever occurs first. Refer to Chapter 4, subchapter 403 other enrollment opportunities.
- (2) Employee must indicate coverage to be effective either "As Soon As Possible" or "When the Employer Contributes toward Premium" on the application. Examples follow (6) below.
 - (a) If employee elects "As Soon As Possible" coverage is effective the first of the month on or following the employer application receive date.
 - i. Employee becomes eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month the LOA has ended.
 - ii. Employer will deduct or collect the full monthly premium from the employee until the LOA ends. Employee receives a refund of any employer contribution paid by the employee for the month in which the LOA ended.
 - (b) If employee elects "When the Employer Contributes toward Premium" coverage is effective the first of the month on or following when the employee becomes eligible for the employer contribution toward the monthly premium.
- (3) Employer must track when the employee meets the criteria of a LOA ending under § 40.02 (40) as described in 701.
- (4) Employer must set the expectation with the employee regarding when a LOA ends, the use of leave time, and when they will become eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium.
- (5) Employee cannot use leave time to satisfy the criteria ending a LOA under § 40.02 (40).
- (6) Leave time cannot be used to satisfy the 50% return to work criterion, but this does not prevent an employee from using leave time to supplement their work schedule.

Examples:

- (a) Employee elects coverage to be effective as soon as possible:
 - i. After coverage lapsed, employee returns to employment on February 1.
- ii. Employee submits an application to enroll in coverage that is received by the employer on

February 1. Employee elects coverage to be effective as soon as possible.

- iii. Coverage is effective February 1.
- iv. LOA ends March 3 as employee meets return to work criterion under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40).
- v. Employee must pay the entire premium for the coverage month of February.
- vi. Employee is eligible for the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium for the coverage month of March since a full month's PREMIUM is due if coverage is effective before the 16th of that month.
- vii. Since the total premium has been paid by the employee prior to the coverage month of March, the employee is due a refund of the employer contribution toward the health insurance premium.
- (b) Employee elects coverage to be **effective when the employer contributes** toward premium:
 - i. After coverage lapsed, employee returns to employment on February 1.
 - ii. Employee submits an application to enroll in coverage that is received by the employer on February 1. Employee elects coverage to be effective when the employer contributes toward premium.
 - iii. LOA ends March 3 as employee meets return to work criterion under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40).
 - iv. Employee becomes eligible for the employer contribution toward premium on March 3.
 - v. Coverage is effective April 1, first of the month on or after becoming eligible for the employer contribution toward premium.
 - vi. Employee is only required to pay the required employee share of the monthly premium for the coverage month of April going forward.

704 D) Additional information regarding employees whose health insurance coverage lapsed during an approved LOA follows:

- (1) The employee may change level of coverage if a status change (e.g., marriage, birth, etc.) occurred during the LOA. (Refer to Chapter 4, subchapter 403 for information about other enrollment opportunities.)
- (2) Employees may change health plans if the change results from a move during the LOA.
- (3) An employee who allows coverage to lapse and returns from a LOA that encompassed the entire previous open enrollment period will be allowed an open enrollment opportunity provided an application is filed with the employer within 30 days of the employee's return to work.
- (4) The coverage effective date for employees returning from Family Medical Leave of Absence (FMLA) in accordance with federal law, is the date the employee returns to work provided an application is filed with the employer within 30 days of the employee's return to work. A full month's premium is due for that month if coverage is effective before the 16th of that month. Otherwise, the entire premium for that month is waived.

The following are examples of situations of FMLA that may be encountered:

a) FMLA spans the end of one calendar year and continues into the next year (twelve weeks of one year ending December 31st and twelve weeks beginning January 1st of the next year): The effective date is the date the employee returns to work, as long as it is not beyond the allowable twelve weeks for the current calendar year.

Note: FMLA is based on a calendar year and cannot exceed a twelve-week

period in any given calendar year.

- b) An employee on FMLA exceeds the twelve-week calendar year limit and elects to continue the leave using leave without pay: The effective date of the employee's reinstatement in the Group Health Insurance Program is the first of the month on or after the employer's receipt of the employee's health insurance application after completing the return to work criterion described in 701.
- (5) EMPLOYEES shall also have the life event enrollment opportunities if the EMPLOYEE or a DEPENDENT loses eligibility for another health insurance plan or the EMPLOYER's contribution toward it while on LOA. Other coverage may be as a member of the US Armed Forces, or as a citizen of a country with national health care coverage comparable to the Access Plan. EMPLOYEES must file an application and provide evidence satisfactory to ETF of the loss of eligibility.

705 Coverage During Military Leave

705 A) 2003 Wisconsin Act 162 (enacted March 17, 2004) provides a framework for insuring that certain employees serving in the uniformed services are treated, for purposes of pay and benefits, as though no interruption of service occurred. Under this act, employees may continue health insurance coverage while on military leave, if they so desire, including employer-paid premiums and employee-paid premium payroll deductions.

Employees not remaining on payroll while on military leave must make employee-paid premium share contributions directly to the employer. Wis. Stat. § 230.315, created by Act 162, lists three criteria to be met by a state employee activated to serve on military duty in order to receive pay differential (meaning state salary less any military pay and housing allowances), accrue sick leave and paid annual leave, and receive other employee benefits as though no interruption of service occurred:

- (1) Be activated to serve on military duty or in the U.S. Public Health Service, other than for training purposes, on or after January 1, 2003; and
- (2) Serve as a member of the Wisconsin National Guard, a reserve component of U.S. armed forces, or recalled to active military duty from inactive reserve status; and
- (3) Receive a military leave of absence under Wis. Stat. § § 230.32 (3) (a) or 230.35 (3), under a collective bargaining agreement, under rules promulgated by the Division of Personnel Management, or be eligible for reemployment under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 45.50.

Eligible employees or their designated representative should elect, within 60 days after being activated, if they want their health insurance coverage to continue, lapse, or be canceled by completing the *Health Insurance Election for Military Service Personnel* (ET-2350). The employer must receive this form within 60 days after the employee is activated.

Employees who prefer to rely solely on military provided health care and family health insurance may elect to lapse or cancel state coverage. Upon release from active duty, with return to employment and within 30 days of the loss of the military coverage—loss of coverage is defined as an "event"—the employee may reinstate their state health insurance coverage (same health plan and same coverage level) without prejudice by filing

a Group Health Insurance Application ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually).

The re-enrollment in coverage effective date is the day following the last day of the military coverage. Employees who are not eligible for the employer premium share when called to active duty, but who become eligible while on military leave, have 30 days from the date of their return to employment (sooner than return to work) to file a health insurance application.

705 B) For the purpose of this provision and in accordance with Wis. Stat. §40.05 (4g), eligible EMPLOYEE includes National Guard and Military Reserve personnel on an unpaid military leave of absence for active duty for reasons other than for training. The EMPLOYEE must be receiving EMPLOYER contributions for health insurance on the date he or she is activated for duty. The thirty-six month limitation for continuing coverage, described in 706 below, does not apply.

The EMPLOYEE may elect to:

- (1) Continue health insurance coverage and establish prepayment of PREMIUMS while on active duty; or
- (2) Within 60 days of being activated for coverage, cancel or let his or her coverage lapse for nonpayment of PREMIUM after being activated for duty and reinstate coverage while on leave by filing a health insurance application; or
- (3) Cancel or allow his or her coverage to lapse and reapply for coverage within 30 days of return to employment, provided the EMPLOYEE applies for re-employment within 90 days after release from active duty, and resumes employment within 180 days.
- (4) An EMPLOYEE who is enrolled for individual coverage and becomes eligible for family coverage between the time of being called into active military service and the return to employment may elect family coverage within 30 days upon re-employment without penalty.

Note: Coverage is effective upon the date of re-employment. A full month's PREMIUM is due for that month if coverage is effective before the 16th of that month. Otherwise, the entire PREMIUM for that month is waived.

706 Coverage During Layoff

706 A) Coverage may be continued during layoff with the following conditions:

- The state contribution is available for the first three months of layoff for which premiums have not already been deducted. After that, the employee is responsible for the entire premium. See section 709.
- 2) Employees on permanent layoff may continue coverage for up to five years using converted sick leave to pay premiums until the sick leave credits are exhausted followed by 36 months under COBRA continuation provisions. In the event that sick leave conversion credits are used, the full amount of the required employee premiums is deducted from the credits until the credits are exhausted, the employee is re-employed, or five years elapse from the date of the layoff.

The use of sick leave during layoff is the record-keeping responsibility of the employer. The employee is reported to ETF the same as any other employee on layoff who is continuing their coverage. For group health insurance purposes, a state employee whose employment is terminated due to permanent layoff is to be treated as if terminated for retirement purposes or on a leave of absence per Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40) and § 40.05 (4) (bm), meaning that upon termination due to permanent layoff, health insurance coverage may be continued. (For more information on sick leave and payment options after layoff, refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170). This includes retirement in lieu of ET-1118 Chapter 7 (REV 5/23/2023)

layoff.)

- 3) Any insured EMPLOYEE may continue coverage during any EMPLOYER approved leave of absence or LAYOFF for up to 36 months. Insurance coverage may be continued beyond 36 months if the approved leave is provided for union service leave under Wis. Stats. § 40.02 (56) and 40.03 (6) (g) and/or under COBRA.
- 4) Premiums must be paid in advance, either by deduction from the last paycheck or by direct payment to the employer. Payments must be received by the employer prior to the period of coverage.
- 5) Employees on layoff are reported along with your active employees and employees on LOA. Any payments received from employees on layoff should be made payable to the employer and included in your monthly remittance to ETF.
- 6) If an employee is on layoff during an entire open enrollment period, the employee must be given an Open Enrollment opportunity. Open enrollment information should be sent to those employees who are on layoff prior to the beginning of the designated open enrollment period.

706 B) The following apply to employees on layoff status who allow health insurance coverage to lapse and choose to reinstate coverage upon return to work. Return to work is defined in 701.

- 1) The employee must submit a *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually). The application must be received within 30 days of the employee's return to work. Coverage is effective the first of the month on or following the employer's receipt of the completed *Group Health Insurance Application*.
- 2) The employee is limited to the same health plan and level of coverage as before the layoff. See a), b) and c) that follow for exceptions to this requirement.
 - a) Employee may change level of coverage only if a special enrollment opportunity (e.g., marriage, birth, etc.) occurs during the layoff. (Refer to Chapter 4, subchapter 403 for information about life event enrollment opportunities.)
 - b) Employees moving during a layoff may change health plans.
 - c) An employee who returns from a layoff that encompassed the entire previous open enrollment period will be allowed an open enrollment opportunity provided an application is filed with the employer within 30 days of the employee's return to work.
 - 3) Employee who did not file an application within 30 days of returning to work cannot reenroll in coverage until the next health benefits open enrollment period or when a life event occurs (e.g. marriage, birth, etc.), whichever occurs first. Refer to Chapter 4, subchapter 403 other enrollment opportunities.

707 Coverage During Appeal of Discharge

707 A) An insured EMPLOYEE who has exercised a statutory or contractual right of appeal from removal or discharge from his or her position, or who within 30 days of discharge becomes a party to arbitration or to legal proceedings to obtain judicial review of the legality of the discharge, may continue to be insured from the date of the contested discharge until a final decision has been reached.

 707 B) An insured employee appealing an employment discharge may continue to be insured from the date of

 ET-1118 Chapter 7 (REV 5/23/2023)

 Page 68 of 168 Back to Top

the contested discharge until a final decision is made. The following apply:

- (1) The employer must receive the first premium payment within 30 days of discharge.
- (2) Future premium payments (where the employer collects pre-paid premiums) must be made through the employer and must be received in advance of the coverage month *or*
- (3) Future premium payments (where the employer collects premiums in the month of coverage) must be made through the employer and must be received in the coverage month.
- (4) The employee must pay both the employee and employer share of premium due each month until the appeal is resolved.
- (5) The employee must continue to be reported along with active employees on the employer's monthly invoice. Any payments received from employees appealing a discharge should be made payable to the employer and included in the employer's monthly premium remittance to ETF.

707 C) In the event the appeal is decided in favor of the employee and the employee is made whole (as if the discharge did not occur), the employer must reimburse the employee for all employer shares of premiums paid by the employee during the course of the appeals process. The employer is not required to return the employer share in cases where the employee is not made whole but returns to work under the terms of the final agreement.

In the event an appeal reinstates an employee who allowed coverage to lapse during the appeal, the employee may reinstate coverage provided the employee re-applies for coverage within 30 days of the return to work.

707 D) If the final decision is adverse to the employee, the date of termination shall, for purposes of health care coverage, be the end of the month in which the decision becomes final. This may include by expiration without appeal of the time within which an appeal might have been perfected, or by final affirmation on appeal.

If the discharge is for reasons other than gross misconduct, the employee is eligible to continue health insurance for the balance of 18 months from the original termination date (the balance of the continuation period). If the discharge is for gross misconduct, the employee is only eligible for conversion coverage and should contact the health plan for information on benefits, rates and policy provisions. (Refer to Chapter 9 for information about continuation and conversion.) A *Continuation-Conversion Notice* (ET-2311) must be provided to the employee using the original discharge date.

708 Examples for Contribution upon return from a Leave of Absence

Employees on LOA become eligible for the employer contribution when the LOA is ended as defined in Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40). The LOA is deemed ended when the employee has returned to work, that means the employee has resumed active performance of duty for 30 consecutive calendar days for at least 50% of what is considered his or her normal work time with that employer.

An employee who is on LOA is not eligible for employer contribution toward premium simply because they receive earnings at some point during the payroll cycle for a given month.

Example 1: John is receiving Income Continuation Insurance (ICI) benefits for five months. He has used up his sick leave but has sabbatical leave that his employer is allowing him to use during his period of disability. John is using one day of paid leave during each pay period. Although receipt of the sabbatical pay keeps John ET-1118 Chapter 7 (REV 5/23/2023) Page **69** of **168** <u>Back to Top</u>

on payroll, he is not eligible for employer contribution toward health insurance past the maximum of three months (plus one if pre-paid) because he has taken at least one day of unpaid leave and has not returned to work for 50% of his regular work schedule for 30 days. Therefore, John has not met the statutory requirement for return to work and is not entitled to employer contributions toward his health insurance until he does so.

Example 2: Jackie has received Income Continuation Insurance (ICI) benefits for seven months. She returns to work for two half days per week during the sixth month. Although Jackie's earnings place her on payroll, she is not eligible for employer contribution toward health insurance beyond the 4 (if contributions were prepaid) or 3 months (if contributions were paid month of coverage), because she has taken at least one day of unpaid leave and has not returned to work for 50% of her regular work schedule for 30 days. Therefore, Jackie has not met the statutory requirement for return to work and is not entitled to employer contributions toward her health insurance until she does so.

Length of Coverage	Payment of	Employee-Required	Employer-Required
Availability	Premiums	Contributions	Contributions
An additional 3 months of employer contribution toward premium. Thereafter, employee may continue for up to 36 months under continuation provisions, and then another 36 months of COBRA, by paying the full premium after the employer contribution ends.	Premiums should be collected as described in 707B 2 and 3 by payroll deduction or personal check. See 703A for termination timeframes.	After the 3 initial months supplemented by employer contribution toward premium, employees still on leave can continue coverage by paying the entire share of premium to their employer in advance.	

Unpaid Leave of Absence:

709 Examples for Contribution upon return from a Temporary Layoff

Temporary layoff is defined under the applicable contract or administrative code and may include, for example, seasonal layoffs, school-year summer layoffs, etc.

Length of Coverage Availability	Payment of Premiums	Employee-Required Contributions	Employer-Required Contributions
An additional 3 months of employer contribution toward premium. Thereafter, employee may continue for up to 36 months under continuation provisions, by paying the full premium after the employer contribution ends.	Premiums should be collected as described in 707B 2 and 3 by payroll deduction or personal check. See 703A for termination timeframes.	After the 3 initial months supplemented by employer contribution toward premium, employees still on leave can continue coverage by paying the entire share of premium to their employer in advance.	First 3 months (in addition to any prepaid months at time of termination) after employee is laid off.
Then COBRA coverage after the 36-month continuation period ends.			

Chapter 8 — Cancellation and Termination of Coverage

- 801 Individual Termination of Coverage
- 802 Ending Coverage
- 803 Changing From Active to Annuitant Coverage
- 804 Voluntary Cancellation of Coverage

801 Individual Termination of Coverage

ETF offers a resource to help employers advise employees who are terminating employment, including retirees. It is the <u>Termination Checklist for State Employees (ET-2500s)</u>.

801 A) A PARTICIPANT'S coverage shall terminate at the end of the month on the earliest of the following dates:

- (1) The effective date of change to another HEALTH PLAN through the BOARD approved enrollment process.
- (2) The expiration of the period for which PREMIUMS are paid when PREMIUMS are not paid when due.

Note: As required by federal law, if timely payment is made in an amount that is not significantly less than amount due, that amount is deemed to satisfy the HEALTH PLAN'S requirement for the amount that must be paid. The HEALTH PLAN may notify the PARTICIPANT of the amount of the deficiency and grant a reasonable time period for payment of that amount. Thirty days after the notice is given is considered a reasonable time period.

- (3) The expiration of the 36 months for which the SUBSCRIBER can continue coverage while on a leave of absence or LAYOFF, as provided in sections 701, 702, 704 B and C, 705 B, 706 A and 403 E.
- (4) The end of the month in which a notice of cancellation of coverage or sick leave escrow application is received by the EMPLOYER or by ETF in the case of an ANNUITANT or CONTINUANT, or a later date as specified on the cancellation of coverage notice or sick leave escrow application. If the ANNUITANT or CONTINUANT contacts the HEALTH PLAN directly to cancel coverage, the HEALTH PLAN is to reject the cancellation and immediately notify the ANNUITANT or CONTINUANT to submit a written cancellation notice to ETF.
- (5) The definition of PARTICIPANT no longer applies (such as a DEPENDENT child's marriage, divorced spouse, etc.). As required by Wis. Stat. §632.897, if family coverage remains in effect and the EMPLOYEE fails to notify the EMPLOYER of divorce, coverage for the ex-spouse ends the last day of the month in which notification of continuation of coverage rights occurs (see 901A). The EMPLOYER may collect
PREMIUM retroactively from the SUBSCRIBER if the divorce was not reported in a timely manner and there were no other eligible DEPENDENTS for family coverage to remain in effect. The ACA requires that an employee receive a full month of coverage before coverage is terminated unless there is fraud or gross misconduct in order for the employee to find other coverage.

- (6) The expiration of the continuation period for which the PARTICIPANT can continue under 801 C) below, as required by state and federal law.
- (7) The effective date of coverage obtained with another employer group health plan of PARTICIPANT who continues under 801 C) below. Terminations due to enrollment in medical assistance (Medicaid), the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), or TRICARE may be retroactive to the effective date of coverage upon request by the subscriber and determination by ETF.
- (8) The earliest date federal or state continuation provisions permit termination of coverage for any reason.
- (9) The end of the month in which the SUBSCRIBER terminates employment.
- (10) Upon date of death. No refund of PREMIUM may be granted for the month in which the coverage ends. If deceased subscriber has covered dependents, see 1402 A) and C) regarding continued coverage of surviving dependents.
- (11) Upon a significant reduction in employer's contribution toward health insurance (full time to less than ½ time). An employee whose employer contribution is lowering due to a job appointment change may cancel coverage. The event is the first of the month on or following the appointment change. The Health Insurance Application or electronic enrollment request must be submitted no later than 30 days following the appointment change.

Note: If the employee's spouse is an eligible State or Local employee, the couple may change the listed subscriber to the spouse who is getting a greater share of employer contribution. This event does not permit a change of health plans.

801 B) No refund of any PREMIUM under 801 A) (5) may be made unless the EMPLOYER, or ETF if applicable, receives a written request from the SUBSCRIBER by the last day of the month preceding the month of coverage. Except that when coverage ends because of termination of employment, refunds shall be made back to the end of the month in which employment terminates.

801 C) A PARTICIPANT who ceases to meet the definition of EMPLOYEE, ANNUITANT, or DEPENDENT may elect to continue group coverage as required by state and federal law. Application must be postmarked within 60 days of the date the PARTICIPANT is notified of the right to continue or 60 days from the date coverage ceases, whichever is later. The HEALTH PLAN shall bill the continuing PARTICIPANT directly for the required PREMIUM.

801 D) No person other than a PARTICIPANT is eligible for health insurance BENEFITS. The SUBSCRIBER'S rights to group health insurance coverage is forfeited if a PARTICIPANT assigns or transfers such rights, or aids any other person in obtaining BENEFITS to which they are not entitled, or otherwise fraudulently attempts to obtain BENEFITS. Coverage terminates the beginning of the month following action of the BOARD. Re-enrollment is possible only if the

person is employed by an EMPLOYER where coverage is available and is limited to the ACCESS PLAN.

Change to an IYC HEALTH PLAN is available during a regular IT'S YOUR CHOICE enrollment period, which begins a minimum of 12 months after the disenrollment date.

ETF at any time request such documentation as it deems necessary to substantiate SUBSCRIBER or DEPENDENT eligibility. Failure to provide such documentation upon request shall result in the suspension of BENEFITS.

801 E) In situations where a PARTICIPANT has committed acts of physical or verbal abuse, or is unable to establish/maintain a satisfactory physician-patient relationship with their primary care physician, disenrollment efforts may be initiated by the HEALTH PLAN or the BOARD. The SUBSCRIBER'S disenrollment is effective the first of the month following completion of the grievance process and approval of the BOARD. Coverage may be transferred to the ACCESS PLAN only, with options to enroll in IYC HEALTH PLANS during subsequent IT's YOUR CHOICE enrollment periods. Re-enrollment in the HEALTH PLAN is available during a regular IT's YOUR CHOICE enrollment period, which begins a minimum of 12 months after the disenrollment date.

801 F) Except in cases of fraud or where an individual makes an intentional misrepresentation of material fact, under federal law, an EMPLOYER must not retroactively cancel (also called rescind) coverage, except to the extent attributable to a failure to pay timely premiums towards coverage. This rule also applies to ANNUITANTS. It is not considered a rescission where, due to administrative delay in record-keeping, the EMPLOYER retroactively cancels coverage back to the date of termination of employment as limited by section 212.

801 G) Upon determination that a SUBSCRIBER is ineligible for the HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN (HDHP), coverage shall change to the non-HDHP Uniform Benefit with the same HEALTH PLAN to be effective either:

- 1. The effective date of the other disqualifying coverage in the current plan year, or
- 2. January 1 of the current plan year if the coverage began to be effective in the previous plan year.

As needed, PREMIUMS and claims shall be retroactively adjusted. See 201B for more information.

802 Ending Coverage

The coverage end date for the employee is entered by the employer in myETF Benefits. After logging into myETF Benefits, from the Health tab select the *Termination of Coverage* option.

Active coverage may be ended for an employee based upon an employee's request to:

- complete a spouse-to-spouse transfer,
- death of the subscriber,
- disability approval (non-ICI),
- retirement,
- termination of employment or
- employee's request to cancel coverage.

Refer to the chart below for specific limitations and requirements surrounding these termination scenarios.

The ending of an employee's coverage will be reported on the Monthly Employer Invoice. (Refer to Chapter 14 regarding instructions and information on the Monthly Employer Invoice.)

Reason	Coverage End Date	Comments
Cancel Coverage	Refer to subchapter 804	Employee is voluntarily ending coverage. Refer to subchapter 804 regarding Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 125 pre-tax and post-tax requirements. For example, when SUBSCRIBER and all eligible DEPENDENTS are newly eligible for, and enrolled in, other coverage or the employee premium share has increased significantly. If employee does not pay required premiums while out on a leave of absence (LOA), this is a cancellation, voluntarily ending coverage.
Termination of Employment	End of the calendar month in which the employee terminates employment.	Employee's coverage is an involuntary loss of coverage. If employee is terminating employment because they are retiring, going on an unpaid LOA or on permanent layoff, but is not starting an immediate annuity, refer to the <i>Sick Leave Conversion Program</i> <i>Employer Manual</i> (ET-1170) regarding reporting sick leave.
Termination of Employment prior to effective date of coverage	The application is void and any premiums paid or deducted will be refunded.	N/A
Cancel Spouse-To-Spouse Employment	Refer to subchapter 804	Employee voluntarily ending coverage. Cannot complete a cancellation mid-year without an allowable status change under the plan language (contract) or HIPAA qualifying life event if premiums are deducted pre-tax.

Reason	Coverage End Date	Comments
Disability Approval (Non-ICI)	Coverage is continued as an annuitant without lapse upon approval of a disability benefit.	This is an employer entry in myETF Benefits. No application to end coverage is required from employee. ETF will coordinate coverage between active employment and annuitant status so that no lapse or duplication of coverage occurs. Refer to subchapter 803. Also, refer to the <i>Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer</i> <i>Manual</i> (ET-1170) for reporting sick leave.
Retirement	Coverage is continued as an annuitant without lapse upon retirement if an employee retires with an immediate annuity.	Requires an employer entry in myETF Benefits. No application is required from employee. Enter the number of available sick leave hours and pay rate for the member terminating coverage. ETF will coordinate coverage between active employment and annuitant status so that no lapse or duplication of coverage occurs. Refer to subchapter 803. Also, refer to the <i>Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer</i> <i>Manual</i> (ET-1170) for reporting sick leave.
Death of Subscriber with Single Coverage	End of the calendar month in which the death occurred.	Refund any premiums paid in advance for coverage beyond the end of the month in which death occurred.
Death of Subscriber with Family Coverage	Coverage under the employee's contract continues through the last day of the month for which the premium was deducted.	Do not refund any premiums unless authorized by ETF. Refer to the <i>Sick Leave Conversion</i> <i>Program Employer Manual</i> (ET-1170) for reporting sick leave. Refund may be due if coverage was paid for the next month. Coverage automatically continues for survivors.

803 Changing from Active to Annuitant Coverage

Retiring insured employees are eligible to continue health coverage under any of the following conditions: (Refer to Chapter 10)

(1) Employee receives an immediate annuity upon retirement (monthly or lump sum benefit), WRS disability retirement, or duty disability benefits.

(2) Employee terminates after age 55 (50 for protective category employees) with at least 20 years of creditable WRS service, but does not take an immediate retirement annuity.

When an employee retires, the employer must end their coverage in myETF Benefits. They must also complete the required entry in the Accumulated Sick Leave system (AcSL) in myETF Benefits (Refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170)). Retirees without sick leave credits who wish to continue coverage may make premium payments through their annuity or with payments directly to the plan

804 Voluntary Cancelation of Coverage

When an employee wishes to cancel coverage for any of the reasons listed in subchapter 801, they cannot complete their request mid-year without an eligible family status change that is allowed under the plan language (contract) or a HIPAA qualifying life event if the employee premium is being deducted on a pre-tax basis under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 125.

If the employee premium is being deducted post-tax, coverage can be canceled at any time throughout the calendar year. If an event has occurred that is not listed in the following table, contact ETF for review and guidance.

Event	Eligibility Requirements	Coverage End Dates	Comments
Pre-Tax Employee Terminating Employment	Health Insurance Application or electronic enrollment request must be submitted no later than the month employment terminates. The event date is the date employee terminates employment.	End of the month following receipt of the application/electronic request or the event date, whichever is later.	The coverage end date for a cancelation request is always the end of a month. Retroactive cancelations are not allowed.

Event	Eligibility Requirements	Coverage End Dates	Comments
Pre-Tax Employee Going on an Unpaid LOA	Health Insurance Application or electronic enrollment request must be submitted no later than the month employee goes on a LOA. The event date is the date employee begins a LOA.	End of the month following receipt of the application/electronic enrollment Benefits request or the event date, whichever is later.	An employee who continued coverage during a LOA is eligible to receive the employer share of the monthly premium for the current coverage month premium plus three additional months. Once the employee is paying the employer share of the premium or the entire premium post- tax, coverage can be canceled at the end of any month following receipt of an application/request. Coverage end date for a cancelation request is always the end of a month. Retroactive cancelations are not allowed.

Event	Eligibility	Coverage	Comments
	Requirements	End Dates	
Pre-Tax Family Status Change	An allowed family status change under the plan language (contract) or a HIPAA qualifying life event must occur. <i>Health Insurance</i> <i>Application/ Change</i> <i>Form</i> or myETF electronic enrollment request must be submitted within 30 days of the IRC Section 125 status change, the event.	End of the month following receipt of an application/request or the event date, whichever is later.	Refer to Chapter 5 for status changes allowed under the plan language (contract) and HIPAA qualifying life events. Documentation may be required. If an allowed family status change has not occurred, an employee can submit an application in October, November or December requesting coverage to be canceled effective December 31. Coverage end date for a cancelation request is always the end of a month. Retroactive cancellations are not allowed.
Premiums Deducted Post Tax	Health Insurance Application or myETF Electronic enrollment request must be submitted.	Coverage end date is the end of the month following the application received date or the myETF Electronic request date. If the application received date or the myETF electronic request date is the last day of a month, coverage ends on the receipt/request date.	An application can be submitted requesting a future cancellation date other than the end of the month following receipt of the application. Coverage can be canceled mid-year. Coverage end date for a cancelation request is always the end of a month. Retroactive cancellations are not allowed.

Chapter 9 – COBRA, Continuation and Conversion

- 901 Overview of COBRA, Continuation and Conversion
- 902 Persons Eligible for Continuation (Qualified Beneficiaries)
- 903 Employee Responsibilities
- 904 **Qualified Beneficiary Responsibilities**
- 905 Employer Responsibilities
- 906 Notice Requirement Illustration Chart
- 907 <u>Continuation Coverage Information</u>

901 Overview of COBRA, Continuation and Conversion

Under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), participants and their eligible dependents covered under the State Group Health Insurance Program have options available to them for the continuation or conversion of health insurance coverage in the event eligibility for group coverage ends. COBRA requires that the State Group Health Insurance Program offer subscribers (employees/members) and their covered dependents (qualified beneficiaries) temporary extension of identical coverage at the group rate for a maximum of 18 months (36 months under certain circumstances) following specific events, referred to as "qualifying life events" (refer to subchapter 902). The following provides an overview of Continuation and Conversion.

901 A) Continuation:

Wisconsin statutes (Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (3-4), § 632.897) incorporate and extend the federal COBRA benefit noted above. Under this subsection, authority is given to the GIB to reinforce and broaden continuation rights under certain circumstances.

Note: Where Federal (COBRA) and State (continuation) laws differ, the law most favorable to the participant will apply. When used in this Chapter, "COBRA continuation" refers to the State or Federal legislation resulting in the most favorable outcome to the participant, unless otherwise specified. One commonly encountered distinction between federal and state law occurs in late-reported divorce. Under federal law, divorcees are entitled to 36 months of COBRA following the divorce event. (For example, a divorce reported on month 34 after the event would only leave the ex-spouse with a balance of 2 months.) However, state law guarantees a minimum of 18 months' continuation regardless of event date. As a result, state law rules are followed and the ex-spouse would be entitled to continuation for months 34 through 51.

For example: If divorce is more than 36 months in the past, the ex-spouse must still be offered 18 months of continuation coverage.

If the PARTICIPANT does not reside in a county listing a primary physician for the SUBSCRIBER'S HEALTH PLAN at the time continuation coverage is elected, the PARTICIPANT may elect a participating plan in the county where the PARTICIPANT resides. Also see chapter 5.

901 B) Conversion:

Conversion coverage is available to participants who have been covered under the State Group Health Insurance Program under terms negotiated with the health plan. Participants may elect to convert to Marketplace or individual (non-group) coverage upon loss of eligibility for group coverage, i.e., when they reach the maximum length of continuation of group coverage or in lieu of continuation coverage. Participants electing conversion coverage do not need to provide evidence of insurability but must apply directly with the health plan through the process established by the health plan. The benefits and rates for conversion coverage are different than the benefits and rates for continuation coverage.

Such PARTICIPANT may also elect to convert to individual coverage or a Marketplace plan without underwriting if application is made directly to the HEALTH PLAN within 30 days after termination of group coverage as provided under Wis. Stat. §632.897. The PARTICIPANT shall be eligible to apply for the direct pay conversion contract then being issued provided coverage is continuous and the PREMIUMS then in effect for the conversion contract are paid without lapse.

902 Persons Eligible for Continuation (Qualified Beneficiaries)

Under federal and state laws, when group health insurance coverage would otherwise end because of a life event known as a "qualifying life event," employees and their covered dependents become "qualified beneficiaries" and must be offered continuation coverage (refer to subchapter 905 for employer responsibilities).

Qualified beneficiaries must be treated the same as "similarly situated active employees." That means qualified beneficiaries are entitled to the same benefits, choices, and services as active employees. For example, the employee's spouse may elect COBRA even if the employee does not. COBRA may be elected for only one, several, or all dependent children who are qualified beneficiaries. A parent may elect continuation coverage on behalf of any dependent children. The employee or the employee's spouse (if the spouse is a qualified beneficiary) can elect continuation coverage on behalf of all qualified beneficiaries.

902 A) Employees must be offered continuation coverage in the event coverage is lost due to either of the following events:

- 1) Termination of employment (for reasons other than gross misconduct), including retirement. The exception is when an employee retires and elects to take an immediate annuity <u>and</u> to continue health insurance. (Refer to Chapters 10, 11, and 12).
- 2) Completion of the maximum prepayment periods of 36 months while on a leave of absence or layoff. (Refer to Chapter 7).

902 B) The spouse of an employee with family coverage in the State Group Health Insurance Program becomes a qualified beneficiary as a result of any of the following qualifying life events:

1) Death of spouse (employee). Employers do not need to provide a *Continuation - Conversion Notice* [ET-2311] as the survivor's coverage will automatically continue. (Refer to Chapter 13 on Employee Death.)

- 2) Divorce. Coverage as a dependent spouse continues until the later of:
 - a) The end of the month in which the employer provides notification of continuation rights (*Continuation Conversion Notice* [ET-2311]). (Refer to subchapter 903.) or
 - b) The end of the month in which the date of entry of judgment of divorce is entered/final with the clerk of courts.
- 3) Spouse (employee) loses coverage for reasons listed above under section A.

902 C) Each eligible dependent child of an employee with family coverage in the State Group Health Insurance Program becomes a qualified beneficiary as a result of any of the following qualifying life events:

1) Death of parent/stepparent. Employers do not need to provide a *Continuation - Conversion Notice* [ET-2311] as the survivor's coverage will automatically continue. (employee; refer to Chapter 13 on Employee Death).

2) Dependent eligibility status ceases under the State Group Health Insurance Program

(Refer to the chart in subchapter 906 for examples).

- 3) Parents become divorced resulting in loss of eligibility.
- 4) Parent (employee) loses coverage for reasons listed above in A.

902 D) An eligible dependent of a minor dependent of an employee with family coverage in the State Group Health Insurance Program becomes a qualified beneficiary when losing eligibility as a result of the minor dependent turning age 18. Coverage for the dependent of a minor dependent terminates at the end of the month in which the dependent child turns 18.

902 E) An eligible disabled dependent, over age 26, of an employee with family coverage in the State Group Health Insurance Program becomes a qualified beneficiary upon loss of disabled status. Coverage terminates at the end of the month in which it is determined the disabled status ceases.

902 F) If an employee, within the initial 18 months of COBRA coverage, is granted a SSA disability, they may be eligible for an extension of COBRA for up to 29 months. The employee must provide ETF with a copy of the SSA letter that states they have been found to be disabled, within 60 days of the date of the letter.

902 G) In the event an employee is hired, WRS eligible, and elected insurance coverage that is in force and the employee terminates before completion of 30 days of service the insurance remains in force and the employee **must** be offered COBRA. Coverage as an active employee will end as of the end of the month of termination.

Note: When a voluntary change in coverage from a family plan to a single plan is done in anticipation of a divorce, the spouse and dependent children are eligible for continuation coverage when the divorce is final. The effective date for continuation coverage in this case is the date of the entry of the judgment of divorce. This is usually when the judge signs the divorce papers and the Clerk of Courts date-stamps them. In all other cases, voluntary cancellation does not create a continuation enrollment opportunity.

903 Employee Responsibilities

Employees (refer to subchapter 902) are responsible for informing the employer of a qualifying life event in which a dependent loses eligibility for coverage under the State Group Health Insurance Program. Qualified beneficiaries should notify ETF of these changes.

Applications must be received by ETF postmarked within 60 days of the date the participant is notified by the employer of the right to continue or 60 days from the date coverage ceases, whichever is later. The HEALTH PLAN shall bill the continuing participant directly for required PREMIUMS. COBRA continuation coverage ends when coverage is canceled, premiums are not paid when due, or coverage is terminated as permitted by state or federal law.

Under Federal COBRA law, if the employer or ETF is not notified within 60 days of the:

1) event that caused the loss of coverage, or

2) end of the period of coverage, whichever is later, the right to continuation coverage is lost. Under state continuation law, separate requirements may allow notification after the 60-day period in limited divorce circumstances.

In the event of a divorce, if an employee does not notify their employer of their divorce, coverage for the ex-spouse and any stepchildren continues if the family premium continues to be paid. The ex-spouse must then be given the right to continue coverage even if notice is given beyond 60 days following the divorce. Should the employee fail to advise the employer of divorce within 60 days of the event, the employer must provide notice to the ex-spouse and stepchildren that they are ineligible to continue coverage as a qualified beneficiary of the employee as soon as possible. Coverage terminates the end of the month in which the employer provides the notice of the right to continue coverage (*Continuation – Conversion Notice* (ET-2311) to the ex-spouse and any stepchildren or children of minor stepchildren. In this situation, employers must check with ETF on the length of continuation coverage that is available.

Note: The ex-spouse is eligible to continue coverage under a single contract or a family contract with eligible dependents. The stepchildren or children of minor stepchildren are not eligible to continue coverage under a single contract of their own because notice of the divorce was not given to the employer within 60 days of the divorce. If the stepchildren meet the criteria of being an eligible dependent and the ex-spouse applies for family coverage as a continuant, the stepchildren can be included as covered dependents on the ex-spouse's family contract.

CONTINUANTS may not add (to their family coverage or change from single to family) persons who were not originally insured when group health insurance ended, unless a child was born or adopted (or placed for adoption) while the employee is continuing group coverage. A CONTINUANT with single coverage must elect family coverage within 60 days of the birth or adoption.

COBRA coverage ends for all qualified beneficiaries when the maximum COBRA duration has been met.

Note: If a CONTINUANT is enrolled in family coverage and gets married, the new spouse is not eligible to be added to the family contract.

904 Qualified Beneficiary Responsibilities

When electing continuation or conversion coverage, qualified beneficiaries are responsible for the following:

1) Submitting the *Continuation – Conversion Notice* (ET-2311) and the *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) to ETF. Both forms (an employee need only submit a *Continuation – Conversion Notice* unless requesting a change in coverage) must be sent to ETF (that is, postmarked) no later than 60 days from the termination of their coverage or within 60 days of the date they were notified by their employer, whichever is later. No lapse or gap in coverage is allowed. If qualified beneficiaries do not elect continuation coverage within the 60-day period, they lose eligibility to enroll under continuation.

2) Paying premium to the health plan when billed by the health plan.

3) Reporting any changes affecting coverage, for example, address change, birth or adoption. If continuation coverage is elected, changes must be reported to ETF; if conversion coverage is elected, changes must be reported to the health plan.

4) Subscribers and their insured dependents continuing coverage must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B when initially eligible. A copy of the Medicare card must be submitted to ETF. If a qualified beneficiary is eligible for Medicare:

- a) prior to or on the effective date of COBRA coverage, they are eligible for Medicare reduced rates.
- *b) after* COBRA coverage begins, COBRA coverage ends for the subscriber or dependent when they enroll in Medicare Parts A and B.
 - i) Qualified beneficiaries not eligible for Medicare remain eligible for COBRA coverage.
 - ii) If Part B becomes effective after the continuation begins, the continuation period ends at the end of the month prior to when Medicare Part B becomes effective.

905 Employer Responsibilities

905 A) Within five days of being notified of the "qualifying life event," the employer is responsible for notifying qualified beneficiaries of their right to continue group coverage or convert to individual coverage by providing them with the following documents:

- 1) Continuation Conversion Notice (ET-2311), with the employer sections completed.
- 2) Group Health Insurance Application ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually). This form is needed to enroll in continuation or conversion. The employee does not need to complete the application if continuing the coverage already in effect. The employee must still complete and return the Continuation - Conversion Notice.

Note: A continuation notice must be provided within the five-day period even when it is determined the qualified beneficiary is not entitled to continuation coverage, for example, notice of the qualifying life event was not provided to the employer within the required time period. (Refer to subchapter 906 for information on providing notice.)

In the case of divorce, confirm the address of all qualifying beneficiaries.

905 B) The employer is responsible for informing qualified beneficiaries of the following:

- If electing continuation coverage, the completed *Continuation Conversion Notice* and *Group Health Insurance Application* forms must be sent to ETF (i.e., postmarked) no later than 60 days after the date of the notice or 60 days after coverage ends, whichever is later.
- 2) If electing continuation coverage, the health plan will bill the continuant(s) directly.
- 3) If electing continuation coverage and the continuants are moving for more than three months, they are eligible to change to another health plan without restrictions, provided the application is received within 30 days after the move. The application must be returned to the employer if the change would be effective before the termination of coverage paid through the employer; otherwise, the application must be returned to ETF.
- 4) See section 503 for other reasons to change coverage.

Note: When entering a coverage end date in myETF Benefits for the employee's coverage or the end date for any specific dependent on the employee's contract through 'Remove Dependent', enter an end date that is the end of the month following the event. There is an exception to this when removing the subscriber's spouse due to divorce (refer to subchapter 903).

906 Notice Requirement Illustration Chart

The following chart illustrates a sample timetable for providing notices related to continuation coverage for common scenarios:

Event	Occurs	Coverage Continues Until	Employee or Beneficiary Must Notify Employer By	Employer Must Provide Continuation Notice By	To Elect Continuation, Application Must Be Submitted To ETF By
Child (or stepchild, DP's dependent) turns 26 and is not disabled.	3/15	3/31	N/A*	5 days after receipt of notice	The later of 60 days after coverage terminates or 60 days after employer issues <u>ET-2311</u> .
Dependent of Minor Eligibility Ends as Dependent turns 18	03/15	03/31	N/A*	5 days after receipt of notice	The later of 60 days after coverage terminates or 60 days after employer issues <u>ET-2311</u> .

* Employer must check for aging out dependents monthly. See Appendix.

Event	Occurs	Coverage Continues Until	Employee or Beneficiary Must Notify Employer By	Employer Must Provide Continuation Notice By	To Elect Continuation, Application Must Be Submitted To ETF By
Disability Status Terminates for >26-Year-Old Dependent	03/15	03/31	05/30	5 days after receipt of disability status change letter Status change letter	The later of 60 days after coverage terminates or 60 days after employer issues <u>ET-2311</u> .

Divorce Decree is Entered	03/15	End of the month in which continuation notice is given	05/30 If continuation notice is given late, check with ETF.	5 days after receipt of notice	The later of 60 days after coverage terminates or 60 days after employer issues <u>ET-2311</u> .
Employee Terminates Employment	03/15	03/31	N/A	5 days after receipt of notice	The later of 60 days after coverage terminates or 60 days after employer issues <u>ET-2311</u> .

907 Continuation Coverage Information

The benefits and limitations of coverage under continuation are identical to those provided to active employees. Participants enrolled in continuation coverage (continuants) must select the health plan already in effect at the time of termination of active coverage unless another life event occurs at the same time. Should the qualified beneficiary not reside in the same county as the subscriber, the qualified beneficiary may elect a health plan in their county of residence when enrolling in continuation coverage, even if the subscriber's health plan is available in the qualified beneficiary's county. Continuants can change health plans during the annual open enrollment period or following a residential move.

Continuation coverage may be in effect for up to 18 months following termination of employment (36 for divorce, death and dependent loss of eligibility). However, continuation coverage will be terminated early and cannot be reinstated for any of the following reasons:

- 1) The premium for continuation coverage is not paid when due.
- 2) The subscriber becomes covered under another group health plan; a subscriber who refuses health insurance offered by another employer will not be affected.
- 3) A member who was not eligible for Medicare when continuation began, becomes eligible for and enrolled Medicare.
- 4) A spouse is divorced from a covered employee and subsequently remarries and is covered through the new spouse's group health plan.
- 5) Qualified beneficiary voluntarily cancels continuation coverage.

Continuants may elect to convert to individual coverage (conversion at non-group rates) upon reaching the maximum continuation coverage period. Continuants are responsible for knowing when group continuation coverage ends and must contact their health plan directly to make application for conversion coverage set forth in Wis. Stat. §632.897 and/or Marketplace plan as provided by the health plan.

Chapter 10 — Retirement or Disability

- 1001 Coverage Requirements to Continue
- 1002 Coverage for Former State Employees Whose Coverage Lapsed
- 1003 Medicare Enrollment
- 1004 Premium Payment

1001 Coverage – Requirements to Continue

WRS-covered state employees insured under our group health insurance program, are entitled to continue the insurance for life when they receive a WRS retirement or disability benefit. This excludes Income Continuation Insurance (ICI). In addition, subscribers and their insured dependents who are continuing coverage must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B when first eligible. This is required by state statute, as the State Group Health Insurance Program is designed to integrate with, rather than duplicate, Medicare benefits. The group health insurance coverage will be converted to a plan that is integrated with Medicare effective on the first of the month in which the member is required to be enrolled in Medicare. The amount of the monthly premium will be reduced accordingly. Retrospective adjustments to premiums are limited to the shortest retroactive enrollment limit set by Medicare (90 days), in accordance with the Group Health Insurance Program contract.

Note: Active employees (non-annuitants) reported on the monthly invoices are not required to enroll in Medicare when first eligible and do not receive the Medicare reduced premium rate in the event they do enroll in Medicare.

1001 A) Retirement Benefit

Group health insurance coverage will automatically be continued if the employee retires with an *immediate annuity* under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (38). An immediate annuity is defined as a benefit that begins within 30 days after the employee terminates employment. This benefit can be a monthly benefit or a lump sum annuity. Note: A separation benefit is not considered an annuity. (Refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170) regarding the Accumulated Sick Leave Conversion Credit program.)

Health insurance coverage automatically continues for state employees upon retirement. If the retiring employee does not wish to continue health insurance coverage after retirement and wants to cancel coverage, *ETF must receive that notification in writing with the member's signature or email with electronic signature PRIOR to their active employee coverage ending.* Note: Canceling coverage will forfeit any sick certified by the employer. If the retiring employee wishes to escrow/bank their unused sick leave credits upon retirement, they should contact ETF for information and a *Sick Leave Escrow Application* (<u>ET-4305</u>).

A person who is eligible and applies for an immediate annuity under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (38) may have their State group health insurance coverage reinstated even if, during any period preceding retirement:

1) insurance has not been in effect while no earnings were received, orET-1118 Chapter 10 (REV 12/18/2023)Page 87 of 168Back to Top

2) insurance has been continued under COBRA continuation through the State's health insurance program.

An application for health insurance must be received by ETF within 30 days after the date of ETF's notification of eligibility for health insurance. Coverage shall be effective the first day of the calendar month which occurs on or after the date the application for health insurance has been received.

Note: Employers should terminate the employee's health insurance contract using the Retirement option in myETF Benefits to ensure their coverage continues automatically. See C-6 in Appendix C for more info about terminating coverage.

1001 B) Disability Benefit

Coverage for an insured EMPLOYEE shall be continued if the EMPLOYEE:

- Receives a disability annuity (disability retirement) under Wis. Stat. §40.63 and remains continuously covered under the group. This EMPLOYEE is considered to have met the requirements for an immediate annuity for health insurance purposes. If the disability annuity terminates and the PARTICIPANT continues to meet the definition of eligible EMPLOYEE under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (25), the individual is eligible to continue using accumulated leave credits until exhausted under Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (b).
- Receives a duty disability benefit under Wis. Stat. §40.65 and remains continuously covered under the group. Members with duty disability are not eligible to newly enroll during open enrollment.

Insured employees applying for a WRS disability retirement or duty disability benefit must prepay premiums through their employers until their disability benefit is approved by ETF, or else coverage will lapse.

Employees on an unpaid leave of absence immediately prior to termination, who are eligible for WRS disability retirement under Wis. Stat. §40.63, or duty disability benefits under Wis. Stat. § 40.65, may have their coverage reinstated even if, during the period preceding the benefit approval:

- 1) no insurance was in effect while no earnings were received, or
- 2) insurance has been continued under COBRA continuation through the State's health insurance program.

This provision does not apply if the employee files a *Group Health Insurance Application* to terminate health insurance coverage.

Once the WRS disability retirement or duty disability benefit is approved, the previously insured EMPLOYEE whose coverage lapsed or who was covered under COBRA will be offered a new opportunity to enroll and may use sick leave to pay premiums. ETF will notify the employer of the disability retirement or duty disability benefit. (Refer to Chapter 8.) ETF also will send the employee a letter and a *Group Health Insurance Application/Change for Retirees & COBRA Continuants* ((ET-2331) available on the ETF website and updated annually) offering lifetime coverage under the State Group Health Insurance Program. The application for health insurance must be received by ETF within 30 days after the date of ETF's notification of eligibility for health insurance. Coverage shall be effective the first day of the calendar on or after the date the application for health insurance has been received.

1001 C) Termination with 20 Years of WRS Service; Not Taking Immediate Annuity

Group coverage can be continued when terminating after age 55 (50 for protective category employees) when the employee has at least 20 years of WRS creditable service, even if an immediate retirement annuity is not taken. The employee completes and submits a *Group Health Insurance Program Continuation Application* (ET-2155) to ETF within 90 days of the termination of employment if the terminated EMPLOYEE does not take an immediate annuity.

1001 D) Termination before Minimum Retirement Age with 20 Years of Service

Insured state employees leaving state service before reaching minimum retirement age (therefore, not eligible for an immediate annuity) with at least 20 years of WRS creditable service who do not close their WRS account may continue coverage under the State Group Health Insurance Plan indefinitely. These employees are required to pay the full premiums. They cannot use sick leave credits to pay premiums or apply to escrow their sick leave credits until they later apply for their retirement annuity. At the time of termination, the employer certifies the retiring employee's sick leave, but it is "preserved" until an application for retirement (refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170)) is submitted, at which point it can be escrowed or the annuitant can enroll in the State Group Health Insurance Program.

The employee must complete a *Group Health Insurance Program Continuation Application* (*ET-2155*) and a *Group Health Insurance Application* if they wish to continue coverage until they formally retire.

For additional information, see the *Group Health Insurance* ($\underline{ET-4112}$) booklet for retired state employees with 20 years of service who terminate employment and surviving spouses and dependents of insured employees.

1002 Coverage for Former State Employees Whose Coverage Lapsed

Former state employees whose coverage has lapsed may be eligible to apply for coverage under the State Group Health Insurance Program if they meet one of the following conditions:

- Currently receiving a monthly annuity or took a lump sum annuity payment from the WRS (which would have been an immediate annuity if paid as an annuity under Wis. Stat. § 40.25 (1)) and had been insured in the program when they terminated employment. An immediate annuity means the annuity effective date is within 30 days of the termination date.
- 2) Terminated state employment before reaching their minimum retirement age of 55 (50 for protective category employees) with at least 20 years of WRS creditable service.

For additional information, see the *It's Your Choice* online FAQ regarding eligibility for retired state employees, state employees with 20 years of service who terminate employment, and surviving spouses and dependents of insured employees.

1003 Medicare Enrollment

Active employees and their insured dependents eligible for coverage under the Federal Medicare program may defer enrollment under Medicare Part A (hospital) and Part B (medical) until the employee terminates employment or health insurance coverage as an

active employee ceases.

Annuitants and insured dependents who are eligible for coverage under the Federal Medicare program must enroll in Parts A and B when first eligible due to age or disability per Wis. Stats. § 40.51(7) and 40.52(2). Annuitants and insured dependents failing to enroll in Medicare will be held responsible for the portion of claims that Medicare would have covered, had they been enrolled in Medicare.

A *Medicare Eligibility Statement* (ET-4307) is used to inform ETF of the Medicare effective dates. ETF will mail the statement to the retiree for completion. A sample of the statement appears at the end of this subchapter. Please provide ETF with a copy of the retiree's Medicare card, when available.

1004 Premium Payment

Annuitant premium payments are made through one of the following methods:

- Sick leave credits From sick leave credits until exhausted, Wis. Stat. § 40.05 (4) (b). Sick leave credits may be escrowed at the time of retirement if the employee is covered under comparable non-state health coverage. The employee should contact ETF for information and a Sick Leave Escrow Application (ET-4305).
- 2) **Annuity Deduction -** Premiums are paid from a monthly retirement or disability retirement benefit annuity under Wis. Stat. §40.63 if the annuity is sufficient to cover the entire premium.
- 3) **Direct Pay -** When the annuity is not sufficient to cover the entire premium or the member only receives duty disability or Long-Term Disability Insurance (LTDI) benefits, the health plan will directly bill the subscriber, and the subscriber will pay premiums directly to the health plan.
- 4) Group Life Insurance Conversion This program, governed by Wis. Stat. § 40.72 (4r) and Wis. Admin. Code ETF 60.60, allows eligible employees to convert their group life insurance to pay health insurance premiums. For more information, refer to the *Converting Your Group Life Insurance to Pay Health or Long-Term Care Insurance Premiums* brochure (<u>ET-2325</u>).

ETF may authorize PREMIUM payments to be made directly to the HEALTH PLAN where circumstances require such without member notification. Failure to make required PREMIUM payments by the due dates established by the HEALTH PLAN and approved by ETF shall cause the health care coverage to be canceled.

Chapter 11 — Rehired Annuitants

- 1101 Eligibility
- 1102 <u>Coverage</u>
- 1103 Disability Annuitants

1101 Eligibility

A Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) annuitant's return to **non-WRS** employment does not affect their WRS annuity or health insurance benefits, if any. Eligibility under this Chapter assumes the annuitant has met the requirements of a minimum break-in-service, as explained in Chapter 15 of the *WRS Administration Manual* (<u>ET-1127</u>), and returns to a **WRS-eligible** position, as either an employee or an independent contractor.

Under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 40.26 (1), a WRS annuitant returning to WRS eligible employment may elect to terminate the annuity and return to active WRS participation or will be required to return to active WRS participation and have their WRS annuity suspended, depending on the WRS annuitant's final WRS termination date (refer to Chapter 15 of the *WRS Administration Manual*. In both scenarios, the WRS annuitant must complete a *Rehired Annuitant Form* (ET-2319).

In the event a rehired annuitant elects to return to active WRS coverage or is statutorily required to return to active WRS coverage, the annuity is suspended effective the first of the month following ETF's receipt of the *Rehired Annuitant Form* (for annuitants electing coverage) or the first of the month following the rehire date (for annuitants with WRS termination dates on or after July 2, 2013) until the employee again retires and reapplies for an annuity. Under either scenario, annuitants returning to active WRS participation are immediately eligible to apply for health insurance coverage through the state agency. Coverage typically begins the first of the month after the retiree is rehired and WRS eligible.

Any retiree health insurance the retiree had through the State of Wisconsin group health insurance program is terminated based upon the date the annuity ends. Any remaining accumulated sick leave conversion credits are suspended until the employee subsequently retires again. Additional sick leave earned from state employment after the employee returns to work is only available for conversion to pay for health insurance premiums if the employee is an active participant (participating employee) in the WRS. The additional earned sick leave will be added to their existing sick leave balance when retiring again. Sick leave hours earned as a non-participant employee are not convertible on re-retirement because no employer contributions have been paid on sick leave earned in non-participant status.

A rehired annuitant returning to active WRS participation is only eligible for health insurance coverage through the active employer. There is no option to continue the group health insurance coverage they held as a WRS annuitant. An annuitant rehired by a WRS participating employer not offering health insurance to its employees will lose group health insurance coverage as an annuitant. In other words, regardless of whether an employer participates in the Group Health Insurance Program or not, an annuitant returning to active WRS coverage is no longer eligible for annuitant health coverage. Eligibility for annuitant health insurance is retained only when a rehired annuitant does not elect to return to active WRS participation or the position is not expected to require two-thirds of full-time hours (880 hours for teachers, 1,200 hours for all others) and last at

least one year, i.e., their WRS annuity is not suspended due to returning to work.

1102 Coverage

Upon receipt of the *Rehired Annuitant Form* ($\underline{\text{ET-2319}}$), ETF will determine both the WRS participation begin date and the WRS annuity suspension date, then will notify both the annuitant and employer. For an employee who was insured as an annuitant, health insurance coverage through the active employer becomes effective the day after the coverage as an annuitant lapses.

Note: WRS annuitants returning to WRS eligible employment as an independent contractor will have both their WRS annuity and annuitant health insurance coverage suspended, but are not eligible for WRS coverage for their work as independent contractors, nor are they eligible for active ETF-administered health insurance coverage.

As premiums paid through the annuity are deducted one month in advance, insurance is paid for one month beyond the annuity suspension date. Premiums paid through the annuitant's accumulated sick leave conversion account are also paid one month beyond the annuity suspension date. ETF will assist the employer in determining the date the rehired annuitant should be added to active coverage on the monthly additions report. A *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) electing coverage must be received by the employer within 30 days following the WRS participation begin date. When the employee retires again, refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170) for instructions on continuation of health insurance coverage, as the former annuitant is now considered an active employee.

A rehired annuitant electing to return, or statutorily required to return, to active WRS participation, but not electing to enroll in health insurance through the active employer ceases to be eligible for annuitant health coverage.

1103 Disability Annuitants

Participants Under Normal Retirement Age

A WRS participant who is receiving a disability retirement benefit under Wis. Stat. §40.63 and who has not reached normal retirement age cannot actively participate in the WRS until they are no longer eligible for the disability annuity (i.e. the participant is medically certified as no longer disabled). However, if the participant is re-employed, their disability annuity will be suspended if they earn more than a set "earnings limit" during a calendar year. Eligibility for annuitant health and/or life insurance coverage continues during the period of annuity suspension.

A disability annuity will be terminated if it is determined that the re-employed individual has recovered from their disability and can be gainfully employed. Following termination of the disability annuity, annuitant health insurance coverage ceases and, if in a WRS eligible position, the employee is immediately eligible for health insurance offered by their employer.

ETF notifies both the employee and the employer of the WRS coverage begin date, defined as the first of the month after the disability termination date. Employers are notified of their obligation to provide the employee with a Health Insurance Application/Change ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form.

ETF will coordinate between ending annuitant coverage and beginning active coverage if the individual elects coverage. New applications must be filed with the employer within 30 days after the date the employee resumes active status under WRS.

Participants Over Normal Retirement Age

A WRS participant who is receiving a disability retirement benefit under Wis. Stat. 40.63 and who is over their normal retirement age will have their disability annuity suspended if they are reemployed in a WRS eligible position. They must complete a *Rehired Annuitant Form* (<u>ET-2319</u>). See 1101 and 1102 for more information about the process.

Chapter 12 - Medicare

1201 Overview of Medicare

1201 A) Employer responsibility:

When an employee is planning to retire and is age 64 and 9 months or older, the employer should inform the employee to begin contacting Medicare to enroll in Medicare Part B three months before the employee retires.

Note: Employees age 65 and older are automatically enrolled in Medicare Part A coverage when they sign up for their social security benefit.

1201 B) myETF Benefits:

If your agency allows, on the covered individual screen, you and your employees may see whether or not ETF has Medicare eligibility information for them and their dependents (see below). For active employees, ETF collects this information for coordination of benefits with Medicare. Please ask employees older than age 65 to provide the information.

The employer can enter the information into myETF Benefits. If the employer enters it, please have the employee provide a *Health Insurance Application* (ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) or enter the information into the employer's payroll and benefit administration system.

Medicare eligibility information may also be provided to ETF by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) through CMS' and ETF's Voluntary Data Sharing Agreement (VDSA), ETF, or the health plan. If your employees have concerns about the accuracy of the data, first carefully verify all fields with them, including effective and expiration dates, then contact ETF.

Medicare Eligibility Reason:	Medicare A Effective Date:	Medicare B Effective Date:
ealth Insurance Claim Number:	Medicare A Expiration Date:	Medicare B Expiration Date:
itional Medicare Info: Medicare C Effective Date:	Medicare D Effective Date:	ESRD Start Date:

1201 C) Premium Rates:

 Active employees (non-annuitants) are not required to enroll in Medicare Part B when first eligible and do not receive the Medicare reduced premium rate in the event that they do enroll in Medicare. The coverage types of Medicare Single, Medicare Family - Some and Medicare Family - All are not listed for active employees because they are not eligible for the Medicare reduced rates, as the Group Health Insurance Program pays primary on claims for these employees. Once retired, each insured ANNUITANT, their DEPENDENTS or surviving DEPENDENTS, who becomes insured under federal plans for hospital and medical care for the aged (Medicare) may continue to be insured, but at reduced PREMIUM rates as specified by the BOARD.

The reduction in PREMIUM shall be effective on the first day of the calendar month, which begins on or after the date the PARTICIPANT is eligible for the Medicare hospital and medical care benefits (Parts A and B) as the primary payor and coverage is provided under an annuitant group number. See also 1301 F.

1201 D) Employees aged 65 and older may be automatically enrolled in Medicare Part A coverage. This can happen when an employee signs up to receive social security benefits. Enrollment under the federal plans for hospital and medical care for the aged (Medicare) by SUBSCRIBERS and their DEPENDENTS who are eligible for those programs is waived if the SUBSCRIBER remains covered as an active EMPLOYEE of the state. The reduction in PREMIUM is available only when the coverage is provided under an ANNUITANT group number.

Enrollment in Medicare Part B is required for the EMPLOYEE or DEPENDENTS at the first Medicare enrollment period after active employment ceases. If an ANNUITANT, or an ANNUITANT'S spouse is covered under an active employee's group health insurance policy with another employer and that policy is the primary payor, the ANNUITANT or the ANNUITANT'S spouse covered under that policy may also defer enrollment in Medicare Part B (to the extent allowed by federal law) under this provision and shall pay the Medicare reduced PREMIUM for coverage under this program.

If an active EMPLOYEE over the age of 65 defers enrollment, they have a special enrollment period for Medicare Part B that starts when their employment ends. The Social Security Administration (SSA) may ask for verification of their employment and health insurance coverage. SSA will provide form #L564 to the EMPLOYEE and it is the EMPLOYER's responsibility to complete the form.

See also 1003 for information about deferring Medicare Enrollment.

1201 E) Medicare due to disability:

If you have an employee who is eligible for Medicare due to disability, such as End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD), we recommend they speak with their local Social Security Administration office or call 1-800-772-1213. They should discuss their enrollment options and any potential late enrollment penalties. Medicare reduced rates are only available for retirees.

1201 F) Annuitants:

1) Annuitants and insured dependents eligible for coverage under Medicare must enroll in Parts A and B when first eligible due to age or disability per Wis. Stat. § § 40.51 (7) and 40.52 (2). Annuitants and insured dependents failing to enroll in Medicare will be held responsible for the portion of claims that Medicare would have covered, had they been enrolled in Medicare, in accordance with Uniform Benefits IV., A., 11., b. (As-If Contract) However, retrospective adjustments to PREMIUM or claims for coverage not validly in force shall be limited to the shortest retroactive enrollment limit set by Medicare for either medical or prescription drug claims, not to exceed 90 days. They must enroll in Medicare Part B at the next available opportunity.

In the event that a PARTICIPANT is enrolled in regular coverage, ETF will direct the HEALTH

PLAN to refund any PREMIUM paid in excess of the Medicare reduced PREMIUM for any months for which BENEFITS are reduced in accordance with Uniform Benefits IV., A., 11., b. In such cases, the HEALTH PLAN will make claims adjustments prospectively. However, PREMIUM refunds for retroactive enrollment on a Medicare reduced contract will correspond with the retroactive enrollment limits and requirements established by Medicare for medical prescription drug coverage. This may limit the amount of PREMIUM refund for the SUBSCRIBER.

- 2) Enrollment under the federal plans for hospital care (Medicare Part A) by EMPLOYEES, ANNUITANTS and their DEPENDENTS who are eligible for those programs is waived if the insured EMPLOYEE, ANNUITANT or DEPENDENT is required to pay a premium to enroll in the hospital portion of Medicare (Part A). However, if Part A is not elected, the reduced PREMIUM rate is not available.
- 3) If a Medicare coordinated family PREMIUM category (i.e. a Medicare Family 1 contract) has been established for a family, and one or more family members enrolled in both parts of Medicare dies, the family PREMIUM category in effect shall not change to a higher premium rate solely as a result of the death.

A *Medicare Eligibility Statement* (<u>ET-4307</u>) and a copy of the Medicare card is used to inform ETF of the Medicare effective dates. ETF will mail the *Medicare Eligibility Statement* to the retiree for completion. Please provide ETF with a copy of the retiree's Medicare card, when available. A copy of the *Medicare Eligibility Statement* is available in Appendix A.

4) U.S. residents, retired employees and their spouses and/or dependents participating in the State Group Health Insurance Program who are Medicare enrolled, will be automatically enrolled in the Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan, which is offered by Navitus Health Solutions and underwritten by Dean Health Insurance Inc., a federally qualified Medicare contracting prescription drug plan.

The prescription drug coverage under this program is Medicare Part D coverage. In addition, supplemental "Wrap" coverage, which pays secondary to the Medicare Part D plan, is also provided. A retiree's monthly health insurance premium includes a portion that applies to this program's coverage. Retirees may choose to enroll in another Medicare Part D plan, but it is not recommended or required. Retirees who choose to enroll in another Medicare Part D plan will be dis-enrolled from the ETF's Medicare Pharmacy Part D plan. However, they will still maintain the supplemental "Wrap" coverage, which will be secondary to the other Medicare Part D plan. There is no partial premium refund for enrolling in another Medicare Part D plan.

1201 G) Medicare Data Match:

The Medicare Secondary Payer (MSP) provisions of the Social Security Act state that Medicare may seek to recover a mistaken primary payment from "any entity which is required or responsible" to pay for medical services under a primary plan. The Medicare Data Match Project is a federal program administered by Coordination of Benefits & Recovery (COB&R), that requires employers and HEALTH PLANS provide information about specific current or former employees covered under the employer's health insurance program.

ETF has established a Voluntary Data Sharing Agreement (VDSA) with Medicare that transfers Medicare information on insured members multiple times a year. The VDSA has eliminated the need for most Medicare Data Match activities.

If Medicare paid a claim(s) as the primary carrier, when in fact, the employer's group health plan was ET-1118 Chapter 12 (REV 12/18/2023) Page **96** of **168** <u>Back to Top</u> the primary carrier, the HEALTH PLAN is responsible for reimbursing Medicare for the claim(s) and COB&R will contact the HEALTH PLAN and employer. If these inquiries are not handled timely, employers may receive collection notices issued by the Department of Treasury (Treasury) or an entity at the direction of the Treasury for repayment of claims.

Employers may need to submit information to COB&R or another entity regarding the employment status of the employee or former employee. The HEALTH PLAN is responsible for resolving discrepancies in claims payments for all Medicare Data Match inquiries. In certain situations, HEALTH PLANs may inform COB&R or another entity that they are not responsible for payment under the terms of their contract. Occasionally the employer or HEALTH PLAN may not have been specific enough in their explanation, resulting in Medicare or another entity pursuing the employer for repayment of a benefit paid. You should receive documentation of any HEALTH PLAN's response to Medicare.

ETF strongly recommends keeping full documentation of any correspondence with COB&R or another entity regarding Medicare Data Match requests. It is the employer's responsibility to keep complete records, including copies of the HEALTH PLAN's response to Medicare.

Medicare does have the right under federal law to collect the money paid in error from the employer. However, it is our view that the employer should not have to pay the amount owed if the matter is properly referred to and handled by the appropriate HEALTH PLAN. Reasons the employer should not have to pay include:

- 1) The claim has already been paid
- 2) The claim is the responsibility of the HEALTH PLAN
- 3) Medicare is the primary payer

If you receive a letter from a Medicare intermediary or a collection agency on behalf of the Treasury, indicating that money is due and/or that money will be taken from your agency's federal funding, please follow these steps:

- 1) Verify that the employee was identified to COB&R or other entity through a data match request and review your records concerning each individual to make sure that you have all the documentation and copies of the documentation from the HEALTH PLAN. *HEALTH PLANs are to respond to COB&R or other entity following the federal procedures.*
- 2) Contact the HEALTH PLAN's representative to reach their current Coordination of Benefits (COB) person. Make sure that COB person has a copy of the documents and they are working on this with Treasury as a priority. Follow up with the HEALTH PLAN if the matter is not resolved in a timely manner.
- 3) Contact your legal counsel for assistance.
- 4) You may need to prepare a letter to the requestor. Talk about this with the HEALTH PLAN's COB person. You may use the attached Sample Letter.

Sample Letter

I am writing regarding Debt Identification Number	,	which is addressed in
the enclosed copy of your letter, dated		<u>_</u> .

I challenge the assertion that the (*Employer Name*) owes Medicare \$. It is my belief that all claims are payable, or have been paid, by (*HEALTH PLAN's name*), the health plan with whom (*employee's name*) had health insurance coverage, or, the claims are not covered as a primary benefit under the State of Wisconsin group health plan.

(*Name of individual and Health Plan*), is processing all appropriate claims. You may contact (*him/her*) at:

(Health Plan Contact Name

Plan Name Plan Address)

(*Name of Plan Contact*)'s phone number is (*plan contact's phone number*). If you have any questions, please contact (*Plan contact's name*); otherwise, she/he will respond, as soon as is practicable, to specific requirements in your (*date*) letter.

Sincerely,

Enclosure

cc: (*Plan Contact Name/Plan*) Arlene Larson, ETF

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Chapter 13 — Employee Death

1301 How to Report an Employee Death
1302 Surviving Spouse and Dependents
1303 Surviving Spouse who is also an Employee Eligible for Coverage

1301 Report an Employee Death to ETF Immediately

In the event that an employee dies, please contact the Department of Employee Trust Funds immediately to report the death. Contact ETF via phone at 1-877-533-5020 or by visiting our website at <u>etf.wi.gov</u> and using the *Contact ETF* function.

The employer is responsible for determining and entering the health insurance coverage end date in myETF Benefits. For both single coverage and family coverage, the end date is the end of the month of the employee's death. A payroll refund may be required.

Employers must pay health insurance premiums for insured, eligible survivors of a law enforcement officer, as defined in Wis. Stat. 66.0137 (1) (am), who dies in the line of duty, per 2019 Wisconsin Act 19. If such an employee dies, contact ETF for assistance.

1302 Surviving Spouse and Dependents

1302 A) In the event an employee or annuitant with family health coverage dies, the surviving spouse and/or eligible dependents will continue coverage as required by Wis. Adm. Code § ETF 40.01, except as provided for in 1402 D. Coverage shall be effective on the first day of the calendar month following the date of death of the insured EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT. The surviving spouse may continue coverage indefinitely; dependent children (as defined in 302) may continue coverage as long as they remain eligible under the program.

1302 B) When employment ends for a state employee due to death and family coverage is in place, the deceased state employee's family coverage continues through the end of the month that premiums have been deducted. All insured surviving dependents remain covered on the family contract. Premiums deducted from the deceased employee's pay are not refunded. There will be no other employer contribution towards the monthly premium, except as provided for in 1302 D.

1302 C) If the surviving spouse and dependents do not wish to continue coverage, ETF must receive a signed written request. Should the surviving spouse (or retiree) and dependent(s) not elect to continue coverage, coverage will end at the last day of the month for which premiums have been paid.

Upon notification of the death of an employee or annuitant who has family coverage, ETF will send the surviving spouse and dependents information about continuation rights and use of sick leave credits to pay health insurance premiums. Premiums are due no later than the first of the month following the last month through which the decedent's premiums are paid. Premiums will be deducted from accumulated sick leave conversion credits or any WRS annuity the dependent may be receiving. If there is no sick leave or annuity, or the annuity is insufficient to allow for the deduction of the premium, the survivor ET-1118 Chapter 13 (REV 12/18/2023) Page **99** of **168** Back to Top

must pay the premium directly to the health plan.

Survivors may not add persons to the policy who were not covered at the time of death, unless:

- 1) the individual was previously insured under the contract of the deceased employee and regains eligibility or
- 2) a child of the EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT who was in the process of being adopted by the deceased EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT prior to death and is subsequently adopted by the surviving spouse or
- 3) a child born within nine months after the death of the EMPLOYEE or ANNUITANT.

These DEPENDENTS will be eligible for coverage under the survivor's contract until such time that they are no longer eligible.

If an active state employee is covered under a spouse's insurance plan outside of the State Group Health Insurance Program (through a private employer or a participating local employer) and the state employee dies, the surviving spouse does not have access to the deceased state employee's accumulated sick leave.

Note: The employer must promptly certify accumulated and supplemental sick leave credits through the Accumulated Sick Leave System (AcSL) upon the death of an employee (refer to the *Sick Leave Conversion Program Employer Manual* (ET-1170).)

1302 D) In the event a law enforcement officer employee with family health coverage dies in the line of duty, the employer must continue to pay health insurance premiums for the surviving spouse and/or eligible dependents as required by 2019 Wisconsin Act 19. Contact ETF for assistance.

1303 Surviving Spouse who is also a State Employee Eligible for Coverage

When an employee with family coverage dies, and the surviving spouse is also an eligible employee, the insured surviving spouse has two options:

- 1) Enroll as an employee and receive the employer contribution share toward premium. This allows the surviving spouse/dependents the right to lifetime coverage even if the spouse does not meet the retirement eligibility requirements.
 - a. If the surviving spouse and/or dependent(s) are already covered under the State Group Health Insurance Program, the decedent's sick leave credits will automatically be banked for use.
 - b. Once the decedent's sick leave credits are banked, the surviving spouse and/or dependent(s) may use the banked sick leave credits when one of the following occurs:
 - i. An involuntary loss of health insurance coverage (e.g., terminating employment).
 - ii. A retirement; in order to use the deceased employee's inactivated sick leave credits, the spouse must meet the eligibility requirements upon retirement as stated in Chapter 10, subchapter 1001.
- Enroll as the surviving spouse and retain coverage indefinitely as indicated in subchapter 1302. Premiums will be paid through accumulated sick leave conversion credits, WRS annuity, or directly by the surviving spouse/ to the health plan.

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Chapter 14 — Invoicing

- 1401 <u>Viewing Your Invoice</u>
- 1402 <u>Reconciling Your Invoice</u>
- 1403 Accepting and Paying Your Invoice (Wismart and Automated Clearing House (ACH)
- 1404 Late Interest Charge
- 1405 Who to Contact for Assistance

1401 Viewing Your Invoice

Reports and remittances from employers required in the administration of the group health insurance program shall be submitted to ETF no later than the 24th day of the calendar month for the current month's coverage. The remittance by the employer shall be the amount invoiced by ETF.

Each month, ETF invoices employers for coverage for the current month based on all active health insurance contracts in the myETF Benefits system. myETF Benefits is the system of record for health insurance eligibility, premium invoicing to employers, premium payment to ETF by employers and premium payment to health plans and the program's pharmacy benefits manager (Navitus) by ETF. Employers view their monthly invoice in the myETF Benefits system. Access to the myETF Benefits System is through the On-Line Network for Employers (ONE).

		CURRENT PR	OCESS (2017)	
	Coverage Month	ETF Generates Employer Invoices	Premiums due from Employers to ETF	
State Active	January 2017	January 1, 2017	January 24, 2017	
	January 2017		January 24, 2017	
State		December 1-10,		
Annuitants	January 2017	2016	December 27, 2016	

1401 A) Invoice Generation

During the evening on the first day of every month, the myETF Benefits system initially generates an invoice for health insurance premiums for all state employers. This invoice is generated in a locked status, meaning any enrollment information received after this date appears on the following month's invoice. An email is sent to all employer's authorized agent and insurance contacts to alert them that an invoice is available for their review. An example of such an email is below:

			1040	traine's base	- South the Wey, All	Cartol In Chicago	e(Nai Set)	
Source X Co Co To Marrier Sylande - Desire Rock Reply Towards To Marrier All Marrier - Marrier To Marrier	Apresta Constructional School & Denter Construction	Eg la Masiger V Conte New Y Conte New		Autor Di Oreficte Mations *	Mark Category Unreal	AL dito	ded - Yourn	
Sectorspace (set or ETF Health Insurance Invoice Sys Health Insurance Invoice Ready for May, 2014 (c. Theorie, Sec.)		y@ethnaler	state.	WL(25.3)				
nul#*** TrLANE OD NOT REVENDE TO THIS EMAL. Tour prefimienty May 2014 linearth Insurance Innois through the normal suddle process. An updated in For questions on how to correct the contracts show for questions on accepting and paying your involve Thank you for using the Watcohin ETF Health Insur Link to OWE she: <u>http://wflonkey.ul.gou/one.html</u>	te is now publishie. I nance will be produc wn on your invoice, p e, please contact Cu encer invoice Sydem	ed after we process dense contact the 1 corner Service at 15	your tean Insurance	sections, and y Administration	ou will receive an e	nal prompting ye	uto revew and	

The email address used is the one provided on the *Online Network for Employers* Security Agreement (ET-8928) when requesting access to the myETF Benefits system. The invoice charges premiums for the current calendar month on all health insurance contracts that are active in that month.

1401 B) Deadlines for Accepting Monthly Invoices

Once an invoice is generated by the myETF Benefits system, an authorized employer representative can accept that invoice at any time. This is done by accessing the myETF Benefits system and going to the *Health* drop-down and selecting *Premium, Employer Invoice*. If the invoice has not been accepted, on the 15th of every month the myETF Benefits system will send an email to the person authorized to accept the invoice to remind them that the employer invoice has not been accepted. An example of such an email is below.



The latest date an employer must accept the invoice is the 24th of each month. If the employer invoice is not accepted by 5:45 p.m. on the 24th of each month, any

unaccepted employer invoice will automatically be accepted by the myETF Benefits system. See Section 1503 for more information on accepting and paying the monthly invoice and due dates.

1401 C) Viewing the Employer Monthly Invoice

To access the monthly employer invoice, authorized users log into the myETF Benefits system. Once logged in, the first screen displayed to the user will be the myEmployer Info screen.

 The user should then click on the 'Health' tab. From the drop-down, move the mouse to the 'Premium' button. Hover over the 'Premium' button to display the 'Employer Invoice' and 'Member Invoice' buttons. Hover your mouse over 'Employer Invoice' and click on that button. myETF Benefits will take the user to the next screen—Employer E-mail Check.



2) On this screen, the agent or authorized user can use this screen to view and update their individual email contact information by clicking on the *employer email address* update link. If the user is not updating their email contact information, click the 'Continue' button to move to the Health Insurance Invoice Summary screen.

Retf							TF Benefit				
estadouted adheses a	-	1.84	Dealers	uiti	Ober Deadly	Tool Texanol	inte	Log Diff			
		1000	to an orbit edition of	an incosed for po				Ander yn ar an swaar. Waar fan is en and relaer de fals serene is e	calificat frankis groups	 n lynn	
Click here to update myETF b	e your email tenefits Sys	laddres dect.	is in the				Carina	1			

3) The Health Insurance Invoice Summary screen provides the user with the ability to search for the invoice by coverage month and year. Users can review the current coverage month's invoice or previous invoices. This screen also provides employers with the invoice amount, invoice number, invoice date, accept date, accepted by, employee share field, initial payment late indicator, and interest amount. The employee share field is a field the employer is **required** to make an entry in once it is determined how much of the invoice amount is the employee share.

At the bottom of the Health Insurance Invoice Summary are the '*Invoice Detail*', '*Contract Activity*' and '*Accept*' buttons. The '*Invoice Detail*' and '*Contract Activity*' applications are used in reconciling the invoice and are discussed in subchapter 1402. The '*Accept*' button is used once the invoice has been reconciled and the

employer is ready to accept the invoice and pay the invoice amount. Refer to subchapter 1403 for more information and instructions on accepting and paying your invoice.



1402 Reconciling Your Invoice

To ensure employers are accurately paying the premiums due for their employee's health insurance coverage, the invoice amount and invoice activity must be reconciled each month against the employer's payroll system. To reconcile the monthly invoice, employers have available to them the "Invoice Detail" and "Contract Activity" applications. In addition, employers have access to two reports to utilize in their reconciliation effort, the "Enrollment Report" and "Premium Report".

1402 A) Premium Report - Employer Premium Inquiry

Under Premium Report, the Employer Premium Inquiry application is the best application available in myETF Benefits for employer use in reconciling the monthly invoice. It provides specific details on who an employer is paying for on an invoice for the coverage month being invoiced and any adjustments in previous months for the current calendar year or previous calendar year. Access to the Employer Premium Inquiry application is gained under the '*Health*' tab.

 Upon logging in to myETF Benefits, hover over the *Health* tab. A dropdown will appear with '*Inquiry*', '*Member Enrollment*', '*Premium*', and '*Termination of Coverage*' visible. Hover over *Inquiry* which will make available the options of *Enrollment Reports* and *Premium Reports* in a drop-down to the right. With your mouse, hover over *Premium Reports*. The '*Premium Inquiry*' tab will now be available. Hover over

	a free free free free free free free fre	en testapet me	140	
-		Tagitya Bara	INVESTIGATION AND A DESCRIPTION	
Padl Income	Chinese .			
_	April Colum			
	April Carta 1		Insurance Contact	
Ranke: Ivergenerati	ADDRESS ADDRESS	Rate: Internet	ACCESS ADDRESS OF THE PARTY	
	Referenced Contact		Address Internation	
		-	THE R MANNER INC.	
Second Telephone	annes staute		HIGH THE HIGH THE	
Telephone	980,394 7987	Agent Front		Non-
	from it the second in white		and produce place and a Designation of Agent	

'Premium Inquiry' and click on that tab.

2) When the '*Premium Inquiry*' application opens, you will get the following screen. The user

must set the search filters for coverage month and year, health plan and coverage type.

Retf	myl TE Benefits Admin (hegelyes feasile benesses frankes began)
nginginganan nginangan nan	Instrume Instrume

The following illustrates the results once the search filters are set and the user clicks '*Display*'. The results being displayed will provide the specific details of the employees for whom you are being billed or refunds are being generated on that coverage month's invoice by health plan and coverage type with the specific premium amount. A separate line will display for an adjustment that is refunding premiums to the employer for any month(s) in the current year or previous year and a separate line will display any adjustment that is charging premiums to the employer for any month(s) in the current year.

The user can click on '*Clear*' and set new filters from the drop-downs, then click '*Display*'. The user can also go directly to the drop-downs, select new filters, then

click 'Display' again without clearing the screen.

The 'Save As' button provides the user the ability to take the information being displayed and move it to an Excel spreadsheet. Using the Excel spreadsheet allows the user to sort however they wish and run it against their payroll system in their reconciliation effort.

Pet	f							ETF Benefit	_	>							
at of part	-	Aurit	3.44	Duckety	- unc	(Mari Hyrodila)	Banistana	Aug	Light								
Click the	dropciown ty records pe	K page	.g to 100		in. Co		ISC TS DATE SERVICIES THE CONST ALL ALL ALL OBSERVE	(Butracia har 201 -]•	Click the	re to expor		Excel		e this field failts by Mi SSN or	t to search index ID o
these of the	all the second			-		-			-		- and a		-	-			au .
* Prod	Det Secto	Canari Code	Cov Tiple Top	5 . 55N	Member O	Latting	e Peshaek	Cov Et Date	Cen Dip Date	Pres Cov Exp Date	Prov V: Ad Months	Pres V/ AQ Phoreani	Der th All	Cur th Ad Promium	Goss Psinkes	Gon Beg Are	Total Arr
The Participan	contra Xumil											-					
					Guni Tr	64 C					18	10-00	10	\$5.00	12115 8 16 50	1 at 10	1340.636.0
House the	Red Brookley P	tread thin i	71 KARA pressing											_		100	and the st
12	and the second second																

Constant Sector	And 100 X X ■ 7 X 1		20 Marge & Comm. 1	5 - 12	Gendlines' Remail as 1 pergeting: Table 1		Fel Colores	Cont		And Dise for	The Cov	27 dia bink find k biner laket
	A		er 3	Server 1			N/H			00		hidrog .
		6	0			6	14	1		×		и
Deployer Group N Class	unber Program Option Code Post Post Post Post Post	Burcharge Code 1601 5605 500 500 501 501	Health Cernier Code	Coverage Type Cod To To To	e Engloyee Type Co Top Top Top	de SSM	Menber (C	Last name	First rans			age Type = Pres Cos Exp D
0418 0416 0416			10 m	10	20					2004-01-01		

In addition to the functionality of creating an Excel spreadsheet, employers have the ability to sort the data retrieved by each specific column without creating an Excel spreadsheet. This is accomplished by clicking on the arrow symbol (highlighted) just under each column name.

n Opt Surch Code Type SSN Member Last Name First Name Date Date Over Date Months Premium Months Premium Premium Antt	n .	Prog Surt	tig Camer Code	Cov Type	Empe Type	SSN	Member ID	Last Name	First Name	Cov Eff Date	Cov Exp Date	Prev Cov Exp Date	Prev Yr Adj Months	Prev Yr Adj Premium	Cur Yr Adj Months	Cut Yr Adj Premium	Gross Premium	Gross Surg Amt	Total Amt
--	-----	-----------	-------------------	-------------	--------------	-----	--------------	-----------	------------	-----------------	-----------------	-------------------------	--------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	------------------	----------------------	-----------

1) Invoice Detail

Access to the Invoice Detail application is gained through the Health Insurance Invoice Summary screen. This is reached by clicking on Health, Premium, Employer Invoice as previously shown. Click on the '*Invoice Detail*' button to open the application.

eff									a Admin		
Ley						<	Thraffi Inc	and the second	a fuerers		
ed.migen											
ingEnglagerande ingelesenters	math	100	Country .	wis	Timer Search	a los has		1810	Logical		
						in	voice a	nd Payme	et Summar	v	
						Fer 1001	1167.0	NET OVER DE	UST FUNDS, DE	Pror	
				Heart	ince Contact is	JOANNE K	RAUSE	603-296-73	67. It not com	nd, plana cal (600) 201	1-0004
					with by Country						
				SA:	with l	lane -	e .		Year	2014 W	
								manage los des	w 2014		
				instant.				8.05			
				broke Streeks D	an.						
				Accept Di Accepted	2						
				England				346			
				to Biel Pay Internet A	met Lehit			8.00			
							Aine 20	14 Pretriku	n Due: 0.00		
Click here to as	cess the in-	olce Detail	Screen			Beauty of Data	4	Contract	Activity	Arrest	

The information displayed is the total number of contracts being billed on the invoice. The information is broken down by health plan, employee type and coverage level.

The application totals the contracts into one group total and assesses the Employee Reimbursement Accounts Administrative Fee that is added to the total invoice amount. This application does not provide specific employee information for whom the employer is being billed.

Retf		myETF Benefits Admin					
Experience adventor (4) avoide	i anta i alka ganzo i kankanana i k	Health Insurance Invoice for June, 2014	Number of contracts by carrier/coverage type,	Premium ty	e and number av	Prior month (justments by incoverage type	Premium total by carrier/ coverage type
Enveloper Nammen Enveloper Namm Program San Ingeloper Options	NOT THE CONTRACTOR AND A STREET			(Annu Longon) (Sum	(1966)		1
Group Date scatter or parts office						1	-
to beam server actor	Protocology and	Construction ()	Receiption in which the	104.71	101176	100 M	1an.N
	man for the				1,010,000		hard Pe
II Decision	100 MA216 180114	SNLF	2.1	6 A 10	N 11 M		1.11
		-	274		101.00	*10	and be
	their Re-Tela		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		process.	+==	1910
to onti consects	17475 (1895-1716) - 1, 17760			Hertze (647.20	410	
		-	8		MT 24	*10	M733
to test i un eller co-	that we contained	fam.r		Contract.	Card at		toni ai
			A2		0,001.00	8.50	1.001.00
	manth fact laws				0.00146	*10	Longer
Des las			*		100.00	430	100.0
Gree H					100.4	430	1,92.41
Displayer Renderman Accounts Adventising Free			+	840	110		1.00
Taxana					4,001.00	1.0	400.00

1402 B) Contract Activity

Access to the Contract Activity application is gained through the Health Insurance Invoice Summary screen. Click on the *'Contract Activity'* button to open the application. ET-1118 Chapter 13 (REV 12/18/2023) Page **107** of **168** <u>Back to Top</u>
letf	myETF Benefits Admin	
and and gene	WES Other Statelity Test Support Tests Lag OF	
	Invoice and Payment Summary	
	Fear BOTH FITE LI IF MPLOYOR: TREST FLIMOR, DEPT OF	
	Insurance Contact is JOANINE KRAUSE 608-295-7357. If not correct, preses call (\$30) 251-0064.	
	See S by County March (Jan	
	Summary for June 2011	
Click here to access the Contract Activity screen. This will disclay the adds, terms, and	Invite Ansam I.B. Invite Sumain Ansam Dae Ansam Dae Ansam Dae Ansam Dae	
coverage level changes (as adds and terms)	Initial Papercell Labort	
that occurred during the innuce period. The does NOT show all individuals who are on the employers invoice, only those with changes.	Autor 2014 Premium Duce 8:00 Instant Date: 8:00 Instant Date: 8:00 Instant Statist	
In Taken Billing N. Keys Will		

This application has limited use in the reconciliation process. It does not identify for the employer all the employees included in the invoice amount. It only identifies which specific employee is being added to coverage or terminated/deleted from coverage and the retroactive premium adjustments being calculated. Activity is displayed by health plan and lists employee type, coverage type, the activity (ADD, TERM, or DELETE), the date the activity was created, employee's Social Security number, employee's name, coverage effective date, coverage expiration date (if applicable), previous expiration date on a reinstatement, premium and adjustment for premium.

The adjustment indicates the amount being charged or refunded. There is a current year adjustment and previous year adjustment field that will indicate the number of months for which premiums are being charged or refunded. The '*Save As*' button provides the employer with the functionality to move this data to an Excel spreadsheet. From there, the data can be sorted however the employer wishes to in their reconciliation effort.

Pe	tf					enefits Admin	>					
Employerints	myVanber	s Health	Lite C	Disability WRS	Other Benefits	Maintenance	Help	Leg Off	Cies	, here to export the	recort as a	n Excel
Employer Num Employer Nam Program/Surci	ne: harge Option		P01/S01	Health Ir What happened TRUST PUNDS, DEPT OF	When it happened	act Activity for June		Invoice Summary	Invoice Detail	heet. You can then desined for use in Save As	reconciliatio	n.
Group: 83 Health Plan	1479 EMPLOY	Employee Type	Coverage Type	Activity	Activity Greate Date	SSN Name		Coverage Effective Date	Coverage Expiration Date	Previous Expiration Date (Re-instatement)	Premium	Adjustme

1402 C) Enrollment Reports – Enrollment Inquiry, Dependent Inquiry and Address Inquiry

Under Enrollment Reports, the "Enrollment Inquiry" application, "Dependent Inquiry" application and "Address Inquiry" application are available. These reports are useful for tasks and employer needs to track, but not useful for reconciliation of your invoice. The three enrollment reports are described in this chapter.

The Enrollment Inquiry is very similar to the Premium Inquiry. This report will tell you specificallyET-1118 Chapter 13 (REV 12/18/2023)Page 108 of 168Back to Top

which employee has active coverage under the employer's group number on a specific coverage month. However, this application will not provide any information regarding previous months and previous year premium adjustments or current month premiums.

The Dependent Inquiry allows an employer to obtain a list of dependents, including spouses, stepchildren, grandchildren, children, and legal wards. This assists the employer in determining which dependents will be aging out (turning 26) and who will need to receive COBRA applications as well as if the subscriber's contract needs to be changed to single because the dependent aging out was the last dependent on the contract. This should be viewed for dependents up to 90 days out to have the earliest warning that a dependent will be aging out of coverage. ETF populates the termination date of adult dependents 90 days in advance of their age out. So, if we are in the invoice month for May, an employer can pull the July invoice dependent report to view those dependents who will be aging out between the current invoice and the July invoice.

The Address Inquiry provides a listing of address changes made for employees within the last 30, 60 or 90 days. Larger employers should refrain from requesting this information for more than 30 days as there could be a delay in results due to the volume of staff the employer has.

All of these reports can be exported by clicking Save As and then can be sorted as an Excel document to assist the employer with their various coverage and eligibility reconciliations, but not invoice reconciliation.

1403 Accepting and Paying Your Invoice

Wismart Automated Clearing House (ACH)

1403 A) Accepting the Invoice:

After viewing and reconciling the invoice, employers must accept the invoice.

1) Key in the Employee Share amount and then click the '*Accept*' button on the Invoice and Payment Summary screen.

On the next screen, review the invoice details and if everything is okay, click *'Confirm'*. Employers will then receive an email acknowledging the acceptance of the invoice. If an invoice has not been accepted by the due date, the system will automatically accept it on the employer's behalf that night. The employer will receive an email letting them know that the system has accepted the invoice and they need to submit a payment.

Accepting and confirming the invoice does not mean a payment has been initiated.

Note: To reduce timing related issues with acceptance of invoices, please do not accept invoices between the hours of 5:40pm and 8:15pm.

ETF may lock your invoice while making changes to it.

1403 B) Paying the Invoice:

ETF uses myETF Benefits as the system of record. The *invoice premium due* field is the amount owed

to ETF. The invoice reflects what ETF will remit to the health plans on behalf of the employers.

State employers are set up to pay by Automated Clearing House (ACH).

1403 C) Automated Clearing House (ACH):

For state employers paying by ACH, after confirming their invoice they will be automatically taken to the US Bank E-Payment Log In screen. They can Log In, Register, or Pay Without Registering.

Log In – User should select this option if they have already registered for an account. This is separate from ETF's Online Network for Employers (ONE) or myETF Benefits and uses a different User ID & Password.

Register – Simply follow the prompts to create an account. Registering allows users to save their contact and banking information. Registered users can also view their account information including prior and pending payments.

Pay Without Registering – This option allows a user to pay the invoice without having to log in to an account. The contact and banking information has to be keyed, but does not get saved for future use.

Welcome to t	he Electronic Payment System
Please enter your User ID	and Password and click Log In.
User ID	Forgot Your User 10?
Password	Forgot Your Password?
Log In	
Register	
Pay Without Registering	

Next will be the Make a Payment screen.

CCo.	100	Make life simple	
Your last visit was Thu 10/03/2013 11:23 AN	ГСОТ	Make a Payment	My Account
Make a Payment			
My Payment			
Payment for Your Organization			
Amount Due \$4	5.00		
Due Date 10	15/2013		
Account Number 32	14568		
Payment Information			
Frequency Or	ne Time 🗾		
Payment Amount \$4	5.00		
Payment Date @	Pay now		
// 135530 000 2015 2016 U.S.	Pay on a future date		
Payment Method			
Saved Payment Methods Se	lect	Use a new payment acco	unt
Email Address to	st.user@corp.com		
Continue Cancel			

This will have 3 sections.

- 1) **My Payment** This will show the Amount Due and Due Date
- 2) **Payment Information** This is where users will select their payment terms
 - a) Frequency Select One Time.
 - b) Payment Date Select either Pay Now or Pay on a future date.
 - i) Selecting Pay on a future date allows the user to select the date the funds will be withdrawn. It can be any date in the future, but preferably on or before the due date.
 - a. If the user is not using a registered account, the user will get a Contact Information Section to fill out.

Contact Information		
First Name	Test	
Last Name	User	
Company	(Optional)	
Address 1	123 S. Main	
Address 2	Apt. 24	
City	Springfield	
State	n. 🔳	
Zip Code	12345	(Optional)
Phone Number	1231231234	
Email Address	test.user@d	corp.com
	Become a Re	gistered User

- 3) **Payment Method** If a user is registered this will be the saved banking account.
 - a) If a user is paying without registering, the user will need to fill in the banking information.

1	iample Check 23 Main St. Inytown, MO 12345 wethor	1215
	Bank Routing Bank Account	01215
1000	Personal (Check <u>Business</u> Ch
Bank Routing Number		
Bank Account Number		
Bank Account Number Bank Account Type	€ Checking C Savings	unt

Once all 3 sections are complete, click 'Continue'.

The Review Payment screen will appear. Verify that it's correct. If okay, user can click

'Continue'.

Review Payment		
Please review the information below and select Confirm to process your	payment. Select Back to return to the previous pay	ge to make changes
to your payment.		
Payment Details		
Description KR Corp Payment for Your Organiz www.krcorp.com	ation	
Payment Amount \$45.00		
Payment Date 09/19/2013		
Payment Due Date 09/30/2013		
Payment Method		
Account Nickname visa		
Payer Name Test User		
Card Number *1111		
Expiration Date 3ul-2015		
Card Type Vise		
Confirmation Email test,user@corp.com		
Billing Address		
Address 1 123 S. Main		
Address 2 Apt. 24		
City Springfield		
State IL		
Zip Code 12345		
Confirm Back		
day		
bank	Customer Service Helo Priv	

If successful, a printable Confirmation Page appears that will include a confirmation number. The user will also receive an email with the confirmation number and payment details.

Confirmation		
Thenk you for your payment,		
Please keep a record of your Confirmation Number, or acciding page for your record	66. ⁻	
Confirmation Number KATABC000001543		
Payment Details		
Description KR Chrp. Peyment for Your Organization www.krosty.com		
Payment Amount \$45.00		
Payment Date 00/19/2013		
Payment Due Date 09/30/2013		
Status PROCESSED		
Daymant Method		
Account Nickname visa		
Payer Name Tast User		
Card Number *1111		
Card Type Vise		
Confirmation Email test.user@corp.com		
Ralling Addresse		
Address 1 123 D. Nam		
Address 2 Apt. 24		
City Springheid		
State 1.		
Zip Code 12345		
bank	Customer Service Help Price	cy Policy At

Upon successful completion, the payment will post to the employer's invoice at 11:00 a.m. on the payment date selected.

There is no direct link to the U.S. Bank E-Payment Service so if an employer exits before scheduling a payment they will need to log back into myETF Benefits. Instead of the 'Accept' button, the employer will see a 'Pay' button. Click 'Pay' and then 'Confirm' on the next screen. The 'Pay' button is displayed until a payment has been posted to the invoice.

If a warning message displays stating that the invoice may have already been paid, employers should check their records. Here are four ways to check if payment has been previously made:

- 1) Check for print out of E-Payment Confirmation Page.
- Check emails Employers would have received an email with the payment details and a confirmation number.
- Call ETF using the phone number listed on the invoice Staff will be able to look up any scheduled payments.
- Continue to the US Bank E-Payment Service and Log In if they are a registered user.



2) If there is no pending payment, the user should select the 'Make a Pavment' tab and complete the process to submit a payment.

1404 Late Interest Charge

Payment is due the **24th of every month**, with exceptions being weekends and US Bank holidays. If a payment is received after the due date, then a late payment interest charge will be applied to the employer's invoice based on the following calculation:

Interest Charge = Invoice Premium Due x Number of days late x 0.04%

The interest charge will be assessed after the payment has been submitted and should be paid as soon as possible. Employer's paying by ACH must log in to myETF Benefits and select the invoice month and year that received the interest charge. There should be an outstanding amount due. Just click on '*Pay*' and it will take you through the normal ACH payment process via the US Bank E-Payment System.

Other Features - My Account:

Users can view other features in the 'My Account' tab.

1) My Profile – This is where a user's Contact Info and Log In Details are stored. Changes can be made here as needed.

ly Contact Information		
First Name	Test	
Last Name	User	
Company	(Optional)	
Address 1	123 S. Main	
Address 2	Apt. 24	
City	Springfield	
	n. 🖃	
Zip Code		
	(123)123-1234	
Emoil Address	test.user@corp.com	
Login Details		
User ID	krtest1	
Password	Change my Password	
Security Question	What was the name of your childhood best friend?	3
Answer	Sue	
Security Question	What is your favorite sports team?	2
Answer	Spartans	
Security Question	What is your mother's maiden name?	-

2) Payment Methods – This will list any saved banking accounts. If users need to update their banking information this is where they will need to go. They have the option to edit or delete an existing account and to add a new account by selecting Add a Payment Method. 3) Electronic Payment History – This is where users can go to view past payments. Status will be marked as Processed. Data can be sorted by any of the columns and there is also a search filter.

				1111		Add a Payment Method
Nickname	* Method	\$ Тур	pe	Number	\$ Actions	
Test Visa	Credit	Visa	59	*1111	Edit Delete	

My Profile | Payment Methods | Scheduled Payments | Electronic Payment History

how 25 💽 entries					Search Filter:		
Confirmation Number	. \$	Payment Date	٠	Amount‡	Payment Method	Status	4
KATABC000001537		09/11/2013		\$45.00	*1111	PROCESSED	
KATA8C000001530		08/27/2013		\$45.00	*1111	PROCESSED	
KATCON000001528		08/27/2013		\$60.20	*1111	PROCESSED	
KATCON000001525		08/19/2013		\$60.20	*1111	PROCESSED	
KATA8C000001521		08/15/2013		\$45.00	*1111	PROCESSED	

1405 Who to Contact for Assistance

For help accepting an invoice, paying an invoice, or logging into the US Bank E-Payment System please contact:

Laura Vang: 1-608 261-0064 or laura.vang@etf.wi.gov.

Rolanda Franklin: 1-608-266-0781 or rolanda.franklin@etf.wi.gov.

Chapter 15 — Glossary of Definitions

"ACCESS PLAN" means the nationwide health care benefit plan available to all PARTICIPANTS offered by the BOARD as provided by § 40.52 (1).

"ANNUITANT" means any retired EMPLOYEE of the State of Wisconsin: receiving an immediate annuity under the Wisconsin Retirement System, a currently insured recipient of a long-term disability benefit under Wis. Adm. Code § ETF 50.40, a currently insured recipient of a disability benefit under Wis. Stat. § 40.65; or a terminated EMPLOYEE with 20 years of creditable service.

"BENEFITS" means the services that are paid for as a part of your coverage under the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program.

"BOARD" means the Group Insurance Board.

"CONTINUANT" means any SUBSCRIBER enrolled under the federal or state continuation provisions as described in Article 2.9.

"CONTRACT" means this document which includes all attachments, supplements, endorsements or riders.

"DEPENDENT" means, as provided herein, the SUBSCRIBER'S:

- 1) Spouse.
- 2) Child.
- 3) Legal ward who becomes a permanent legal ward of the SUBSCRIBER or SUBSCRIBER'S spouse prior to age 19.
- 4) Adopted child when placed in the custody of the parent as provided by Wis. Stat. § 632.896.
- 5) Stepchild.
- 6) Grandchild if the parent is a DEPENDENT child.
 - a) A grandchild ceases to be a DEPENDENT at the end of the month in which the DEPENDENT child (parent) turns age 18.
 - b) A spouse and a stepchild cease to be DEPENDENTS at the end of the month in which a marriage is terminated by divorce or annulment.
 - c) All other children cease to be DEPENDENTS at the end of the month in which they turn 26 years of age, except that:
 - i. An unmarried dependent child who is incapable of self-support because of a physical or mental disability that can be expected to be of long-continued or indefinite duration of at least one year is an eligible DEPENDENT, regardless of age, as long as the child remains so disabled and he or she is dependent on the SUBSCRIBER (or the other parent) for at least 50% of the child's support and maintenance as demonstrated by the support test for federal income tax purposes, whether or not the child is claimed. If the SUBSCRIBER should decease, the disabled adult DEPENDENT must still meet the remaining disabled criteria and be

incapable of self-support. The HEALTH PLAN will monitor eligibility annually, notifying the EMPLOYER and ETF when terminating coverage prospectively upon determining the DEPENDENT is no longer so disabled and/or meets the support requirement. The HEALTH PLAN will assist the ETF in making a final determination if the SUBSCRIBER disagrees with the HEALTH PLAN determination.

- ii. After attaining age 26, as required by Wis. Stat. § 632.885, a DEPENDENT includes a child that is a full-time student, regardless of age, who was called to federal active duty when the child was under the age of 27 years and while the child was attending, on a full-time basis, an institution of higher education.
- d) A child born outside of marriage becomes a DEPENDENT of the father on the date of the court order declaring paternity or on the date the acknowledgment of paternity is filed with the Department of Health Services (or equivalent if the birth was outside of Wisconsin) or the date of birth with a birth certificate listing the father's name. The EFFECTIVE DATE of coverage will be the date of birth if a statement or court order of paternity is filed within 60 days of the birth.
- e) A child who is considered a DEPENDENT ceases to be a DEPENDENT on the date the child becomes insured as an eligible EMPLOYEE.
- f) Any DEPENDENT eligible for BENEFITS who is not listed on an application for coverage will be provided BENEFITS based on the date of notification with coverage effective the first of the month following receipt of the subsequent application by the EMPLOYER, except as required under Wis. Stat. § 632.895 (5) and 632.896 and as specified in 403 D.

"EFFECTIVE DATE" means the date, as certified by ETF (or as shown on the records of the HEALTH PLAN for PARTICIPANTS who pay premium directly to the HEALTH PLAN), on which the PARTICIPANT becomes enrolled and entitled to the BENEFITS specified in this CONTRACT.

"EMPLOYEE" means a person who is working for pay as an eligible EMPLOYEE of the State of Wisconsin as defined under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (25) (a), 1., 2., or (b), 1m., 2., 2g., or 8.

"EMPLOYER" means an eligible State of Wisconsin agency as defined in Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (54).

"ETF" means the Department of Employee Trust Funds.

"FAMILY SUBSCRIBER" means a SUBSCRIBER who is enrolled for family coverage and whose DEPENDENTS are thus eligible for BENEFITS.

"HEALTH PLAN" means the licensed insurer that is under CONTRACT with the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program to provide BENEFITS and services to PARTICIPANTS.

"**INDIVIDUAL SUBSCRIBER**" means a SUBSCRIBER who is enrolled for personal coverage only and whose DEPENDENTS, if any, are thus not eligible for BENEFITS.

"INPATIENT" means a PARTICIPANT admitted as a bed patient to a health care facility or in 24-hour home care.

"IT'S YOUR CHOICE" see OPEN ENROLLMENT.

"LAYOFF" means the same as "leave of absence" as defined under Wis. Stat. § 40.02 (40).

"MINIMUM ESSENTIAL COVERAGE" means an insurance plan that meets the Affordable Care Act

requirement for having health coverage. Minimum essential coverage is sometimes called qualifying health coverage.

"OPEN ENROLLMENT" means the yearly period referred to in ETF materials where all members may make changes to their Group Health Insurance Program BENEFITS. Eligible I EMPLOYEES and ANNUITANTS under Wis. Stat. § 40.51 (16) to enroll for or transfer coverage to any plan offered by the BOARD as required by Wis. Stat. § 40.51. The dates for this time period are set each year by ETF and the Group Insurance Board.

"PARTICIPANT" means the SUBSCRIBER or any of his/her SUBSCRIBER'S DEPENDENTS who have been specified by ETF to the HEALTH PLAN for enrollment and are entitled to BENEFITS.

"**PREMIUM**" means the rates shown on Attachment A plus the pharmacy rate and administration fees required by the BOARD. Those rates may be revised by the HEALTH PLAN annually, effective on each succeeding January 1 following the effective date of this CONTRACT. The PREMIUM includes the amount paid by the EMPLOYER when the EMPLOYER contributes toward the PREMIUM.

"SUBSCRIBER" means an EMPLOYEE, ANNUITANT, or his or her surviving DEPENDENTS, who have been specified by ETF to the HEALTH PLAN for enrollment and who is entitled to BENEFITS.

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Appendix A — Forms and Brochures

Document name	Form number	Link
WRS Administration Manual	ET-1127	etf.wi.gov/resource/wisconsin-retirement- system-administration-manual
State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program Agreement	ET-1136	etf.wi.gov/resource/2022-state-wisconsin-group- health-insurance-program-agreement
Group Health Insurance Application	ET-2301	etf.wi.gov/publications/et2301.pdf
Health Insurance Application/Change for Retirees & COBRA Continuants	ET-2331	etf.wi.gov/publications/et2331.pdf
COBRA Continuation Conversion Notice	ET-2311	etf.wi.gov/publications/et2311.docx
Rehired Annuitant Form	ET-2319	etf.wi.gov/publications/et2319.pdf
Converting Your Group Life Insurance to Pay for Health Insurance or Long Term Care Insurance Premiums	ET-2325	etf.wi.gov/publications/et2325.pdf
Group Health Insurance	ET-4112	etf.wi.gov/publications/et4112.pdf
Sick Leave Conversion Credit Brochure	ET-4132	etf.wi.gov/publications/et4132.pdf
Sick Leave Escrow Application	ET-4305	etf.wi.gov/publications/et4305.pdf
Medicare Eligibility Statement	ET-4307	etf.wi.gov/publications/et4307.pdf

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Appendix B — Codes

- 1. <u>Employee Type Codes</u>
- 2. Coverage Type Codes
- 3. Individual Relationship Codes
- 4. Health Plan Codes

1) Employee Type Codes

Code	Employee Coverage	Description
01	State-elected	Legislators, state constitutional officers, circuit, supreme court, or appeals judges, chief clerk or Sergeant-at-Arms of the Senate or Assembly
02	Regular State	State Employee
03	UW Classified	UW other than faculty.
04	UW Unclassified	UW Faculty
05	Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT)	For use by Beyond Vision (aka WISCRAFT) only - for blind employees.
07	State Annuitant	Retired employee who is eligible for health insurance.
08	State Surviving Spouse/Dependent	Used for survivors of currently insured subscriber who dies while carrying family health insurance coverage.
10	State Continuant	ETF Use Only - Continuant
11	State Participant – 1991 WI Act 152	Terminated State Employee with at least 20 years of creditable service.
12	Graduate Assistant	Graduate Assistants, employees in training, short-term academic staff, fellows, and scholars.
13	Continuant- Graduate Assistant	ETF Use Only - Graduate Assistant Continuant.
17	LTE	Limited term employees.
19	State Fallen Officer Survivor	Survivors of Fallen Officers receiving health insurance
21	State Annuitant Split	Retired employee who is eligible for health insurance and has selected two health plans.
23	State Surviving Spouse/Dep Split	Used for survivors of currently insured subscriber who dies while carrying family health insurance coverage and has selected two health plans.
26	State Continuant Split	Continuant who has selected two health plans.
28	State Cont. Grad Assistant Split	Graduate Assistant Continuant who has selected two health plans.
29	State Participant – 1991 WI Act 152 Split	Terminated State Employee with at least 20 years of creditable service who has selected two health plans.

2) Coverage Type Codes

Code	Type of Coverage	Description
01	Single	Coverage is for the subscriber (employee) only.
02	Family	Coverage is for the subscriber (employee) and eligible dependent(s).
03	Graduate Assistants - Single	Coverage is for the subscriber Graduate Assistant (employee) only.
04	Graduate Assistants - Family	Coverage is for the subscriber Graduate Assistant (employee) and eligible dependent(s).
05	Medicare - Single	Single coverage for annuitant or continuant subscriber with Medicare.
06	Medicare Family - Some– Health Plan Med	Family coverage for annuitant or continuant subscriber; one or more persons with Medicare.
07	Medicare Family - All	Family coverage for annuitant or continuant subscriber, subscriber and all dependents with Medicare.
12	Medicare Family Some – Med Advantage	Family coverage for annuitant or continuant subscriber; one or more persons with Medicare. Two health plans selected and the Medicare plan is Medicare Advantage.
22	Medicare Family Some – Med Plus	Family coverage for annuitant or continuant subscriber; one or more persons with Medicare. Two health plans selected and the Medicare plan is Medicare Plus.

3) Individual Relationship Codes

Code	Definition
01	Spouse
03	Parent of Minor Dependent
15	Legal Ward
17	Stepson or Stepdaughter
18	Self
19	Child
24	Dependent of a Minor Dependent

4) Health Plan Codes 2024 CARRIER CODES FOR HEALTH INSURANCE

НМО	НМО	HDHP	HDHP	
Dental (Y)	Dental (N) (LAHP)	Dental (Y) Dental (N)		HEALTH CARRIER NAME
04	OL	JL	XL	IYC ACCESS HP - DEAN
07	00	JO	ХО	SMP - DEAN
08	OP	JP	ХР	MEDICARE PLUS - UHC

20	00	IC	VC	
38	OS	JS	XS	COMMON GROUND
15	NC	HC	WC	DEAN HEALTH PLAN
17	ND	HD	WD	DEAN HP PREVEA360 EAST
24	OR	JR	XR	DEAN HP PREVEA360 WEST
18	OG	JG	XG	UHC MEDICARE ADVANTAGE
30	NG	HG	WG	GHC EC GREATER WI
31	ОТ	TL	ХТ	GHC EC RIVER REGION
35	NH	НН	WH	GHC-SCW DANE CHOICE
36	OX	XL	XX	GHC-SCW NEIGHBORS
63	NN	HN	WN	MEDICAL ASSOCIATES HEALTH PLAN
64	NO	НО	wo	MERCYCARE HEALTH PLAN
70	NP	HP	WP	NETWORK HEALTH
79	OV	JV	XV	SECURITY
85	NS	HS	WS	HEALTHPARTNERS WEST
19	OW	JW	XW	HEALTHPARTNERS SOUTHEAST
96	ос	JC	XC	QUARTZ-UW HEALTH
98	ОН	JH	ХН	ROBIN WITH HEALTHPARTNERS
25	OI	II	XI	ASPIRUS HEALTH PLAN
91	OJ	IJ	LX	QUARTZ CENTRAL
99	ОК	JK	ХК	QUARTZ WEST

Department of Employee Trust Funds State Agency Health Insurance Employer Standards, Guidelines and Administration Manual

Appendix C — myETF Benefits

- C-1 How to Log Into myETF Benefits
- C-2 Add Coverage
- C-3 Add Dependent
- C-4 <u>Remove Dependent</u>
- C-5 Change Health Plans
- C-6 <u>Termination of Coverage</u>
- C-7 <u>Pending Transactions</u>
- C-8 Enrollment Inquiry
- C-9 Dependent Inquiry
- C-10 Address Inquiry
- C-11 Running Reports

C-1. How to Log into myETF Benefits

To get started in myETF Benefits you must first obtain access to the system by completing and submitting an *Online Network for Employers Security Agreement* (ET-8928) to ETF. Use this form to request access to myETF Benefits for administrators for the following areas:

- 1. Health Eligibility Inquiry
- 2. Health Eligibility Update
- 3. Health Premium Inquiry
- 4. Health Premium Payment
- 1. Once access has been granted, go to etf.wi.gov.



2. Under the Employers tab, choose Insurance Programs.



3. Click on MyETF Benefits Administrator.

myETF Benefits Administrator

The myETF Benefits Administrator (mEBS) Application for Employers allows employers to execute benefits transactions. These include, but are not limited to, viewing and updating individual member health insurance eligibility and demographic data, completing mass employee terminations, adding and deleting a dependent or domestic partner and updating health insurance enrollment data and personal contact information.

MyETF Benefits Administrator

4. Enter your user ID and password.

J	Administrator Log In
	access to the online services developed by the Department of unds (ETF) for administrators.
If you are already a r	Registered Users registered user, enter your user ID and password, then click the login button. User ID: Password: Login
If you have not yet registered Security Agree	New Users I for online access, click the Register Now button. You will be directed to an electro ement (ER-8928) to complete. Fax completed form to 608-266-5801.

5. Enter your employer number and click Verify.

etf.wi.gov	myETF Benefits Admin Employer Info									
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	Help	Log Off	
	En	nployer Specific F	unction - Emplo	yer Number Requ	iired					
Employer Specific Function - Employer Number Required Use this screen to specify the employer whose data you would like to access. You must provide the employer's seven digit employer number. You must have the authority to access the employer's data. Please enter the seven digit Employer Number and click Verify Employer Number:										
Verify										

6. You will be directed to the Employer Info screen, which displays employer contact information.

etf.wi.go	etf			myETF Benefits Admin Employer Info				
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	
Employer I	Number:	[-000	Employer	Name:			
	Agent Contect			lagurar	nce Contact			
	Agent Contact			Insulai	ice contact			
Name: Telephone:	(608) 267 - 8710		Name: Telephone:	(608) 267	7 - 1137			
	Retirement Contact			Address	Information			
			Address:	406	JR BLVD RM N, WI 53703-			
Name: Felephone:	(608) 266 - 9090		Acout Emails	3345		Mara	_	
			Agent Email:	ivo agent	email available.	Clear		
		_	Annhore Poquoste					

myMembers Requests New EIN

ET-1118 Appendix C (REV 6/1/2022)

C-2. Add Coverage

When a *Health Insurance Application/Change* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form has been received for one of the dependent reasons, all information on the form must be verified and the employer must complete the Employer Completes section. Any necessary documentation must be verified/approved. Refer to example below:

Employer Completes Coding instructions are in the Employer Health Insurance Administration Manual.							
EIN		Employer name			Payroll representative email		
0000-199	Ce	ntral Pay	roll		Jane. Doe @ central payroll. wi ga		
Group number	Employe	e type	Coverage type		Health plan name/su	ffix	
83900			🗌 Individual	🛛 Family	Pean		
Business Unit (if applicable)		Employment sta	tus of applicant		Employee deductions	S	
		🗹 Full time	Part time	🗌 LTE	🏹 Pre-tax 🔲 Post-tax		
Hire date or date WRS-eligible	e employm	ent or graduate	Employer receive	d date	Event date		Prospective coverage date
appointment began 2/4/19			212713	2019			5/1/2019
Are you a WRS-participa	ating em	ployer? 📈 Ye	es 🗌 No				
Previous service check	complete	ed? 🛛 🖾 Ye	es 🗌 No				
Source of previous servi	ice chec	k? 🛛 🖾 Or	nline Network fo	r Employers	(ONE) 🗌 ETF		
Did employee participate	e in the \	NRS prior to b	eing hired by yo	ou? 🗌 Yes	🔀 No		
Payroll representative signatu		Phone numbe		Date	signed		
Jane Doe					55-1234		3/1/2014

1. Log in to myETF Benefits. Before an employee can be enrolled in health coverage, their employer and demographic information must be entered. Select myMembers/myMembers tab as shown below.

etf.wi.gov	tf			
myEmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability
	myMembers			
	myMembers Requ	iests		

2. Enter the employee's ETF Member ID or SSN into the appropriate box and click the Search button. If an employee was or is a dependent or subscriber on another plan without WRS enrollment, they will have a member ID.

etf.wi.gov	tf							
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability				
	М	ember Search						
Member ID:	o	R Social Securi	ity Number:					
_	Search Name Search Clear							

An ETF Member ID is required to create a health contract. If an employee does not yet have an ETF Member ID in myETF Benefits, you will see the following message:
 This member was not found. If you believe you have received this message in error please try again.

Otherwise press the Add button to add this member to our database and assign them a member ID.

At this point, the employer can either:

- a. Enroll the employee in the WRS via ETF Web Applications for Employers at this link <u>etf.wi.gov/employers/wisconsin-retirement-system</u> to create a Member ID. or
- b. Create an ETF Member ID in myETF Benefits
- 4. If no demographic information appears, click the Add button.

Member ID:	12345621	OR Socia	I Security Numb	er:
	Search	Name Search	Clear Add	-

- Some of the demographic information is displayed on the myMembers screen.
 a. If demographic information appears, click Edit.

Edit	Print Member ID	
		Member Information
Date of Dea Gender: Marital Stat Marital Stat Employer:	XXX-XX-X333 Employee Example h: 08/23/1965 th: MALE us:	When an employee is enrolled in the WRS, this information will be displayed. If they are not enrolled in the WRS, this will be blank

6. Enter the employee's demographic information.

etf.wi.gov	J			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability
	N	lember Informatio	on	
Member ID: SSN:		(999999999)		
Name (First/Middle/Last/S	uffix):		Select One	~
Date of Birth: Gender: Marital Status:	01/21/1980 FEMALE		SINGLE, N	Status is NOT Marital Status REQUIRED.
Marital Status Date:	08/10/2012	(MM/DD/YYY)	0	
Employer: Employment Begin	Date:		0	~
myETF Benef	its Online applicat	ted if an employee ion) under another ate under Health/M		ployer information

Mailing address and phone number are required.

Mailing Address:							
Country:	UNITED STATES - US						
Address Line 1:	1234 5th ST						
Address Line 2:							
City States	MADISON						
City, State:	WISCONSIN - WI						
Zip Code:	537151228	(only numbers are allowed)					
Care of:							
Primary Phone:	6081234567 Ext.						
	(only numbers are allowed)						

After entering the required information, click Submit.



7. Review for accuracy and select the Finalist Address button if system prompted. If no finalist address exists or the entered address is correct per employee, click Entered Address and Submit again.



8. Click Confirm if correct or Cancel if you need to return to the previous page.

ett, wi.gov	myETF Benefits Admin Edit myMember
EmployerInfo myMembers Heatth Life Disability W	RS Other Benefits Reports Help Log Off
You have made the following changes. If correct, plea	ise press the Confirm button, or press the Cancel button to return back to the Edit page.
	Confirm Cancel Confirm data entered. Changes and additions will appear in red.
Member Information	Spouse Information



Note: This is the confirmation page. This confirmation screen provides you the ETF Member ID for this employee. The confirmation screen will show a summary of changes made and will have a print button in the upper right corner and a return to myMembers button at the bottom of the page.

To print the confirmation page, click on the green Print button in the upper right corner.

9. After review of myMembers is completed an employer can enroll an employee in the health insurance benefit program. Hover over the Health tab and select Member Enrollment from the menu. You must have completed the employee's enrollment in the employer's payroll system or have the employee complete a *Group Health Insurance Application* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually).

-	etf.wi.gov	f			
	EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health		Life
			Inquiry		
		\rightarrow	Member Enrollme	nt	
		-	Premium		
			Termination of Co	verage]

10. Enter the member's ETF Member ID or SSN and click Search.

etf.wi.gov	J			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability
	Μ	lember Search		
Member ID:		OR Social Securit	y Number:	
_	Search	Name Search	Clear	

11. The employee's Member ID, SSN, and name will appear below the Member Search bar. Click Add Coverage to begin the health enrollment.

Member ID:		SSN:	Subscriber:	
Add Coverage	\leftarrow			

12. **New Enrollment:** Start at the top of the screen. Select the appropriate Add Coverage reason from the dropdown list.

etf.w	ei.gov	J				
Employer	nfo	myMembers	Health	Lif	e	Disability
Bypass Calculate C Add Coverage Reason:	Select O IT'S YOU ADOPTIC BIRTH CHANGE IDOMEST ILIMITED MEMBEF NATION/	NE REPORT FOR ADOPTION REPORT FOR ADOPTION EMPLOYEE TYPE IC PARTNERSHIP TERM EMPLOYMENT VDEPENDENT LOSS OF OTHER CO AL MEDICAL SUPPORT NOTICE	DVERAGE/LOSS OF EMPLOYER C	ONTRIBUTION	Event Date: Employer R	eceived Date

13. Enter the Event Date (hire date or date of life event) and the Employer Received Date. Event Date and the Employer Received Date determine the coverage effective date.



TRANSFER FROM ONE STATE AGENCY TO ANOTHER WISCONSIN ACT 113

a. When the add coverage reason is NEW HIRE, the employee selects "as soon as possible" or "when my employer contributes to premium." This determines when coverage is effective.

• If the option AS SOON AS POSSIBLE is selected, an effective date is automatically generated for first of month on or after the hire date.

I WANT MY COVERAGE TO BE EFFECTIVE: As soon as possible O When my employer contributes to premium Note: If you select coverage to be effective as soon as possible you may be responsible for the entire monthly premium.

 If WHEN MY EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTES TO PREMIUM is selected, an employer can enter when coverage is effective. The employer will key the coverage begin date.



- b. If the new hire is not the Add Coverage reason, the system automatically generates a coverage effective date based on the event date and Employer Received Date.
- 14. Complete the Employment Details section. If it does not default to the correct employer, make the selection from the Employer dropdown list.

Employment Details:			
Employer: Previous Employer: N. Employee Type:	/A	 ✓ 	
		Program Option: P14	Surcharge: S01
Employment Begin Dat	te:		
Employment Status:	Select One FULL TIME ACTIVE EMPLOYEE LEAVE OF ABSENCE LIMITED TERM EMPLOYEE PART TIME ACTIVE EMPLOYEE		

15. Complete Coverage Selection section. If effective date the system provides is not what the employer expected, the employer may need to call ETF to discuss.



- 16. Complete the Contact Information Section
 - a. Select Yes to Updated Contact Information if something is changing. Select No if no contact information is changing.

Contact Information:
Update Contact Information: Select One
Address Line 1: 1909 PLEASAN NO
State: WISCONSIN - WI

When entering family coverage, review the employee's information and verify dependent information on the Group *Health Application/Change* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form. By default, an employee's record is first to display. Key all detailed information for each person on the plan. See instructions below.

Row	SSN	Name	e - First, MI, Last, Suffix
1		CYNTHIA	
Insura	ance: NO 🗸	Other Insurance Co:	Group No:
Medio	care: NO 🗸	Medicare: Select	✓ 1
	DOB	Gender	Relationship
	11/17/1955	FEMALE V	SELF
	Policy No:		
HIC N	umber:	MBI Number:	Med A Eff Dt:

Marital Status	Marital Status Date	Tax Dep	Disabled	Physician	Add/Remove Row
	12/22/2009	NO V	NO V	NO V	0
Med B Eff Dt:	Medicare Info Blank Reaso	ns: Select			~

- a. Complete the Insurance section for dependent being added:
 - Select No if there is no other health insurance coverage listed on the application for the employee.
 - Select Yes if there is other health insurance coverage listed on the application for the employee. Enter any information provided about the other insurance in the appropriate fields which open after Yes is selected.
- b. Complete the Medicare section for the dependent being added:
 - Select No if there is no Medicare coverage for the employee.
 - Select Yes if there is Medicare coverage for the employee. Complete the required Medicare information for the dependent in the appropriate fields which open after Yes is selected.
- c. Complete the Physician section for the dependent being added:
 - Select No if no Physician is listed on the application. Physician section can be left blank.
 - Select Yes if Physician is listed on the application and complete the fields.
- 17. To add additional dependents to the family contract, scroll to the right and click on the green (+) button below and click Submit when all the dependents on the application have been entered.



18. Verify the information entered is correct, check the box(es) and click Confirm.

By Confirming this request, I apply for or am ending the insurance under the indicated health insurance and agree to the <u>TERMS AND CONDITIONS and NONDISCRIMINATION DISCLOSURE</u>.

To the best of my knowledge, all statements and answers are completed and true. All information is t

Documentation is required to process this change. I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to provide th



19. Employer Confirmation and Verification: *Print* a copy of the confirmation screen (if desired) by clicking on the green print button in the upper right hand corner of the screen. An employer can view the contract the following day under Health/Member Enrollment.

etf.wi.gov	tf							its Admir dd Coverage			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Ber	efits Test	t Support	Help	Log Off	
		ETF Member ID:				SSN: XXX-XX-	K777				Subscriber:
			Your request has	been submitted a	nd will be pr	ocessed overnig	ht.				🖨 Print
						Return to H	ealth Enrolln	ment Summar	У		
			Application Info	rmation NEW	HIRE						
			Health Plan	Coverag	e Level B	Begin Date En	d Date Em	nployer			
		l		SINGLE			AD	MINISTRATIO	N, DEPT OF		
			Covered Individ	ual Detail Summ	ary						
			Name	DOB	Gender	Relationship	Marital Stat	tus Marital	Status Date	Begin Date	End Date
					MALE	SELF	SINGLE			04/01/2015	
Employee Trust Funds	301 W Badger Rd Madi:	son, WI 53713									

Note: When a second check box displays, documentation is required to be submitted to ETF to be eligible for that add reason. The pending contract will go into "Waiting for ETF Approval" status until ETF receives a copy of the required documentation. Once the documentation has been received, reviewed, and approved by ETF, the transaction will be approved and processed overnight. If ETF does not approve the documentation, the employer will be contacted with the reason why and what, if any, additional documentation is needed for processing.

C-3. Add Dependent

When a *Health Insurance Application/Change* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form has been received for one of the Dependent reasons, all information on the form must be verified and the employer must complete the Employer Completes section. Any necessary documentation must be verified/approved. Refer to example below:

Employer Completes Coding instructions are in the Employer Health Insurance Administration Manual.								
EIN			er name			Payroll representative email		
0000-199	Central Payroll				Jane Doe @ central payroll. wi.go			
Group number	Employe	e type	Coverage type		Health plan name/suffix			
83900	83900		🔲 Individual 🛛 Family		Dean			
Business Unit (if applicable) Employment sta			tus of applicant	us of applicant Employee deductions				
	🗹 Full time	Part time	LTE	🏹 Pre-tax 🗌 Post-tax				
Hire date or date WRS-eligible	e employm	ent or graduate	Employer receive	d date	Event date P		Prospective coverage date	
appointment began Q/4/19			212710	2019			5/1/2019	
Are you a WRS-participa	ating em				•			
Previous service check	complete		es 🗌 No					
Source of previous servi	ice chec	k? 🛛 🖾 Or	nline Network fo	or Employers	(ONE) 🗌 ETF			
Did employee participate in the WRS prior to being hired by you? 🗌 Yes 🛛 No								
Payroll representative signatu	re			Phone numbe		Date	signed	
Jane Doe				(605)5	55-1234		3/1/2014	

1. Verify the members' demographic information is correct, select myMembers under the myMembers tab.



- a. Click the Edit button on the bottom of the screen to update existing information.
- b. When an address is updated, the system will request USPS verification of the address. Always select the Finalist Address
- c. Once edits are complete, click Submit.
- d. Review the data (all changes and additions will appear in red).
- e. Click Confirm if correct, or Cancel to return to the previous screen.
- f. The Confirmation Page can be printed by clicking the green Print button.

Enrollment Screen: To enroll a dependent, select Member Enrollment from the dropdown list under the Health tab.



2. Enter the employee's ETF Member ID or SSN into the appropriate box and click the Search button or click Enter.

etf.wi.gov	tf			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability

Member Search
Member ID: OR Social Security Number:
Search Name Search Clear

3. When an employee's record returns, click Edit button on the line of the Active contract to begin the health enrollment process.

ett.wi.gov	tf								IF Benefit urance Enrolli	t s Admin ment Summary		
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	Help	Log Off			
									Member S	Search		
							Member ID:		OR So	ocial Security Number:		
							S	Search Name Se	earch	red Individual Search	Clear	
				Member ID:				SSN:			Subscriber:	100000
		Hea	alth Plan		(Coverage Level		Begin Da	e	End Date	Status	Employer
View Edit					F	AMILY		01/01/201	6		ACTIVE	MADISON, CITY OF - P14/S01 \$1627.08
View Edit					F	AMILY		06/30/199	6	12/31/2015	ENDED	MADISON, CITY OF - P02/S01 \$1729.30

4. Check Add Dependent and click Continue and select a reason for adding the dependent. Enter the event date and employer received date.



5. Select the appropriate Reason for Adding Dependent from the dropdown list.

etf.wi.gov	ţf			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability

Reason for Adding Dependent:	Select One
\rightarrow	IT'S YOUR CHOICE ENROLLMENT PERIOD ADOPTION/PLACEMENT FOR ADOPTION BIRTH CREATION OF DOMESTIC PARTNERSHIP DISABLED DEPENDENT OVER AGE 26 ELIGIBLE DEPENDENT NOT REPORTED ON INITIAL ENROLLMENT LEGAL WARD LOSS OF OTHER COVERAGE/EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION MARRIAGE NATIONAL MEDICAL SUPPORT NOTICE

6. Complete the Event Date (date of qualifying life event) and Employer Received Date. The Effective date will auto-populate based on the Event and Received dates entered.



7. Complete the Identification section.


- 8. Complete the Other Health Insurance section.
 - a. Select No from the dropdown menu if there is no other health insurance coverage listed on the application for the dependent.
 - b. Select Yes from the dropdown menu if there *is* other health insurance coverage listed on the application for the dependent. Enter any information provided about the other insurance in the appropriate fields.

Other Health Insurance: Choose 🗸

- 9. Complete the Medicare section.
 - Select No from the dropdown menu if there is no Medicare coverage for the dependent.
 - Select Yes from the dropdown menu if there is Medicare coverage for the dependent. Complete the required Medicare information for the dependent in the appropriate fields.

Medicare: Choose V

11. Complete the Physician section for the dependent being added. The Physician section can be left blank if physician information is not available.

Physician:

National Provider ID:	OR	Physician Last/Clinic Name:
Physician First Name:		

12. Click Submit.

Submit	Cancel
--------	--------

13. Verify data entered and click Confirm

By Confirming this request, I apply for or am ending the insurance under the indicated health insurance and agree to the <u>TERMS AND CONDITIONS and NONDISCRIMINATION DISCLOSURE</u>.

To the best of my knowledge, all statements and answers are completed and true. All information is t

Documentation is required to process this change. I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to provide the pro

Confirm	Cancel

Note: When a second check box displays, documentation is required to be submitted to ETF to be eligible for that add reason. The contract will go into "Waiting for ETF Approval" status until ETF receives a copy of the required documentation. Once the documentation has been received, reviewed and approved by ETF, then the transaction will be approved and processed overnight. If ETF does not approve the documentation, the employer will be contacted with the reason why and what, if any, additional documentation is needed for processing.

14. **Employer Confirmation and Verification:** *Print* a copy of the confirmation screen (if desired) by clicking on the green print button in the upper right hand corner of the screen. An employer can view the contract the following day under Health/Member Enrollment.

etf		Benefits Admin Enrollment Add Dependent		
rennfo myMembers Health Life Disability WRS Other Bene	its Reports Maintenayce Help L	og Off		
Your request has been submitted and will be processed overright. EFF Member 10: Employer: CENTRAL PAYROLL EMPLOYEE TRUST	FUNDS - P01/501 5694 46	SSN: Health Plan: GHC SOUTH CENTRAL V	14	Subscriber: Coverage Level: SINGLE
		Report Enrollment Change Add Additional Eligible Dependence	🔁 Print	
See	Reason for Adding Dependent: ADOPTIONPLACEMENT F Bypass Calcula	OR ADOPTION Event Date: 02 Employer Received Date: 02 te Coverage Effective Date Edit? : Effective Date: 02/	20/2020	
	Isation First Name BEDREAM Middle Islat Last Name Member (D.	Gender MALE V Date of Brith Date of Death Martial Status Martial Status Date	Y	
	Tax Dependent (YES V Disabled (KO V Begin Date: 62/15/2920 End Date:	ETP's Insurance: PRIMARY V Relationship QHLD Standard Plan Wait Indicator HD V	v	
	Insurance:NO	Group Number Policy Nu	mber	
	Addiare Eigbility Reason: Select One HIC Number MBI Number	Medicare & Effective Date Medicare B Effective Date Medicare Info Blank Reasons		
Physic		ast/Clinic Name: Physician First I	lame:	
Return to Enrollment Summary	Return to Report	Enrollment Change	Add Additi	onal Eligible Dependen
If no other action to perform, click to return to the contract summary		perform r action		to Add another dependent

- 15. Click Return to Enrollment Summary to return to the active contract.
 - To perform an additional change, click Return to Report Enrollment Change button. Example of multiple changes: Add Dependent and Change Health plan or Remove Dependent and Change Health Plan must be keyed in myETF Benefits on the same day.
 - Add or Remove Dependent first and then Change Health Plan. If an employee is electing to Add or Remove and Change Health Plan because of a Life Event, BOTH changes MUST be performed on the same day for the system to correctly process the changes under one life event reason (Birth, Marriage, Divorce, etc). If these steps are performed on two separate days, the change in health plan will not process.

C-4 Remove Dependent

When a *Health Insurance Application/Change* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form has been received for one of the Dependent reasons, all information on the form must be verified and the employer must complete the Employer Completes section. Any necessary documentation must be verified/approved. Refer to example below:

Employer Completes Coding instructions are in the Employer Health Insurance Administration Manual.							
EIN	Employe	er name	1.		Payroll representative	e email	
0000-199	Ce	ntral Pay	roll		Jane. Doe	20	central payroll. wi gov
Group number	Employe	ee type	Coverage type		Health plan name/su	ffix	
83900			🗌 Individual [🛛 Family	Dean		
Business Unit (if applicable)		Employment sta	tus of applicant		Employee deductions	5	
🗹 Full time 🗌 Part time 🔲 LTE			LTE	🛛 Pre-tax 🔲 Post-tax			
Hire date or date WRS-eligible	employm	ent or graduate	Employer received	date	Event date Pro		Prospective coverage date
appointment began $2/4/19$			212712	019			5/1/2019
Are you a WRS-participa	ating em	ployer? 📈 Ye	es 🗌 No				
Previous service check	complete	ed? 🛛 🖾 Ye	es 🗌 No				
Source of previous servi	ce chec	k? 🛛 🖾 Or	nline Network for	Employers	(ONE) 🗌 ETF		
Did employee participate in the WRS prior to being hired by you? 🗌 Yes 🗵 No							
Payroll representative signature Phone number				er	Date	signed	
Jane Doe				(605)5	55-1234		3/1/2019

1. Verify the demographic information is correct, choose the myMembers tab and select myMembers.



- a. Click the Edit button on the bottom of the screen to update existing information.
- b. When an address is updated, the system will request USPS verification of the address. Always select the Finalist address.
- c. Once edits are complete, click Submit.
- d. Review the data (all changes and additions will appear in red).
- e. Click Confirm if correct or Cancel to return to the previous screen.
- f. The Confirmation Page can be printed by clicking the green print button.

To remove a dependent from an existing contract, hover over the Health tab and select Member Enrollment from the dropdown menu.



2. Enter the member ETF ID or SSN and click Search button.

	etf.wi.gov	tf							myE
Ī	EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	Help
				Memt	ber Searcl	h			
	Member ID: OR Social Security Number:								
			Sea	Na	me Search	Clear			

3. When the employee's record returns, click Edit button on the line of the Active contract.

ett.wi.gov			myETF Benefits Health Insurance Enrolling			
EmployerInfo myMembers	Health Life Dis	ability WRS Other Benefits Repo	orts Help Log Off			
			Member Se	arch		
		Memb	er ID: OR Soci	al Security Number:		
			Search Name Search Covere	d Individual Search	lear	
		Member ID:	SSN:		Subscriber:	10000
	Health Plan	Coverage Level	Begin Date	End Date	Status	Employer
View Edit		FAMILY	01/01/2016		ACTIVE	MADISON, CITY OF - P14/S01 \$1627.08
View Edit		FAMILY	06/30/1996	12/31/2015	ENDED	MADISON, CITY OF - P02/S01 \$1729.30

On the next screen, select Remove Dependent and continue.

l like to:	ADD DEPENDENT					
	🔿 CHANGE HEALTH PLAN 🕝					
	REMOVE DEPENDENT					
	Continue Cancel					

4. Select a Reason to remove the dependent and check the box next to the dependent to be removed and click Submit.

etf.wi.gov	tf			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability

Reason for Removing Dependent:	Select One
	CHANGE FAMILY TO SINGLE COVERAGE
	DEATH OF DEPENDENT
	DIVORCE
	ELIGIBLE FOR OTHER GROUP INSURANCE

5. Complete the Event Date (date of qualifying life event) and Employer Received Date (date application was received by employer).

Event Date:	01/13/2019	MM/DD/YYYY
-------------	------------	------------

Employer Received Date: 01/23/2020

 When Divorce is selected, an additional box will display for the Date of COBRA Notice. Enter the "Date Notice Provided" from the *Continuation – Conversion Notice* (ET-2311). This date determines the termination of coverage date for the former spouse and stepchildren.

Reason for Removing Dependent: DIVORCE	~	Event Date:	MM/DD/YYYY
Employer Received Date:	Date of COBRA Notice:		

a. When removing the spouse and step-children but maintaining Family coverage and the notification date is not within the same month as the divorce (event), the coverage will end at the end of the month of the COBRA (ET-2311) notification date or the date of divorce, whichever is later.

Example: The divorce occurred on 1/21/2020, the ET-2301 was received by employer on 2/3/2020 and the ET-2311 notification date (the date the ET-2311 was sent to former spouse and stepchildren) is 2/5/2020, the health insurance coverage will term on 2/29/2020.

b. When changing coverage level from family to single due to divorce, the reason selected in myETF Benefits will be Change from Family to Single Coverage/not Divorce). Coverage will end at the end of the month in which the divorce (event) occurred or the COBRA notification date, whichever is later.

Example: Divorce occurs 1/21/2020, ET-2301 received by employer on 1/27/2020, and the ET-2311 notification date (the date the ET-2311 was sent to

former spouse and step-children) is 1/27/2020, the health contract will terminate on 1/31/2020. The spouse and step-children cannot be removed until the divorce is finalized. They are sent COBRA information and applications when they are removed from the plan.

- 7. Check the box next to the dependent to be removed and click submit
 - a. When the reason is Divorce, the system will automatically check the box next to the spouse and stepchildren
 - b. When the reason is Change from Family to Single Coverage, the system will automatically check the boxes next to all dependents other than the subscriber.

Select	Member ID	Name	Birthdate	Gender	Relationship
	-		-	MALE	SELF
				FEMALE	SPOUSE
	-		-	FEMALE	STEPCHILD
				MALE	CHILD
Submit	Cancel				

8. Verify the information is correct, check the boxes, and click Confirm.

By Confirming this request, I apply for or am ending the insurance under the indicated health insurance and agree to the <u>TERMS AND CONDITIONS and NONDISCRIMINATION DISCLOSURE</u>.

To the best of my knowledge, all statements and answers are completed and true. All information is t

Documentation is required to process this change. I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to provide th



Note: When a second check box displays, documentation is required to be submitted to ETF. The contract will go into "Waiting for ETF Approval" status until ETF receives a copy of the required documentation. Once the documentation has been received, reviewed and approved by ETF, then the transaction will be approved and processed overnight. If ETF does not approve the documentation, the employer will be contacted with the reason why and what, if any, additional documentation is needed for processing.

You must then either have the documentation in hand, expect to receive it soon, or request it from the employee at that time.

9. Confirmation and Verification: Verify the information entered is correct. The transaction will process overnight (or once ETF approves) and will transmit to the health plan via the nightly file. An employer can view the contract the following day. *Print* a copy of the confirmation screen (if desired) by clicking on the green print button in the upper right hand corner of the screen.
Hereiting the print of the print of the screen.



- 10. Click Return to Enrollment Summary to return to the active contract.
 - To perform an additional change, click Return to Report Enrollment Change button. Example of multiple changes: Add dependent and change health plan or remove dependent and change health plan must be keyed in myETF Benefits on the same day.
 - Add or Remove Dependent first and then Change Health Plan. If an employee is electing to Add or Remove and Change Health Plan because of a life event, *both* changes *must* be performed on the same day for the system to correctly process the changes under one life event reason (birth, marriage, divorce, etc). If these steps are performed on two separate days, the second change will not process.

C-5 Change Health Plans

When a *Health Insurance Application/Change Form* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) has been received for one of the Dependent reasons, all information on the form must be verified and the employer must complete the Employer Completes section, and any necessary documentation has been verified/approved. Refer to example below:

Employer Completes Coding instructions are in the Employer Health Insurance Administration Manual.									
EIN	Employe	er name	1.		Payroll representative	e email			
0000-199	Ce	Central Payroll			Jane. Doe @ central payroll. wi ga				
Group number	Employe	ee type	Coverage type		Health plan name/su	ffix			
83900			🔲 Individual	🛛 Family	Pean				
Business Unit (if applicable)	Employment status of applicant				Employee deductions	S			
		🗹 Full time	Part time	🗌 LTE	🏹 Pre-tax 🔲	Post-f	ax		
Hire date or date WRS-eligible	employm	ent or graduate	Employer receive	d date	Event date	Event date Prospective cov			
appointment began 2/4	/19		212713	2019			5/1/2019		
Are you a WRS-participa	ating em	ployer? 🗹 Ye	es 🗌 No						
Previous service check	complete	ed? 🛛 🖾 Ye	es 🗌 No						
Source of previous servi	ce chec	k? 🛛 🖾 Or	nline Network fo	or Employers	(ONE) 🗌 ETF				
Did employee participate	e in the V	WRS prior to b	eing hired by yo	ou? 🗌 Yes	🔀 No				
Payroll representative signature	re			Phone numbe	er	Date	signed		
Jane Doe		(605)5	55-1234		3/1/2019				

1. Verify the demographic information is correct; hover over the myMembers tab and select myMembers.



- a. Click the Edit button on the bottom of the screen to update existing information.
- b. When an address is updated, the system will request USPS verification of the address. Always select the Finalized address.
- c. Once edits are complete, click Submit.
- d. Review the data (all changes and additions will appear in red).
- e. Click Confirm if correct or Cancel to return to the previous screen.
- f. The Confirmation Page can be printed by clicking the green print button.

2. In myETF Benefits, hover over the myMembers tab and select myMembers from the dropdown menu.



3. Enter the ETF Member ID or SSN and click the Search button.

etf.wi.gov	tf							myE	
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	Help	
	Member Search								
Member ID: OR Social Security Number:									
Search Name Search Clear									

4. When the employee's record returns, click Edit on the line of the Active contract.

etf		myETF Benefits Admin Health Insurance Enrollment Summary									
EmployerInfo myMembers	Health Life	Disability WRS Other Benefits	Reports Help Log Off								
			Member	Search							
			Member ID: OR Se	ocial Security Number:							
			Search Name Search Cove	red Individual Search Clear	l						
		Member ID:	SSN:	Su	bscriber:						
	Health Plan	Coverage Level	Begin Date	End Date	Status E	mployer					
View Edit		FAMILY	01/01/2016		ACTIVE N	IADISON, CITY OF - P14/S01 \$1627.08					
View		FAMILY	06/30/1996	12/31/2015	ENDED N	IADISON, CITY OF - P02/S01 \$1729.30					

5. Check Change Health Plan.

I would like to:	ADD DEPENDENT					
	CHANGE HEALTH PLAN					
	REMOVE DEPENDENT					
	Continue Cancel					

Select the appropriate reason for changing health plan from the dropdown menu.

etf.wi.gov	tf			
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health	Life	Disability

Reason for Changing Health Plan:	Select One	
	IT'S YOUR CHOICE ENROLLMENT PERIOD	
	DUE TO ADOPTION/PLACEMENT FOR ADOPTION	
	DUE TO BIRTH	
	DUE TO CREATION OF DOMESTIC PARTNERSHIP	
	DUE TO MARRIAGE	
	LOSS OF MEDICARE ELIGIBILITY	
	MEDICARE ELIGIBLE	
	MOVE FROM SERVICE AREA	
	SUBSCRIBER LOSS OF OTHER COVERAGE/EMPR CONTRIBUTION	

6. Complete the Event Date (date of qualifying life event) and Employer Received Date (date application was received by employer).

Event Date: 01/13/2019 MM/DD/YYYY

Employer Received Date: 01/23/2020 MM/DD/YYYY

7. If the reason is move from service area, select the New Residential County from the dropdown menu. (There is an Out of State/NA option.)

8. Select a health plan from the dropdown list. *Note*: The End Date of the old health plan and the Begin Date for the new health plan automatically generate based on the Event Date and Employer Receive Date provided above.

		Health Pian						
	Current:		WE	A TRUST E/	AST			
	New: Non-	HDHP Health Plan	✓ Den [*]	tal Plan 🗸	Select One			
					DEAN HP DEAN HP PREV GHC EAU CLAIF GHC SOUTH CE HEALTHPARTN IYC ACCESS HF MEDICAL ASSO MERCYCARE H NETWORK HP QUARTZ COMM QUARTZ COMM QUARTZ UW HE ROBIN WITH HE SMP - WEA WEA TRUST WE WEA TRUST WE	RE ENTR/ ERS P - WE DCIATI P IUNIT EALTH EALTH ST EST C	AL WI EA ES HP Y H HPARTNER:	8
	Coverage Level	Begin Date	End Date					
	FAMILY	01/01/2016	01/31/2020		ite is driven			
	FAMILY	02/01/2020		by Eve				
rive		ffective Date i ate & Employe		e Employei ved Date	ſ			

- 9. Verify the member and dependent information on the bottom of the screen is correct. Make updates, if needed.
- 10. Click Submit.



11. Verify the correct health plan is keyed and click Confirm.

By Confirming this request, I apply for or am ending the insurance under the indicated health insurance and agree to the <u>TERMS AND CONDITIONS and NONDISCRIMINATION DISCLOSURE</u>.

To the best of my knowledge, all statements and answers are completed and true. All information is t

Documentation is required to process this change. I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to provide the



Note: When a second check box displays, documentation is required to be submitted to ETF. The pending contract will go into "Waiting for ETF Approval" status until ETF receives a copy of the required documentation. Once the

documentation has been received, reviewed, and approved by ETF, the transaction will be approved and processed overnight. If ETF does not approve the documentation, the employer will be contacted with the reason why and what, if any, additional documentation is needed for processing.

You must then either have the documentation in hand, expect to receive it soon, or request it from the employee at that time and submit it to ETF for review and approval.

12. **Confirmation and Verification:** Verify the information entered is correct. *Print* a copy of the confirmation screen (if desired) by clicking on the green print button in the upper right hand corner of the screen.



- 13. Click Return to Enrollment Summary to return to the active contract.
 - To perform an additional change, click Return to Report Enrollment Change button. Example of multiple changes: Add Dependent and Change Health plan or Remove Dependent and Change Health Plan must be keyed in myETF Benefits on the same day.
 - Add or Remove Dependent first and then Change Health Plan. If an employee is electing to Add or Remove and Change Health Plan because of a Life Event, BOTH changes MUST be performed on the same day for the system to correctly process the changes under one life event reason (Birth, Marriage, Divorce, etc). If these steps are performed on two separate days, the second request will not process.

C-6 Termination of Coverage

Termination of health insurance coverage can occur for multiple reasons. Some reasons require a *Health Insurance Application/Change* ((ET-2301) available on the ETF website and updated annually) form, such as Cancel Coverage due to eligibility for other group insurance. The remaining reasons, Death of Subscriber, Disability Approval (Non-ICI), Retirement, and Termination of Employment, do not require an application. In order to process the termination of a member's health insurance, you will need to follow the procedure listed below.

1. Under Health, select Termination of Coverage from the dropdown menu.



2. Enter the member's ETF Member ID or SSN. Tab over to the End Date field to enter the health contract termination date. Edit the Event Date and Received Date, if necessary. Leave the Begin date field blank. The Begin date will autofill once Reason is selected.

embers	Health	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benefits	Reports	Help	Log Off					
				Employe	er Number: 0991		auto-fill e Reason	Emple	oyer Name:				New E
				r provide the subsci ble coverage to be e		le dependents w			e (ET-2311) v	within 5 days of t	he qualifying event. In additio	n, if a subscriber is <u>volun</u>	tarily canceli
	Row	Member	SSN	Member ID	r Contract Status	Begin Date	Eve Dat		ceived Date	End Date		Reason	
	1	1		OR	ACTIVE	-	02/18/202	02/18/2	2020	02/29/2020	Select One		~
		1	Enter Me	ember ID	3	Edit, if ne	eded	Submit	Clear	2	Enter End Date		

3. Select the Reason for terminating the contract.

Employer Name: New EIN with a Continuation-Conversion Notice (ET-2311) within 5 days of the qualifying event. In addition, if a subscriber is voluntarily canceling coverage and the o voluntarily cancel outside of the *It's Your Choice* period. Event Date Received Date End Date Coverage Add/Remove Row Reason 01/31/2022 4/2022 01/04/2022 Select One Ω elect On CANCEL COVERAGE Submit Clear CANCEL DUE TO SPOUSE-TO-SPOUSE TRANSFER DEATH OF SUBSCRIBER DISABILITY APPROVAL (NON-ICI) INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION RETIREMENT TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Reports	Help I	Log Off					
)		Employer Name:	MADISON, CITY O	Select the Reason for	New EIN	J	
dependents with a cancel outside of the		ersion Notice (ET-2311) period.	within 5 days of the	terminating the contract	voluntarily canceling	coverag	e and the employe
Begin Date	Event Date	Received Date	End Date	Reason		overage Level	Add/Remove Ro
01/01/2018 ducted: Select One		02/18/2020	02/29/2020	Select One CANCEL COVERAGE CANCEL DUE TO SPOUSE-TO-SPOUSE TF DEATH OF SUBSCRIBER DISABILITY APPROVAL (NON-ICI)		AMILY	0
	l	Submit Clear		INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION LOSS OF MEDICARE ELIGIBILITY (FORCEI LOSS OF MEDICARE PART B COVERAGE NON-PAYMENT OF DIRECT-PAY SUBSCRI TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT			

4. When the reasons of Cancel Coverage is selected, a Premiums are deducted dropdown menu will appear. Select the appropriate option.

Contract Status	Begin Date	Event Date	Received Date	End Date	Reason	Coverage Level	Add/Remove Row
			02/18/2020	02/29/2020	CANCEL COVERAGE	FAMILY	0
Premiums are ded	Pre-tax: I an Pre-tax: I an Pre-tax: I an Pre-tax: My Pre-tax: I (a	overage may be can n terminating employ n going on an unpair n going to less than l employee premium	in other group coverage.				

When the other Reasons are selected, the Premiums are Deducted menu does not generate

5. Click Submit.



6. Verify the information and the termination date are correct. Click Confirm.

Suscriber Type	SSN	Member ID	Member	Health Plan	Coverage Level
Actual	-	-	-		FAMILY
Begin Date	Event Date	Received Date	End Date	Reason	
01/01/2016	01/28/2020	01/28/2020	01/31/2020	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
_		onfirm	Edit		

7. To view the termination date on the contract, go to Health, Member Enrollment and search with the Member ID. Employers will see a message in red stating that the



C-7 Pending Transactions

myMembers Requests is the home of several processing queues where all transactions and changes made on myETF Benefits will go while pending approval or if already approved, waiting for the overnight batch process. There are total of nine queues.

1. To access myMembers Requests, go to myMembers and click on myMembers Requests from the dropdown menu.

myEmployerInfo	myMembers	
	myMembers	
	myMembers Requ	ests

Verify

2. Enter your eight-digit employer number (ex: 0991-000) and click Verify. Please enter the seven digit

Employer Number and click Verify
Employer Number:

3. The Members Requests screen displays with default Request Status **PENDING**. Click the down arrow to view all Request Status.

Employer Number: 0991000	Employer Name:	
	Request Status: APPROVED - NOT APPLIED APPROVED - PROCESSING ERROR CANCELLED DENIED PENDING PENDING SICK LEAVE/CONVERSION REJECTED BY VALIDATION FILTER SPLIT CONTRACT INCOMPLETE WAITING ETF APPROVAL DISABLED WAITING FOR FTE APPROVAL	

Request Status Defined:

Approved: Approved transactions that are processed and complete.

Approved – Not Applied: Transactions entered same day but do not require ETF approval or ETF has approved and they are pending the nightly batch processing run

Approved – Processing Error: Transactions that failed the batch processing and may need to be reentered.

Canceled: Transactions that either the employer or ETF canceled prior to the nightly batch run.

Denied: Transactions that failed to meet eligibility requirements or the documentation supplied was insufficient or incorrect.

Pending: If a member (employee) requested a log-in and password and went in and keyed their own changes, then the transaction would go into the "Pending" queue. The Pending queue is the only queue in which the employer can approve a transaction.

Waiting for ETF Approval – Disabled: Transactions with a member adding an adult dependent older than age 26 who is disabled. The transaction will stay in this queue until the disability verification process has been completed and ETF has received a copy of the health plan disability approval letter from the health plan for the dependent.

Waiting for ETF Approval: Transactions that require additional documentation prior to approval. If you had to check two boxes on the confirmation screen, it means that the transaction will wait until ETF receives and reviews the submitted documentation and thus approves the transaction.

Transactions that are in *Pending, Approved-Not Applied, Waiting for ETF Approval – Disabled* and *Waiting for ETF Approval* can be edited, if necessary. When Edit is selected, you are returned to the entry screen and you will follow the same submission procedures as before.

Note: Editing a contract does not always work!

Sometimes editing a waiting contract instead of canceling and starting over causes more issues with contract Begin and Effective dates.

4. Select Request Status – (e.g. WAITING FOR ETF APPROVAL) from the dropdown menu and click Search.

ov	Status.	ITING FOR	ETF APPROVAL	Ť					
	The most comm		e default, however, you]				
	narrow the sear	ch by entering a	iny or all of the informa	tion below. 🔤	oyer Name:	1	New EIN		
1	Request Status: PENDING	~	ALL V	Benefit Program		Request ALL	~	Request Date:	(MM/YYYY)
F	Reason for Request. ALL Employer Contact:		Request From Date:	(11/100/00/17)	Ma Request To Date:	8X Rows: 50 V	Employer Action Date: Member ID:	(AMA(1111))	
				Search	Clear				
	\rightarrow	Search	Clear						

5. The transactions that fit the search criteria will generate. Click Select button to view the transaction you want to view or approve

Show 10	✓ entries	-	May to dis	change splay or	the nu the s	Can change the number of requests		
	Member ID ≎	¢ Mem	ber	Request Date ≎	Benefit Program ≎	Requ ≎	shown on each page	
Select			-	01/28/2020	HEALTH	ADD DEPENDER	NT	
Select		:	-	01/28/2020	HEALTH	CHANGE COVE	RAGE LEVEL	

6. To Cancel a selected transaction (due to a keying error, incorrect date, etc) in the Waiting for ETF Approval or Approved Not Applied queue, click Cancel Activity. Enter comments, check the cancel request box, and click Confirm.

Cancel Acti	vity	Edit	Ret	urn to myMembersRequests	
Comments:	Keyi	ng erro	r		0
					~

✓I would like to cancel this request



a. Return to Health – Member Enrollment to rekey the contract.

- 7. To Approve a selected transaction in the Pending queue:
 - a. Review and verify the information entered is correct:
 - i. Click the Approved button and it will automatically take you back out to the queue.
 - ii. Click Return to myMembers Requests if you are not ready to approve.
 - iii. All approved transactions will go to the Approved-Not Applied queue to be processed in the nightly batch run.
 - iv. You can go in the following day to verify the transaction processed correctly by reviewing the employees information on the myMembers screen and contract on the myMembers screen in myETF Benefits.
- 8. To Edit a selected transaction in the Pending queue:
 - Click the Edit button to update any information
 - Click the Cancel button to cancel the transaction, in which case it will need to be re-entered by the employee.
 - Enter a reason for the cancellation in the Comments box. Check the box next to "I would like to cancel this request."
 - Click the Confirm button.
- 9. To Deny a selected transaction in the Pending queue (a review discovered member was not eligible to make the requested change).
 - Click the Deny button
 - Enter a reason for the denial in the Comments box
 - Check the box next to "I would like to deny this request."
 - Click the Confirm button.

C-8. Enrollment Inquiry

The Enrollment Inquiry is a function of myETF Benefits where an employer can go to view a summary of all their employees (subscribers) that have been enrolled in the State of Wisconsin Group Health Insurance Program and entered in myETF Benefits. This is a monthly report based on available invoices. This query can either be very broad or broken down by a specific health plan and/or coverage type. To use this inquiry function, you will follow the steps listed below.

1. To view an enrollment summary, hover to Health/Inquiry/Enrollment Reports and select Enrollment Inquiry.

etf.wi.gov	f						
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health		Life	Disability	WRS	Oth
		Accumulated Sick	Leave				
	- 1	Inquiry		Enrollment Reports		Enrollment Inquiry	
		Member Enrollmen	t	Premium	Reports	Dependent Inquiry	
		Premium				Address Inquiry	
	Request Statu	Termination of Cov	erage	ļ	\sim	AL	L

2. Enter your eight-digit employer number (ex: 0991-000) and click Verify.



Verify

3. Click the dropdown arrow to below to narrow to your search by month, year, health plan, relationship, coverage type, and click Display.

Employer Number:	0991-000	
Employer Group:		
Coverage Month:	January 🔽 Year: 2020 🔽	
Health Plan:	- ALL	\sim
Relationship:	ALL	

Coverage	Туре: - /	ALL	~
Tax Depe	ndent: A		
Clear	Display	Save As	

- 4. The results of the query can be organized and sorted:
 - a. Option to select the number of entries to show on the screen at one time

Show 10 🗸 entries

- b. May search for specific information (employee type, Member ID, SSN, last name, etc)
- c. Can skip to a page, next page, or last page

FirsPrevious 1 2 3 4 5 Nex Last

d. May sort by a specific column (small arrows)

	Search:									
Last Name	First Name	Birthdate	Gender	Coverage Effective	Coverage Expiration	Health Plan	Coverage Type			
	KIMBERLY	and the second second	F	2018-01-01		oc	02			
1	KAITO		М	2018-01-01		OC	02			
-	BRIAN	1000	м	2018-01-01		oc	02			
	DAVID		м	2018-01-01		OC	02			
	DONALD	-	м	2020-01-01		oc	01			

5. The results of the query can be exported to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet a. Select Save As to export the results to Excel

Clear Display New EIN Save As

b. Choose to open, save, or cancel the Excel spreadsheet

Do you want to open or save HealthInsuranceListing 20200218.xls from web.etf.wi.gov?	Open	Save	.	Cancel	
bo you want to open of save meaningananceelsting_cocooc toxis non weblettingov.	open	Suve		curreer	

c. Select Open – the query will display in the following format

					1		Employe ebruary 2		
1					Health F	Plan = A	LL, Cove	erage Type	= ALL
2	Employe	e Member I SSN	Last Nam First Nam	n Birth Date Gender	Coverage Cove	erage Health	Pl:Coverage	Type Code	
3	06			1155 F	2018-01-01	OC	02		
4	06		- I KI	M	2018-01-01	OC	02		
5	06		1 1	M	2018-01-01	OC	02		
6	06		1	M	2018-01-01	OC	02		
7	06		1	M	2020-01-01	OC	01		
3	06		H H	EM	2019-01-01	NC	02		
)	06		P .	1 EF	2018-01-01	OC	02		
_	06				2018-01-01	OC	02		

d. Choose to save the query or exit from Excel. It will not change your query in myETF Benefts.

C-9. Dependent Inquiry

The Dependent Inquiry is a function of myETF Benefits where an employer can go to view a summary of all their employees (subscribers) and their dependents that are, or have been enrolled in the State Group Health Insurance Program and entered in myETF Benefits. This is a monthly report based on available invoices. This query can either be very broad or broken down by a specific health plan, coverage type, relation- ship, and/or tax dependency status. This query can be used to locate disabled dependents, employees turning 65, and dependents who will be removed from a contract when they turn 26.

To use this inquiry function, you will follow the procedures listed below.

1. To view Dependent summary, hover to Health/Inquiry/Enrollment Reports and select Dependent Inquiry.

etf.wi.gov	tf						
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health		Life	Disability	WRS	Oth
		Accumulated Sick	Leave				
		Inquiry		Enrollmer	nt Reports	Enrollment Inquiry	
		Member Enrollment		Premium	Reports	Dependent Inquiry	
		Premium				Address Inquiry	
	Request Statu	Termination of Cov	erage		~	Al	L

2. Click the dropdown arrows to narrow to your search by month, year, health plan, relationship, coverage type, and click Display. The default is All.

				m	YETF Bei	nefits Adm	in						
	Health Insurance Dependent Inquiry												
/Members	Heal	th	Life	Disability	WRS	Other Benef	ts Reports	Help	Log Off				
	Number: er Group: e Month:	0991-00 Februar		2020 🔽									
-	alth Plan:	-	iy i roun	2020		✓ Coverag							
Rela	tionship:	15 - LE 17 - ST 19 - CH 24 - DE 38 - DE	RENT OF MINO GAL WARD EPCHILD IILD PENDENT OF M	IINOR DEPENDEN OMESTIC PARTN	п	Tax Dep	_						
Clear	Displ	ay	Save As										

- 3. The results of the query can be organized and sorted:
 - a. Option to select the number of entries to show on the screen at one time

Show 10 🗸 entries

- b. May search for specific information (employee type, Member ID, SSN, last name, etc)
- c. Can skip to a page, next page, or last page FirstPrevious 1 2 3 4 5 Nex Last
- d. May sort by a specific column (small arrows)
- 4. The results of the query can be exported to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet
 - a. Select Save As to export the results to Excel



b. Choose to open, save, or cancel the Excel spreadsheet

Do you want to open or save HealthInsuranceListing_20200218.xls from web.etf.wi.gov?	Open	Save 🔻	Cancel	×

c. Select Open and the query will open in Excel

								MPLOYER NAMI	E					
					HEAL	TH PLA	N = HEALTH P	LAN, COVERAG	E TYPE	= FAMILY.				
								AX DEPENDENT						
Health	Coverage	Employee Type	Sub SSN	Sub Name	Dep SSN	Dep	Dep Name	Dep DOB	Dep Gender	Dep Marttal Status	Cov Eff Date	Cov Exp Date Rei Cor	e Disabled'	Tax Depe
XX	XX	XX	3000000000	LAST, FIRST	2000000000	300000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY MM DD	M	MAR	CCYY MM DD	"Ot	N	Y
XX	300	XX	X00000000X	LAST, FIRST	3000000000	3000000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY-MM-DD	M	MAR	CCYY-MM-DD	01	N	Y
XX	XX	XX	XXXXXXXXXX	LAST, FIRST	300000000	3000000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY-MM-DD	M.	501	COTY-MM-DD	10	14	Y.
XX	XX	XX	X00000000X	LAST, FIRST	300000000	300000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY-MM-DD	M	SOL	CCYY-MM-DD	19	14	Y
XX	XX	XX	XXXXXXXXXXXX	LAST, FIRST	300000000	3000000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY-MM-ED	F	BOR	CCYY-MM DO	01	N	Y
XX	XX	XX	X0000000X	LAST, FIRST	1000000000	300000000	LAST, FIRST	CCYY-MM-DD	¥	MAR	CCYY-MM-DO	10	N	Y
	NN	300	X000000000	LAST FIRST	300000000	1000000000	LAST FIRST	CCYY-MM-DD	M	MAR	CCYY-MM-DD	01	N	Y
XX														

d. Choose to save the query or exit from Excel. It will not change your query in myETF Benefits.

C-10. Address Inquiry

The Address Inquiry is a function of myETF Benefits where an employer can go to view a summary of all subscriber addresses that have been updated. This query can look back 30, 60, or 90 days or can be run to look at all address changes that have been made.

1. To access Address Inquiry, hover to Health/Inquiry/Enrollment Reports and click on Address Inquiry as shown below.

etf.wi.gov	tf							
EmployerInfo	myMembers	Health		Life	Disability	WRS	Oth	
		Accumulated Sick	Leave					
	- 1	Inquiry		Enrollme	nt Reports	Enrollment Inquiry		
		Member Enrollment		Premium	Reports	Dependent Inquiry		
		Premium				Address Inquiry		
	Request Statu	Termination of Cov	erage	ļ	~	AI	-L	

 Click the Display button to view all or select the number of days from the dropdown and click Display.

Employer	Number:	0991-000	

Employe	er Group:			- 1
Number	of Days :	ALL 30 60 90		
Clear	Display	New EIN	Save As	

3. To search by individual member, enter the member ID in the Search bar below. To sort by name, click the down/up arrow.

Show 10	✓ entrie	es 🔶							-	Search:		
n ^M ◆	/lember ID	≎ SSN	First, Middle, Last Name	¢ Empr No	Empr Grp No	Address Line 1	Line 2 \$	¢ City	≎ State	Zip Code ≎	Countr <u></u> ≎	Effective Date
1		:	. A	0991000	70991				WI	537192353	US	2019-09- 03
2 '		-) /	0991000	70991	and the second second		(WI	535349165	US	2018-08- 02
3		;	1	0991000	70991	ALC: 100 10 17 17		١	WI	535989131	US	2018-03- 02
4			3	0991000	70991			(WI	539251590	US	2018-01- 02
5 1		;	,	0991000	70991				WI	539011644	US	2019-07- 02

- 4. The results of the query can be organized and sorted:
 - Option to select the number of entries to show on the screen at one time a.

Show 10 ✓ entries

- b. May search for specific information (employee type, Member ID, SSN, last name, etc)
- C. Can skip to a page, next page, or last page

FirsPrevious 1 2 3 4 5 Nex Last

- d. May sort by a specific column (small arrows)
- 5. The results of the query can be exported to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet a.
 - Select Save As to export the results to Excel

Clear Display New EIN Save As

Choose to open, save, or cancel the Excel spreadsheet b.

Do you want to open or save HealthInsuranceListing_20200218.xls from web.etf.wi.gov? Open Save 🔻 Cancel Select Open and the query will open in Excel C. Employer Number = 0991000 Employer Group ITY OF Days = 30 Member ID SSN Middle Na First Nam Employer Employer Address L Address L City State Zip Code Address Effective Date Last Name

member ib	331	Last name	inituale ind	i nation	Linployer	Linployer	Audiess L Audiess	LCity	June	Lip Coue	Audiess L	Inective Date
1	3	4 Y			0991000	70991	2 V V	MADISON	WI	537045126	US	2020-02-06
	Ł				0991000	70991	· A	VERONA	WI	535938447	US	2020-02-06
-	1	1			0991000	70991	: R	MADISON	WI	537131029	US	2020-02-06
•	1	l N	(0991000	70991	• E	EDGERTO	WI	535341315	US	2016-06-02
-	1	1	1		0991000	70991	4 J	MADISON	WI	537054737	US	2020-02-06
	1	1.	1		0991000	70991	I J	COLUMBL	WI	539259729	US	2020-02-06
	E	1	1		0991000	70991	ŧ Π	MADISON	WI	537183011	US	2020-02-06
	1	1	1		0001000	70001	ZZELEXIN	SAINT DA	MAN	661162349	119	2020 02 06

d. Choose to save the query or exit from Excel. It will not change your query in myETF Benefits.